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Unique textile sorting plant
Climate neutral, climate-positive
and net zero emissions
– what distinguishes them?

Reducing food waste
Mistra SafeChem
for a green, safe and
sustainable chemical industry
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PETER NYGÅRDS, CHAIR OF THE FOUNDATION:
WE HAVE LAID AN IMPORTANT FOUNDATION

Setting our sights on a
sustainable society

IVL’s work has never been more important, and it is clear that everyone has
to increase the pace of their contribution to the global goals. At IVL, we are
working in a focused manner to identify solutions within our three thematic
areas: Sustainable Societies, Sustainable Production and Consumption and
Sustainable Environment.
With key concepts such as utilising the opportunities of digitalisation,
change management with a life cycle and system perspective, as well as
governance, we are contributing to the global goals and Agenda 2030.
Most people are aware that IVL conducts advanced research and
consultancy activities in the field of the environment. Less well known is
the fact that we have access to a form of funding whereby the state
contributes half of the sum. Read more about how your company can
make use of this alongside us on pages 14-16.
On the subsequent spread, you can also read the opinions of our
customers and the environmental benefits we have achieved together.
To find out more about how we integrate with Agenda 2030 in our
assignments and research projects, both nationally and globally, you can
read about this on pages 19-21.
Climate-neutral, climate-positive, net zero emissions, CER, VER and
Article 6. These terms may seem confusing. Kenneth Möllersten
investigates them on pages 34-37. You can also find out more about what
is the perfect carbon offsetting project.
Did you know that more than 1.3 million tonnes of food waste is
produced every year in Sweden, equivalent to 133 kg per person. Food waste
gives rise to an incredibly unnecessary impact on the environment and the
climate. On pages 26-27, Tova Andersson explains how households can save
thousands of kronor a year and the food industry many millions by reducing
waste, now that the industry is working together to minimise food waste.
The construction and real estate sector accounts for almost a fifth of
Sweden’s climate impact, of which half derives from construction activities.
Read about the project Climate requirements at a reasonable cost on pages 38-39.
In collaboration with the pharmaceutical industry association Lif, we have
developed a model for the environmental assessment of pharmaceuticals.
You can read about this on pages 22-23.
The world’s first large-scale plant for automatic textile sorting was
inaugurated in November 2020. With an annual sorting capacity of
24,000 tonnes of textile, the plant will boost Swedish textile recycling
and give new life to tonnes of clothes and fabrics.
Read the report on pages 30-32.
Although 2020 was a year of closed borders,
travel restrictions and reduced mobility,
IVL’s international operations remained strong.
On pages 46-47, you can see a selection of our
international projects.
The past year has been turbulent due to the
worldwide pandemic, yet we succeeded in
transforming our operations rapidly and have
continued to deliver, despite everything.
Thanks to our dedicated and skilled employees,
2020 was another successful year.

Important events
in 2020
2020 has been an eventful year for IVL,
with a global pandemic and the various
adaptations this has demanded.
The pandemic hit hard initially,
and one of our largest customers
put their contract on hold, which
led to us being forced to
implement short-term layoffs
and seek government support.
The work started little-by-little,
however, and we did not need to seek
further support.
On 16 April, Marie Fossum Strannegård
took up her new position as CEO. Marie
joined IVL from EY, where she had
been a partner.
The pandemic led to the stoppage
of all travel, which affected the
results in the form of significantly
reduced costs.
On 31 July 2020, the former CEO
retired at the age of 62.
According to the agreement, IVL paid
the premium for retirement pension
as though the CEO had worked until
the age of 65. The final payment
corresponds to 35% of the annual
salary at the time of retirement,
including the value of car benefits.
During the year, IVL became the new
majority owner of the independent
labelling system Möbelfakta, which was
previously owned by Trä- och
Möbelföretagen. IVL will operate and
develop the system in future to meet the
requirements of public procurement
and be able to grow internationally.
At the beginning of May, Johan
Söderqvist took up the position
of CEO of IVL’s new subsidiary
– the labelling system Möbelfakta.

Happy reading!

MARIE FOSSUM STRANNEGÅRD, CEO
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PETER NYGÅRDS, CHAIR OF THE FOUNDATION

We have laid an
important foundation
IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute’s wide-range expertise regarding the environment means that
we can be a powerful player in society’s transformation towards sustainability. The pandemic has obviously
affected our work during the year, but it has also highlighted new opportunities.
The year has been characterised by the pandemic, which has
restricted all of us in many different ways. Despite this, business
activity has continued at a surprisingly high rate. Many large
companies are emphasising the strategic importance of
sustainability and climate benefits, and in practice they are
leading the development towards carbon neutrality.
This relates to the steel industry and the cement industry.
It relates to the automotive industry, which is facing pressure to
make cars from environmentally friendly steel, cars that can be
recycled and that run on electricity. It relates to recycling and
circular economy. Everyone is moving in the same direction and
no one dares to be last.
Research and consultancy assistance are essential elements
in this transformation.
IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute’s extensive
expertise regarding the environment is allowing us to be a
powerful player. We possess a comprehensive range of skills
and scientific knowledge in the field of the environment.
This breadth is one of our strengths.
The pandemic has affected everyone’s mobility. IVL was forced
to transform quickly – in just two days, all of our external courses
and seminars had become digital. The effect of this has been that
we have seen record numbers of people registering for our events.
We can also draw conclusions regarding how this change
might affect the climate in the long term. How it will change
our working lives, our travel habits and transport. We can
learn a lot from this transition, which we have all been forced
to make. The pandemic has increased our digital maturity.
IVL IS A MEETING PLACE FOR
AGENCIES AND INDUSTRY

We have a unique form of ownership, where the state and the
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business community each exercise their 50% ownership through the
owner foundation, SIVL. Profits are not distributed, rather they are
reinvested in more research. The ownership form also allows us,
better than any other actor, to combine the discussions that are
conducted with the various authorities and those that take place
within business. We are able to learn which future issues are
crucial, and we can convert these into initiatives and business
proposals. As a result, our offering is both different and relevant.
There is enormous potential to pass on this knowledge by
highlighting good examples. Sweden is a relatively sectoral
country, but IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute is
a meeting place where agencies and business can come together
to look at and identify problems.
A NEW, CLE A R A ND IN VOLV ED LE A DER SHIP

The year has also been characterised by new leadership, with
Marie Fossum Strannegård taking over as the new CEO in the
spring. This happened at the same time as restrictions due to
Covid-19 came into force, and has presented challenges.
Marie joined IVL with experience as a management consultant,
and was used to leading major international technology projects.
Working in an engaging manner, she has involved the organisation
in activities focusing on strategy and business planning, which has
provided our work with a new dimension. Despite the necessary
social distancing, Marie has also managed to generate staff
involvement through short, intensive information meetings, as well
as by making herself accessible between these meetings.
This has contributed to clear and involved leadership.
It is also laying the foundations for something that could become
really good, and that will allow IVL Swedish Environmental
Research Institute to become even more relevant in social
developments, which is the owner foundation SIVL’s actual mission.

IVL SWEDISH ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE

MARIE FOSSUM STRANNEGÅRD, CEO

IVL’s mission has never
been more important
When I accepted the post of CEO of IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute in November 2019,
I was really looking forward to meeting all my new colleagues, partners and customers.
I could never have imagined that, by the time I started, we
would be in the middle of a pandemic. In addition to staying
healthy, we needed to resolve the challenge of moving the
workplace to people’s homes and holding customer meetings in
the digital space.
When I sum up the year, I can state with gratitude that we
have managed to cope with challenges the like of which we
have never faced before. I would also like to express my
admiration for my colleagues, who have retained their focus on
our vital mission and our customers.
Despite the short-term layoffs we were forced to conduct at
the beginning of the pandemic, we have done well. According to
our customers (Customer Satisfaction Index), we have
continued to deliver a high level of quality and have achieved
strong financial results. We are continuing to grow in many
areas, and I am pleased to note that our employees are happy
and that our staff turnover remains low. During the year, we
have made further progress in our work of creating one
company. By now offering meetings and information in English,
we are able to include all employees regardless of country or
language, something that has been genuinely appreciated.
Through the pandemic, the public has acquired a completely
different focus on research. Climate and environmental issues
are high on the agenda within industry and the public sector.
IVL’s mission has never been more important, and we have
refined our strategies during the year to contribute to even
greater climate and environmental benefits. Our growth
strategy is clear – we are aiming both to become stronger
internationally and to cover the whole of Sweden more
effectively. Our thematic areas and innovation areas are creating
clarity in our efforts, and we are striving to show the outside
world the benefits we can deliver.
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Together with our customers and partners, we are able to create
climate and environmental benefits and work to achieve a
sustainable world. Through close partnerships and the transfer
of knowledge, we are contributing to the sustainability
development of our customers. Working on the basis of our
research, we are jointly turning science into reality. In order to
generate increased societal benefits, our research projects need
to become even more visible so that the results can be scaled up
and applied.
Although my initial time at IVL was characterised by
pandemic-related restrictions, I have received a very warm
welcome and have familiarised myself with our wonderful
corporate culture. By quickly becoming digital, we were able to
maintain contact with our employees and customers. Every
Friday, in a live concept entitled “Marie meets...”, I have had the
opportunity to talk to committed employees as well as customers.
It has been possible to watch this programme both live and as a
recording on the intranet. I have greatly appreciated the
opportunity to ‘meet’ my colleagues and learn more about what
others are working on. Another popular activity was ‘Stockholm
to Beijing’, which was not only a step challenge, but also a series of
fun activities, challenges and weekly sports broadcasts. This got
us up and moving about, as well as connecting us to each other in
the midst of the loneliness created by coronavirus. Thanks to the
wonderful employees who have been putting themselves out
there, we all gained the strength to maintain our focus on our
work, which has also led to extremely good results.
I am now looking forward to a new year, and I can’t wait to
meet our employees, partners and customers in person.

5

News from the year
Every month we publish news about current projects, reports and research results.
Set out below is some of the year’s news in brief.

Interest in the reuse of construction
and demolition waste is increasing
Many municipalities want to collect construction products
for reuse, although there are also obstacles along the way.
A report produced by IVL on behalf of the Swedish Waste
Management Association (Avfall Sverige) has mapped out
the initiatives that are in progress in the municipalities,
the challenges that the municipalities are facing, as well as
the opportunities that exist to speed up the development
of increased reuse.

January

Circular Electronics Day
The rapid consumption of electronic gadgets is giving rise
to a large amount of waste and harmful emissions.
24 January is the Circular Electronics Day, an initiative
that IVL supports and that is aiming to get organisations
and consumers to take responsibility for the electronics
they use. The main messages of the campaign are to buy
second-hand, rent instead of buying new products and
check if it is possible to repair damaged products before
handing them in for recycling.

High-profile report
on kilometre tax
In January, researchers at IVL and Chalmers presented
a new proposal for a kilometre tax for passenger cars. In the
study, the researchers analysed how a distance-based and
geographically tailored road tax could be designed.
The results show that such a road tax could lead to the more
efficient use of roads and a fairer distribution of the social
costs of traffic.

February

Clean water in focus as IVL opens office in India
IVL is continuing to grow internationally – most recently with
an office in Mumbai, India, a city with many millions of
residents. A large proportion of the activities in India will be
focused on water treatment, an area that is characterised by
substantial needs in the country. Like many other cities in India,
Mumbai, with more than 18 million inhabitants, still lacks
functioning wastewater treatment, for example. In one of the
larger projects, IVL will ensure that two wastewater treatment
plants being built in Mumbai are constructed to a high quality.

Dual wins for IVL at the Recycling Gala
IVL achieved dual wins at the Recycling Gala 2020. This
year’s special prize went to the IVL-led Siptex project,
which, together with Sysav, is building a full-scale plant for
automated textile sorting in Malmö. The plant will be the
first of its kind in the world. The other prize went to IVL’s
employee Åsa Stenmarck, who was named Recycling
Inspiration of the Year thanks to her ability to present
research results in an easily accessible and inspirational way.

This year’s special prize was awarded to Siptex, a project for
the automated sorting of textiles. Photo: Mikael Gustavsen
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Sweden’s food waste would fill the
Globe arena four times over
The food waste that is produced in the course of a year in
Sweden could fill Stockholm’s Globe arena four times over.
This can be seen from the report Food Waste in Sweden, which
IVL has co-produced on behalf of the Swedish Environmental
Protection Agency. According to the report, which was released
in February, 133 kg of food waste per person end up in household
garbage bags or compost each year, and as much as 26 kg per
person is poured into the sewers.

IVL SWEDISH ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE

New calculation of eutrophication sources
in the Baltic sea and the North Sea

Major investment in circular and
resource-efficient process industry
In the EU’s Retrofeed project, which is being coordinated
by IVL, six heavy industries in sectors such as steel and
cement are being made more energy-efficient and are
switching to renewable raw materials and energy sources.
This is being done using both improved equipment and the
development of control systems. “Digital twins” are also
being developed to provide decision-making support.

Agricultural and forest land are the two largest sources of
the overall nitrogen and phosphorus loads on the sea. If we
look solely at man-made emissions, agriculture accounts for
the largest proportion, followed by discharges from
wastewater treatment plants. This can be seen from a report
from the SMED collaboration, in which IVL is participating.
The report is based on the most accurate mapping carried
out to date of Sweden’s emissions of eutrophying substances
into the Baltic Sea and the North Sea.

March

April
Deficiencies in the safety culture impeding
the zero vision for occupational accidents
The work aimed at increasing safety and creating a good
working environment in the steel industry and the pulp
and paper sector has been continuing for decades,
and many improvements have been made. Despite this,
occupational injuries and serious incidents still occur.
A report from IVL has studied the reasons for this.
The results show that working environment activities are
often deficient when safety becomes a matter of raising or
lowering the priority of issues that are related to safety
considerations in certain situations. Some workplaces are
also characterised by a persisting macho culture.

Many items we throw away can be reused
1,000 tonnes of furniture, 200 tonnes of tools and 60
tonnes of clothing – every year, households leave a great
many things at recycling centres that can actually be
reused. Two reports that IVL has produced for Södertälje
municipality show that there is considerable potential to
increase the level of reuse. In order for this to happen,
however, more opportunities are required for reuse that
is close to the home, the workplace and consumers.
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Which bag is best for the environment?
One recurring consumer issue during the year was
which type of bag is best for the environment –
paper, plastic or cotton. The answer is not always
that simple, however.
A study conducted by IVL on behalf of UNEP
shows that geographical differences can be a
determining factor.
How much of an impact a bag has on the environment
depends on how the material is produced and how the
bag is dealt with when it has become waste. In
Sweden, for example, paper bags might be better for
the climate than plastic bags, because our plastic bags
are relatively heavy and because paper production is
powered by renewable energy. The very best solution
for the environment is to use the bags you already
have at home and use them many times over. In that
way, there is no need to produce new bags.
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New pilot plant to extract
nitrogen from wastewater
In a new pilot plant at Hammarby Sjöstadsverk,
nitrogen will be extracted from wastewater.
Together with the company Ekobalans, IVL is testing
and optimising a new technology that it hopes will be
used at more wastewater treatment plants in Sweden.
The ability to recycle and recirculate nutrients from
wastewater is an extremely topical issue in the water
and sewage industry.

May
IVL becoming the principal
owner of Möbelfakta
In May, IVL became the new majority owner of the
independent labelling system Möbelfakta, which
was previously owned by Trä- och Möbelföretagen.
Möbelfakta targets producers, buyers, designers
and other actors in the furniture industry, and is
based on three elements: quality, the environment
and social responsibility. IVL will operate and
develop the system in future to meet the
requirements of public procurement and be able to
grow internationally. Read more on page 41.

June

Uneven preparation
in a changing climate
On behalf of the Swedish National Expert Council for
Climate Adaptation, IVL has mapped how Sweden’s
municipalities, regions and county administrative boards
are preparing for a changing climate. The county
administrative boards, which have a designated
coordination mandate, are conducting extensive work on
climate adaptation, while hardly any climate adaptation
work is being carried out in the regions at all.
The amount the municipalities do in this area is often
linked to whether they have previously been affected by
extreme weather events and climate change.

New study reveals microplastics in the air
A study carried out by IVL shows that microplastic
particles can be transported by air to locations far
away from the source of the emissions. Samples were
collected from eleven sites and twenty sampling
points, from Grankölen in Norrbotten County to
central Malmö in the southwest of Sweden.
Rubber particles from vehicle tyres were also
discovered in the air samples, although their air
dispersion appears to be more geographically limited.

July

Waste heat in Europe – unique insight
into the mindset of industries
More flexible electricity grids can lead to large
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Biogas production can be increased many times
over – and this is how we get there
The Swedish biogas system can be significantly expanded,
including through public procurement, local networks of
operators and political instruments. This can be seen from
a report from the Collaboration Programme for Renewable
Fuels and Systems, f3, in which IVL participates.
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Collaboration will reduce microplastics
in the Bohai Sea and the Yellow Sea
IVL is launching a project in China aimed at preventing
and reducing the inflow of microplastics from land-based
sources into the sea. In the project, researchers will
investigate how to reduce the spread of microplastics
from textile industries and wastewater treatment plants
along the coast of the Bohai Sea and the Yellow Sea. The
project is being supported by the Swedish Environmental
Protection Agency.

Work for a green, safe and sustainable
chemical industry gaining momentum
In August, the work within Mistra Safechem was
launched. The research programme, which is being
coordinated by IVL, is based on close collaboration
between research and industry, with the aim of creating
a sustainable chemical industry and reducing exposure to
hazardous substances. Key aspects of the work include
developing new processes for the industry and developing
a toolbox of models and methods for performing risk
assessments on chemicals.

August

Speed limits for ships
Are global mandatory speed reductions the solution to
climate emissions from shipping? This was the focus of
a Lighthouse study conducted by IVL and the School
of Business, Economics and Law at the University of
Gothenburg, which looked at the issue from a Swedish
perspective. The answer is far from obvious, but the
results suggest that the benefits of significant speed
reductions are overestimated. It is possible to save fuel,
but speed reductions well below the optimum speed of
ships risk increasing fuel consumption instead.

September
Digitalising the waste sector
Smart robots, sensors, drones and cloud services can help
to develop the waste sector. This is the conclusion of a
project carried out by IVL and Avfall Sverige. The results
are presented in a series of publications intended to inspire
and guide the digitalisation of the waste sector by
disseminating knowledge, sharing experiences and
showcasing good examples. The publications also show
different areas of use for the new technology, including
at recycling plants.
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October

Baltic Sea collaboration on PFAS in wastewater
With the support of the Swedish Institute, IVL is
launching a project to increase knowledge about PFAS
in wastewater and how we can reduce emissions into
the Baltic Sea. Universities and research institutes
from a number countries in the Baltic Sea region are
participating. PFAS pollutants in the aquatic
environment can be reduced by means of better sewage
and sludge management, although knowledge levels in
the countries around the Baltic Sea vary.

Transport planning not
contributing to climate goals
Sweden’s ambitious environmental and climate
policies are not achieving sufficient impact in
infrastructure planning.
This can be seen from a report from the research project
Stafetten, conducted by IVL, Trivector and Lund
University. Unclear targets, expansionary national traffic
plans and old decisions regarding road development are
some of the reasons for the transition being delayed.

November

Unique textile sorting plant goes into operation
The world’s first large-scale plant for automated textile sorting
was inaugurated in November in Malmö. The machine, which is
installed in Sysav’s plant, has a sorting capacity of 24,000 tonnes
of textile per year and could revolutionise Swedish textile
recycling. Several major Swedish textile, fashion and furniture
companies, local authorities, charities, research institutes and
public authorities are supporting the innovation platform – a total
of 19 actors under the leadership of IVL. Read more on page 30.

Report on
sustainable electromobility
What is required in order for electric road transport to be
environmentally and socially sustainable? A report produced
by IVL on behalf of the World Wide Fund for Nature WWF
Sweden shows which sustainability aspects are important and
proposes various measures. The industry needs to focus more
on sustainable materials in vehicles and batteries, and these
materials have to be recycled to a very great extent. In order
to accelerate the transition to electric power, municipalities
can introduce zero emission zones on a small scale as more
electric vehicles enter the market.

Safer assessment of endocrine
disruptors in construction products

Major investment in sustainable seafood

IVL’s subsidiary Basta, along with actors in the construction
sector, has developed a method for identifying endocrine
disruptors in construction products. The method is based on
three steps, all of which are described in a guide. Basta’s database
is one of the largest in the sector, containing more than 160,000
articles. Including endocrine disruptors in the assessment of
construction products is an important step for achieving
sustainable construction.

Food from the sea and lakes has a great future. At the end of
the year, a new initiative entitled Blue Food – Centre for the
Future of Seafood was launched, in which IVL is participating.
This is the largest investment in Swedish seafood to date, with
funding of MSEK 48 from the Swedish Research Council
Formas. The vision is for the industry to grow to ten times its
current size, and for the proportion of Swedish-produced
seafood to be doubled.
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Decreasing levels of dioxins offering
hope to small-scale commercial fishing

Measures reduced hazardous
chemicals in preschools

A comprehensive survey of dioxins and PCBs in commercially
caught fish in the Baltic Sea, Lake Vänern and Lake Vättern
shows that the levels are gradually decreasing, but also that
there are large differences in pollution levels between different
catch areas. This is primarily due to natural factors such as
differences in fat content and different growth rates of the fish.
For example, there are higher levels of dioxins and PCBs in
whitefish from Lake Vänern than in whitefish from Lake
Vättern and the Gulf of Bothnia.

Working in collaboration with the City of Stockholm,
IVL has investigated how the levels of harmful chemicals
in preschools can be reduced through various measures.
The focus has been on endocrine disruptors, which can
be found in everyday products. The results show that
imposing requirements as regards building and interior
materials can pay dividends. At the City of Stockholm,
it is hoped that the study will provide guidance to other
municipalities and preschools around the country.

December

NET ZERO
2045
MSEK 66 for Mistra Carbon Exit
In December, Mistra announced that the IVL-led research
programme Mistra Carbon Exit is receiving funding for a
second phase – specifically MSEK 66 over the next four years.
The programme analyses and identifies the technical,
economic and political challenges facing Sweden and proposes
how Swedish industry could be transformed to meet the goal
of net zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2045.

IVL in the media in 2020
2,495 articles and features in the
daily press, on radio and on television
30 debate articles
in the national press
106 debate articles
in county media

Project should lead the way to
large-scale recycling of lithium-ion batteries
The number of electric vehicles is increasing rapidly,
and within a few years there will be a large number
of end-of-life batteries on the market. In the project Eliminate,
IVL, together with Chalmers University and Stellenbosch
University in South Africa, will look at the recycling of
lithium-ion batteries to see which technology is best from
an environmental and a market perspective. According to an
earlier IVL report, around 50,000 battery units in the Nordic
region will reach the end of their service life by 2030.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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IVL in brief
OUR OWNER SIVL

OUR SUBSIDIARIES

The Swedish Institute of Water and Air Conservation Research
Foundation (SIVL), alongside the business sector and government
authorities, is establishing a collaboration regarding important
issues in respect of the environment and sustainable development.
SIVL is the sole owner of the IVL Swedish Environmental
Research Institute and funds research and innovation with
particular focus on applied issues with an interdisciplinary and
system-oriented approach.

In addition to the parent company IVL, the Group also consists
of the following subsidiaries:
• Bastaonline AB
• EPD International AB
• IVL Environmental Technologies (Beijing) Company Ltd
and the joint venture company SEC in China
• The pilot and test facility Hammarby Sjöstadsverk,
which IVL owns along with KTH

VISION, PURPOSE AND VALUES
IVL’s vision is a sustainable society. We are driving the transition to a sustainable society by transforming:
• science into reality
• environmental problems into opportunities
• linear processes into a circular economy
Our purpose is to work with applied research and consultancy projects to promote ecologically, economically and socially
sustainable growth in business and society.
Our core values are based on credibility, foresight, a holistic approach, commitment and benefit.
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OUR THEMATIC AREAS
IVL is moving from four thematic areas to three. The three
thematic areas will tackle challenges with different perspectives
and areas of focus: Sustainable environment, Sustainable
transition and Sustainable society.

• Good knowledge of the state
of the environment
• Good biodiversity
•S
 ustainable area industries and
ecosystem services
• Access to clean seas and clean water
• Sustainable blue economy
• Sustainable land use
• Good air quality
• Good noise status
• Non-toxic environment

Sustainable
environment

Sustainable
transition
Sustainable
society

• Climate neutrality
• Climate adaptation
• Socially sustainable transition
• Sustainable urban planning
• Sustainable construction, management and renovation
• Sustainable energy system and energy carrier
• Sustainable transport and mobility solutions
• Sustainable finances and investments
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In all the thematic areas, operations are being run and
developed with overarching key concepts such as utilising the
opportunities of digitalisation, change management with a life
cycle and system perspective, as well as governance to achieve
sustainable solutions.

• Resource-efficient and sustainable value chains
• Resource-efficient industrial processes
•C
 ircular water solutions, efficient treatment
and reuse of water
• Efficient resource flows and waste
• Sustainable procurement and consumption
• Sustainable chemical processing
• Sustainable working life
• Sustainable digitalisation
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CO-FUNDING – COMPANIES CONDUCTING RESEARCH WITH IVL

“Conducting research alongside
IVL strengthens the brand”
Most people are aware that IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute conducts advanced research and
consultancy activities in the field of the environment. Less well known is the fact that IVL has access to
a form of funding whereby the state contributes half of the sum. More companies should use this, considers
IVL’s Vice-President, Research, John Munthe in a conversation with Kristina Jonsson, Sales Director at IVL.
“The co-funding projects offer potential that not everyone is
aware of. It constitutes a unique opportunity for companies to
have issues researched with the aid of earmarked state funds,”
says John Munthe, Vice-President, Research, at IVL Swedish
Environmental Research Institute.
IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute can offer
co-funded research, or co-funding as it is also known, through
funding from its owner, the IVL Foundation (SIVL), thanks to the
government grants the Foundation is allocated and which will go to
this part of IVL’s operations. In practice, this means that state
funding accounts for half of the total in a co-funding project, while
the company or trade association is responsible for the other half.
Kristina Jonsson, Sales Director, IVL Swedish Environmental
Research Institute:
“The research tends to be of really high quality and is applied in
practice. A recent example is the energy company Jämtkraft, which
has developed the production of a carbon-neutral aviation fuel.
This shows that a regional energy company can make
technological advances with the aid of a co-funding project. It is
also very interesting for anyone who wants to develop new fuels.”
The research carried out in the co-funding project must not be
too narrow, and in this respect it differs from a pure consultancy
assignment. It should be of interest to a whole industry and to
society at large. The results should be able to be published in a
report that is freely available, and the results are formally owned
by the IVL Foundation.
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John Munthe:
“Publication to the general public is a fundamental
requirement. Of course, there may be business-critical
information in the project that the company introduces but
does not want to share, and this should naturally be protected.
This is rarely a problem in practice – we are experienced when
it comes to drawing up boundaries regarding what information
is generated in the project and what is the company’s own.”
Kristina Jonsson:
“It is important to establish an understanding of the
co-funding arrangement at an early stage. This is different
to a pure consultancy assignment.”
But if the results are made public for everyone to see, what benefit
does the company gain from being part of a co-funding project?
John Munthe:
“You can utilise IVL’s skilled researchers throughout the
research project and participate actively in the research yourself.
This entails learning that goes far beyond studying results or
reading a report.” The company is often part of a steering group
and helps to influence the research issue, the arrangements and
monitors the research closely. Operating in such an environment
strengthens the skills that exist in the company in many ways.”
Kristina Jonsson:
“You also gain time. Instead of having to wait for two years to
get a report, you upgrade your skills from day one and throughout
the journey. The fact that the staff can work so close to the research
IVL SWEDISH ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE

“You can utilise IVL’s skilled researchers
throughout the research project and participate
actively in the research yourself.
This entails learning that goes far beyond
studying results or reading a report.”

John Munthe, Vice-President, Research, at IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute

enables them to develop their skills. After this, it is not necessarily
a disadvantage that the results are disseminated in reports,
seminars or through trade associations. Having collaborated with
IVL in a research project serves to strengthen your brand.”
John Munthe:
“It is also the case that the research benefits from having the
company’s perspective. They possess a lot of knowledge and
help to make the research incisive and relevant.”
IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute’s co-funding
projects deal with water, infrastructure, sewage, transport,
smart solutions for electricity efficiency improvements – in fact,
they encompass all of IVL’s thematic areas. Last year, the state
awarded MSEK 37 to SIVL for this purpose, an amount that
John Munthe feels ought to be larger, as the co-funding is such
an important part of the basic mission.
But in a research project, as is the case with co-funding, you
don’t always know what the results are going to be. Is there a
risk that you will deliver results the customer had not intended?
John Munthe:
“That can happen. We are always responsive to our customers’
needs, yet the research we conduct is an independent
investigation and does not produce tailored results.”
When it comes to Jämtkraft, many different actors were
participating, including Chalmers and Lund University. Isn’t
it be difficult for the customer with many parties involved?
ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Kristina Jonsson:
“In such circumstances, it’s good to have IVL holding your hand.
We are used to leading large projects with many stakeholders.”
John Munthe:
“I agree. Coordinating complex projects with a large number
of actors is one of our strengths. This is true whether we are
talking about a co-funding project, a major research programme
or a consultancy assignment.”
On a number of occasions during the conversation, John Munthe
and Kristina Jonsson come back to the word ‘commitment’.
It is when the customer commits to the process that the co-funding
project is best placed to succeed, and where the results are easy for
the customer to apply. This commitment should ideally be
stimulated early in the collaboration, according to Kristina Jonsson.
What different ways are there to work together with IVL?
John Munthe:
“We are talking about three different forms of funding.
Appropriations-based research, co-funding and consultancy
assignments – and all three variants can involve a large number
of actors. I tend to say that the first thing we do is identify
research requirements and societal benefits. Then we decide
together which type of funding is most appropriate.”
Kristina Jonsson:
“One of the strengths of our consultancy assignments is that
we possess such extensive expertise in-house. You don’t just get
the research, but also all relevant perspectives into the bargain.
15

“One of the strengths of our consultancy assignments
is that we possess such extensive expertise in-house.
You don’t just get the research, but also all relevant
perspectives into the bargain.”

Kristina Jonsson, Sales Director,
IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute

In a technical project, if questions arise about regulations, for
example, or about incentives and customer behaviour, then we
can call on our own experts during the course of the project.
We don’t have to carry out searches or waste time looking up
answers. We have the skills we need in-house.”
Kristina Jonsson:
“In addition, our consultant are experts in their respective
areas. We’re not sending in a generalist who needs a couple of
weeks to familiarise him or herself with an area. We’re effective
from the very first hour.”
John Munthe:
“We often have the same experts in our research projects as in
our consultancy assignments. They possess sound knowledge of
the area in question. This is frequently where co-funding projects
occur. We conduct a consultancy assignment and investigate a
question together, and then new questions and ideas emerge that
may be worth looking into in greater depth. Here at IVL, we build
long-term relationships with our customers. We get to know each
other, which makes it easier to be successful with our initiatives.”
How do customers view the fact that IVL Swedish
Environmental Research Institute is not a company that is
attempting to maximise profits?
Kristina Jonsson:
“When customers first begin to realise that this is really the
case – it sometimes takes a while for the penny to drop – a type
of pride emerges. Enlisting the help of IVL will not only be
effective and beneficial. It will also strengthen their brand, and
I think the fact that we reinvest our profits plays a role here.”
So what should companies do if they have a question they need
help with, either within a consultancy assignment or as part of
a co-funding project, but they have not previously had any
contact with IVL?
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Kristina Jonsson again:
“They should call or e-mail us. Or get in touch through social
media. There are no formal requirements. Just an honest
ambition and a desire to collaborate. They don’t even need to
have a fully formulated question. It can be enough for them to be
curious about working with IVL to develop their climate work,
and then we can sit down and talk.”
The first thing we have to do is identify research requirements
and societal benefits. Then we decide together which type of
funding is most appropriate.”

CO-FUNDED RESEARCH IN BRIEF
•P
 rovides a unique opportunity for Swedish companies and
industries to carry out research projects at IVL Swedish
Environmental Research Institute, with funding from both
the state and business.
•A
 co-funded project is based on an environmental problem
or an environment-related development opportunity.
The project should be relevant to an industry or to society.
•B
 oth private companies and trade associations can be involved.
•T
 he research is 50 percent financed through government
funds that are distributed via Formas and the Swedish
Environmental Protection Agency. State funds are also
used to match research grants from the EU.
•T
 he results of co-funded projects are always publicly
available through publication in IVL’s report series
or other open channels.

IVL SWEDISH ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE

WHAT OUR CUSTOMERS THINK

“Things are looking good for many of our
companies. The goal of freedom from fossil fuels
will be achieved sooner than 2030. We had no
idea about this before we started this work.”
Patrizia Finessi,
expert on environmental issues at Public Housing Sweden,
who ran the co-funding project The Climate Initiative together
with IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute.

“We are the only public transport company in
Sweden that does this, which makes us proud.
We are also proud of having been able to help
advance the research a little. We use the results
in our procurements.”
Hanna Björk,
environmental strategist at Västtrafik, Västra Götaland’s public
transport company, which has been measuring emissions along
with IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute as part of
a co-funding project.

“The results show that the conditions are good for
producing renewable aviation fuel in Östersund,
at a competitive price compared to other renewable
aviation fuels. This is because we can integrate the
production process with our existing combined heat
and power plant.”
Ulf Lindqvist,
Head of Department at Värme Jämtkraft, who has been running a
co-funding project with IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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How is the Coronavirus crisis affecting
environmental and climate issues?
This is what some of our researchers think.

Åsa Nyblom

Anders Roth

We are good at transforming – when the
frameworks and limitations are clear to us
• The crisis is allowing us to reassess what
is important
• The crisis is allowing us to discover new
things about the world
• T he crisis is also allowing us to try out
new ways of doing things

Lockdown is an opportunity to
create sustainable mobility
•M
 easures to mitigate the economic impact
• Milan and Berlin are turning roads into
cycle paths
• Historic opportunity to reward walking
and cycling

Dependence on growth is an obvious
disadvantage in situations such as this
• It is not growth that makes our economy
sustainable
• T he crisis is demonstrating the vulnerability
of our economic system
• T he financial emergency is an opportunity for
a green transition
Mikael Malmaeus

Read more at ivl.se
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The pandemic has shown that
it is possible to transform

There are now less than 10 years left to achieve the
Agenda 2030 targets. Many consider that the
transition is going too slowly and that the pace
needs to increase. The global development
visualised by the Agenda’s indicators provides an
overview of the progress within and the challenges
faced by various countries. Many activities and
initiatives are in progress, yet despite this the
picture is bleak: increased inequality, more hunger,
alarming erosion of ecosystems, continued global
warming and the loss of biodiversity.
Agenda 2030 and the UN’s 17 Sustainable
Development Goals are central to IVL’s activities.
We are integrating these into our processes,
which is making prioritisation and evaluation
easier in both the short and longer term.
During 2020, Covid-19 has instigated a transition
and a pooling of resources. We have all needed to
re-prioritise and work in a new way. Many of the
169 milestones set out in Agenda 2030 have been
directly or indirectly affected by the pandemic.
This shows that they are interconnected, and that
the SDGs can be used as a guide to identify
synergies and conflicting aims. The pandemic is

also demonstrating that long-term goals are not
enough on their own.
We know that there will be more crises. We don’t
know what, when or where, but we know that we
need to be prepared and able to change when
required. The handling of the pandemic shows
that this is possible when the various actors in
society work together.
IVL’s goals are to be one step ahead, to act and to
pool our resources. We are doing this by
integrating Agenda 2030 into our assignments and
research projects, at the same time as working to
re-prioritize and contribute more effectively and
more rapidly to cross-border collaborations, both
nationally and globally.

Carin Ström,
Research coordinator,
IVL

IVL’s work is characterised by a holistic approach
and a life cycle perspective. Our ambition is, at an
early stage, to identify and propose measures and
solutions that will contribute to achieving
Agenda 2030.
Carin Ström,
Research coordinator,
IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute

On the next spread you can read about some of the commission and research projects
we have been working on in 2020 and how we have integrated Agenda 2030 in these.
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Some of the commission and research projects we have been
working on in 2020 and how we have integrated Agenda 2030

AquaVitae:
Sustainable aquaculture around the Atlantic Ocean
Aquaculture is currently limited to a small number of
species that are in high demand. Greater diversity and
stronger stocks are required in order to reduce vulnerability
to diseases. IVL’s researchers will develop techniques for
growing both native oysters as well as the alien Pacific
oyster as part of a transatlantic EU project.
		

SDG 14 14.7

IVL compiling knowledge for the
UN’s Intergovernmental Panel
on Climate Change

Life cycle assessment of forestry
– Mistra Digital Forest
IVL is participating in the Mistra Digital Forest programme,
led by Swedish Forest Industries. The programme is focusing on
digitalisation for more efficient forestry, and IVL is contributing
with the further development of life cycle assessment methods
and sustainability assessments for bio-based products.
		

SDG 15: 15.1

The IPCC compiles the latest scientific
knowledge about climate change, as well as
its consequences and solutions.
IVL Swedish Environmental Research
Institute is participating, through a number
of co-authors, in reports based on data from
thousands of leading researchers and
experts from all over the world.
		

SDG 13: 13.2

How do we increase the reuse of
construction and demolition waste
from households?
The project Resource bank: Increasing reuse of
household construction and demolition waste is
focusing on key factors in order to increase
the reuse of construction materials. The
project aims to promote the increased reuse
of construction and demolition materials.
		

SDG 11:11.6

Digitalised environmental and climate
requirements throughout the
procurement chain
In order to satisfy the upcoming legal requirements
regarding climate declarations for new
constructions in 2022, we are developing digital
support in this project that will make the work
easier for the construction sector. The project is a
collaboration between IVL Swedish Environmental
Research Institute, Sustainable Innovation,
Allmännyttans Inköpscentral HBV
and Ettelva Arkitekter.
SDG 12: 12.1

Smart City Sweden – Sweden’s export platform for sustainable cities
Smart City Sweden is aiming to increase exports of Swedish solutions and innovations within
sustainable cities. By highlighting companies and good examples from Sweden, and by
receiving visitors in six locations around the country, Smart City Sweden is helping to spread
knowledge about Swedish solutions and, at the same time, helping other countries achieve the
goals laid down within the framework of Agenda 2030.
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SDG 9: 9.3 and 17: 17.7
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CityAirSim will show how traffic, vegetation and
dense building construction affect city air

Sustainable urban farming
Climate change, population growth, urbanisation and
reduced areas of arable land may increase the need for
alternative and sustainable solutions for producing food in
the future. IVL is running two research projects that are
investigating how urban farming can promote sustainable
food production in an urban environment.
		

How do trees and shrubs affect the city’s air? And how do
traffic and its emissions affect vegetation? In this case,
how should trees, buildings and streets be positioned to get
the best air in the city? The aim of the CityAirSim project is
to create an interactive environment in which it is possible
to find the answers to these questions.

SDG 2: 2.4

		

SDG 3: 3.9

GRACE – responsible research and innovation
GRACE is a Science with and for Society project supporting the European Commission’s
objective of disseminating ‘Responsible Research and Innovation’ (RRI) within European
research. IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute’s task is to identify, develop and
implement measures within Open Access and Gender Equality.

		
			

SDG 5: 5.1, 5.5, 10.2 and 10.3

Digital twins for innovation in water treatment
Many of Sweden’s water treatment plants are in considerable need
of refurbishment. In addition, the installations have to tackle
climate change and as well as growing cities. Digitalisation can
play an important role in this respect, saving costs in relation to
the new construction and refurbishment of water treatment plants.
		

SDG 6: 6.1

Public procurement as a catalyst
for a circular economy
Public procurement generates almost a fifth of Swedish
GDP, which makes it a powerful tool for transforming our
society in a more sustainable direction. As part of a
three-year project, researchers from KTH and IVL
Swedish Environmental Research Institute will be
investigating how more circular public procurement can
support and drive the development of a circular economy.
		

SDG 8: 8.4
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Residual products from the paper industry
turned into fuel
The EU’s Pulp and Fuel project is aiming to produce biodiesel at a
low cost by making use of residual products from the paper
and pulp industry. This is done through gasification and FischerTropsch synthesis. The project will contribute to the development
of second generation biofuels so that the transport sector’s
greenhouse gas emissions can be reduced in the long term.
		

SDG 7: 7.2 and 7.a
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SUSTAI NABLE ENVI R ON M E NT

Sustainable
environment

Sustainable
transition
Sustainable
society

Environmental assessment model for
pharmaceuticals can steer us towards
greener alternatives
How can we reduce the environmental impact of pharmaceuticals from a life cycle perspective? In collaboration
with the pharmaceutical industry association Lif, IVL has been working for several years to develop a model
for the environmental assessment of pharmaceuticals that it hopes will provide guidance. The next step in this
work was taken in 2020, and a report was published showing how different actors can use the model to drive
environmental improvements.
Information about how pharmaceuticals affect the environment
can be used as a basis for various improvement decisions, for
example to reward ‘greener’ alternatives. But how do we know
that one particular pharmaceutical is ‘greener’ than another?
“In order to prioritise and drive improvement work, it is
necessary to have access to comparable, reliable and relevant
information about the environmental impact of
pharmaceuticals throughout their life cycle,” says Ann-Christin
Pålsson, project manager at IVL Swedish Environmental
Research Institute. The environmental assessment model that
has been developed by IVL and Lif contains two parts – an
environmental risk part that relates to emissions of the active
pharmaceutical substance during its manufacture and use, and
a part that relates to climate footprint from a life cycle
perspective. The model described in a previous report is
intended to deliver product-specific environmental information
that will make it possible to compare the environmental impact
between different products that contain the same active
substance. This information can be used by various actors –
regions, pharmacies, authorities and pharmaceutical companies
– to drive improvement measures and reduce the environmental
impact throughout the entire life cycle of the products.
M A PPI NG HOW T H E I N F OR M AT ION C A N BE USE D

The next step in the work has been to evaluate the needs,
demands and use of the product-specific information that the
model will deliver. In the report that was published in autumn
2020, IVL, along with Lif and other actors, has mapped out roles
and responsibilities as well as evaluated the challenges, driving
forces and opportunities that exist in respect of both drawing up
and using the information. The evaluation has focused on five
primary applications for the model: in assessments in conjunction
with product approvals, for product and process improvement
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work, in the pharmaceuticals benefit system, during
the procurement of pharmaceuticals, as well as to guide the
selection and use of pharmaceuticals for a particular treatment.
The report underlines the need for market incentives to take
this to the next stage. In the short term, these can be generated
through the regions’ procurement of pharmaceuticals in
combination with the pharmacies’ sustainability guide for
over-the-counter medicines, and in the longer term in the
pharmaceuticals benefit system.
“All actors emphasise the need for product-specific
environmental information in order to make informed decisions
and be able to conduct improvement work. However, there are
still a lack of market incentives to share information of this type.
In order to make progress, a combination of voluntary
initiatives and legislation will be required,” says Bengt Mattson,
sustainability expert at Lif.
NEXT STEPS IN OR DER TO STA RT USING THE MODEL

In the next stage of the work, Lif and IVL want to move towards
the actual application of the model, by further developing and
pilot-testing the environmental risk element of the model in
procurement. In addition, they want to create a strategic
roadmap for ongoing development and implementation.
“Collaboration will be required to further develop the model
and start using it. The study shows that there is a high level of
commitment among all actors, as well as a desire for
constructive collaboration in order to move forward. It’s time to
move from words to deeds,” says Bengt Mattson.
For more information, please contact:
Ann-Christin Pålsson, ann-christin.palsson@ivl.se,
tel. 010-788 66 14
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Name: Ann-Christin Pålsson
Age: 49 years
Function at IVL: Senior project manager at IVL’s Gothenburg
office. Works in consultancy assignments and projects focusing
on sustainability management and sustainable value chains,
at both a strategic and an operational level.
Background: M.Sc. in Engineering Physics and Ph.D. in Industrial
Environmental Informatics. Joined IVL in August 2017 and
has previously driven the development of environmental and
sustainability work at various companies and at Chalmers.

AN ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT MODEL
FOR PHARMACEUTICALS
• 	The environmental assessment model will deliver reliable,
comparable and relevant information about the environmental
impact of pharmaceuticals from a life cycle perspective.
This will make it possible to compare the environmental
impact of products containing the same active substance.
• 	The model covers environmental risks in the case of
emissions of active pharmaceutical substances during
production and use, as well as the carbon footprint from
a life cycle perspective.

IVL CONTRIBUTES TO THE GLOBAL GOALS BY:
•	3.9 Reducing instances of illness and death caused
by harmful chemicals and pollutants
•	6.3 Improving water quality and sewage treatment
as well as increasing reuse
•	8.4 Improving resource efficiency in consumption
and production
• 12.4 Responsible management of chemicals and waste
•	12.6 Encouraging companies to apply sustainable
methods and sustainability reporting
•	12.7 Promoting sustainable public procurement
methods, in line with national policies and priorities.
• 12.8 Increasing public awareness of sustainable lifestyles
•	13.2 Integrating measures to combat climate change
into policies and planning
• 14.1 Reducing marine pollution
• 17.17 Encourage effective partnerships

• 	The information can be used by various actors and for
various applications. For example, to reward alternatives
that have less of an environmental impact in the exchange
system for generic products and during public procurement
within the regions, as well as in pharmacies to guide
consumers in their choice of over-the-counter medicines.
• 	The model has been developed by IVL Swedish
Environmental Research Institute and Lif.
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Some of our offerings
within Sustainable
environment

Water analyses
IVL is an expert regarding water pollution and problems
associated with acidification. With knowledge from long
series of measurements dating back to the 1980s, we can
analyse the effects and impact of forest management,
the impact of air pollution on water systems, industrial
emissions into recipient areas and wastewater.
The analyses and tests are carried out in our analysis
laboratories and are tailored to your needs. Many of our
measurement and analysis methods are accredited by
Swedaclänk to another website in accordance with
SS-EN ISO/IEC 17025:2005. For other methods,
we work on the basis of corresponding quality procedures.

W E H E L P YOU W IT H :

•	
Mapping of emissions and dispersion of water pollution
in forest areas
• Nutrient and acidification status in forest areas
•	
A nalyses of the effects and impact of forest management,
the impact of air pollution on water systems, industrial
emissions into recipient areas and wastewater
•	
Determining inorganic basic chemistry, analyses of elements,
low levels of mercury, PAH, PCB, PFAS, pharmaceutical
residues, pesticides and flame retardants, as well as
plasticisers in plastic materials

Support regarding legal requirements for chemicals
IVL helps industries and businesses that develop and handle
chemicals to interpret and satisfy various legislative and
customer requirements.
We have extensive experience and wide-ranging expertise
regarding the legal requirements that regulate the market for
chemical products, both nationally and internationally.
Our experts consistently comply with national and international
chemicals legislation and monitor various chemical and
restriction lists. As a result, we are familiar with the
requirements regarding chemicals in the EU as well as
the applicable situation in several important non-EU countries,
such as the USA, Canada, China, South Korea, Japan and Russia.
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W E H E L P YOU W IT H :

•	
Interpretation and advice in respect of Swedish and international
chemicals legislation, such as GHS, CLP and REACH
• Checking import restrictions on chemical products
•	
Product registrations and alerts to various authorities
•	
Advice on removing or replacing hazardous chemicals in
products in favour of less dangerous alternatives (substitution)
•	
Assistance in the creation of protection and safety data sheets
(SDS, e-SDS, SDB)
• Supporting data for warning labels for various markets
•	
Expert support and specific investigations, registrations or similar

IVL SWEDISH ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE

Sustainable procurement
Reduce your environmental impact through sustainable
procurement, which permeates your company and steers the
requirements in relation to your suppliers. IVL will help you
with issues relating to sustainable public procurement as
well as procurement in various sectors.
The procurement legislation makes it possible to impose
more effective environmental requirements based on a life
cycle perspective. By introducing a life cycle approach to
purchasing and procurement, it becomes natural to work more
closely with suppliers, to set specific supplier requirements and
to follow up their improvement work.
We have long experience of both sustainable public
procurement as well as procurement in sectors such as real
estate, construction, food and automotive.

W E H E L P YOU W IT H :

•	
Practical guidance linked to purchasing processes, procurement
legislation, evaluation criteria and follow-up procedures
•	
Supplier requirements during purchasing and procurement,
as well as following up the environmental work of suppliers
•	
Training on how a supplier can become more competitive
when it becomes increasingly important to comply with
environmental requirements in a life cycle perspective

Sustainable procurement should reduce
environmental and social problems and,
at the same time, be a driving force for the
development of new and innovative
environmental technologies.

Life cycle assessments
A life cycle assessment gives an overall picture of the extent
of the environmental impact of a product throughout its value
chain. IVL performs life cycle assessments on a range of
products and services.
What is the environmental impact of your company’s
products and services? By ascertaining where in the value chain
the environmental impact is greatest, you can identify what
measures need to be taken to reduce it.
It is possible to perform life cycle assessments on all types of
products – for example on packaging, food, electronics,
vehicles, fuels, building materials and construction – but also on
services. A life cycle assessment calculates the environmental
impact of all emissions and resource usage in the core process,
but also the impact of raw material extraction, transport,
the usage phase and waste management.
We have been experts regarding life cycle assessments since
the early 1990s.
We carry them out on a daily basis in various research and
consultancy assignments, as well as in all sectors, including forestry
and the process industry, the automotive industry, the materials
and construction sector and the manufacturing industry.

W E H E L P YOU T O :

•	
Calculate environmental impact from a life cycle perspective
(such as LCA, EPD)
•	
Conduct sustainability or cost calculations (LCC) from a life
cycle perspective
•	
Review LCA calculations and Environmental Product
Declarations (EPD)
•	
Implement life cycle perspectives in your organisation
(Life Cycle Management, LCM)
•	
Map the climate impact according to the Greenhouse Gas
Protocol (GHG)
•	
Calculate the impact of reuse, recycling, circular economy
or industrial symbiosis
• Stipulate requirements with a life cycle perspective in procurement

A life cycle assessment calculates the environmental impact of all emissions
and resource usage in the core process, but also the impact of raw material
extraction, transport, the usage phase and waste management.
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Food industry joins forces
to reduce food waste
More than 1.3 million tonnes of food waste is produced every year in Sweden, equivalent to 133 kg per person.
In 2020, an agreement was entered into between a large number of actors in the food industry, who will be
working together to reduce food waste.
“Food waste gives rise to an incredibly unnecessary impact on
the environment and the climate. No one benefits from us
throwing away food – quite the opposite. Households can save
several thousands of kronor a year and the food industry many
millions by reducing waste,” says Tova Andersson, project
manager for ‘Cooperation for reduced food waste’, SAMS,
at IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute.
What’s the point of the agreement?
“To start with, it’s voluntary. This creates a drive and a good
foundation to stand on. The idea is that the actors in the food chain
should start talking to each other and help identify the point at
which food waste is greatest. The entire segment can then make
adjustments to counteract this waste, from primary producer to
final consumer. When the potato grower, wholesaler, buyer and
restaurant work together, for example, they can reduce potato
waste by determining which variety of potato is best able to cope
with the journey all the way to the plate without being rejected.”
Several European countries have already introduced similar
agreements in their food sector with good results.
In the UK, the agreement has led to significant reductions in
the amount of food waste.
How is Sweden doing compared to other countries?
“The issue is starting to gain momentum here, too, although the
UK is a long way ahead. There are many good examples of actors
that make significant progress through fairly simple procedures
and checklists, particularly school kitchens and commercial
kitchens. This is very encouraging,” says Tova Andersson.
Cooperation in the food chain is cost-effective, according to a
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large study carried out by the World Resources Institute and
the British charity WRAP (Waste & Resources Action
Programme). Companies that invest in reduced food waste save
an average of 14 times their investment, and the savings in
society are more than 250 times greater than the investment.
This is mainly due to reduced household spending.
One overall goal within SAMS is to halve food waste in Sweden
by 2030 and reduce losses in the chain. The agreement thereby
contributes to achieving the UN’s Sustainability Development
Goal 12.3 regarding sustainable consumption and production.
The agreement consists of three parts:
• setting targets for reduced food waste
• measuring and collecting data to follow up these targets
and to identify where food waste occurs, and to be able to
implement measures
• a collaboration forum where working groups can carry out
more targeted and industry-wide projects in order to
reduce food waste.
SAMS has members from right across the food industry, which
ensures that the problem is not shifted to another part of the chain.
The parties that have signed up to the agreement are Orkla
Foods Sweden, Arla Foods, Martin Servera, Menigo, Sodexo,
Visita, Livsmedelsföretagen, Compass group AB, Coor,
Norrmejerier, Paulig, Coop, Linas Matkasse, Svenska
Köttföretagen, Potatisodlarna and LRF. The Swedish National
Food Agency, the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency
and the Swedish Board of Agriculture are also participating.
Additional members are also welcome to join.

IVL SWEDISH ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE

Name: Tova Andersson
Age: 34 years
Function at IVL: Project manager within waste and resource
efficiency at IVL’s Gothenburg office

Households account for 75 per cent of food waste in Sweden.
How to reduce your food waste:
•	
Don’t take overly large portions. Plate up smaller
portions and take more if you’re not full, rather than
taking too much in the first place.
•	
Enjoy your food. As consumers, we are becoming
increasingly discerning. Learn to eat damaged fruit and
slightly stale bread.
•	
Preserve the food. Extend the shelf life of the food you buy
by freezing, refrigerating, rinsing and packaging it properly.
•	
Resist temptation. Only buy what you need. Two-for-one
deals often end up in the rubbish bin.

The industry is working hard on the issue of food waste.
Here are a few examples of measures:

•	
Inventory your stock. Particularly important in
commercial kitchens, and plan the cooking so that
nothing goes out of date.
•	
Think digitally. More and more smart tools are being
developed to help reduce food waste. Check what might
work in your business.
•	
Use the package. Best before but often good after –
encourage the consumer to smell and taste an item,
even if it has passed its best-before date.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Background: M.Sc. in Ecosystem Engineering. Before joining IVL,
I worked with municipal waste and disaster waste management.

IVL CONTRIBUTES TO THE GLOBAL GOALS BY:
•	2.4 Sustainable food production and resilient
agricultural practices
• 8.4 Improved resource efficiency
• 9.5 Sustainable industry, innovation and infrastructure
• 12.3 Halve global food waste
•	13.2 Integrating measures to combat climate change
into policies and planning

If you would like to find out more about the voluntary agreement,
please contact:
Tova Andersson,
tova.andersson@ivl.se, tel. 010-788 67 96
For more information, visit www.ivl.se/sams
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Mistra SafeChem working for a green,
safe and sustainable chemical industry
The goal of the Mistra SafeChem research programme, which is led by IVL Swedish Environmental Research
Institute, is to promote a sustainable chemical industry and reduce the risk of both people and the environment
being exposed to hazardous substances.
The hope is that this will become the basis for a permanent research platform within green chemistry.

Green chemistry is an approach whereby chemical compounds and
syntheses should be designed so that they are as environmentally
friendly as possible. It includes a holistic approach to raw materials,
chemical management, processes and end products, as well as
taking climate impact and energy use into consideration.
The vision for Mistra SafeChem is to promote a safe,
sustainable and green chemical industry in Sweden. This is
achieved in part by developing new synthesis processes, as well
as by developing a toolbox containing models and methods for
the risk assessment of chemicals, both before and during
production and at user level. The programme is bringing
together academia and industry, and will also develop an
agenda for green chemistry that can become the basis for
a permanent research platform.
A N I N IT I AT I V E SPA N N I NG T H E EN T I R E
SPE CT RU M OF CH EM IST RY

An important component for success is the collaboration between
materials and organic chemists, toxicologists and environmental
chemists, as well as industry and product specialists.
“Mistra SafeChem is a group initiative, where different
branches of green and sustainable chemistry come together.
This provides the industrial parties with an opportunity to
collaborate with academia and to gain an advantage in the field
of safe chemical design. This is important, particularly as the
EU and other regulatory bodies are constantly raising their
expectations on chemical companies,” says Richard Lihammar,
assistant programme manager at IVL.
28

HOL IST IC A PPROACH R E QU I R E D F OR SUCCE S S

Mistra SafeChem employs a holistic approach to chemicals,
which is why interaction within the programme is crucial for
achieving results.
“We go into the factory and develop new methods for
producing chemicals. By using enzymes and other catalytic
systems, we are able to reduce the need for chemicals as input.
Another major task is to develop testing methods in order
to identify potential problems at an early stage and be able to
replace products,” says John Munthe, Vice-President, Research,
at IVL and Programme Manager for Mistra SafeChem.
C A SE ST U DI E S A BOU T T H E EN V I RON M EN T I N
R E L AT ION T O C A R S A N D COSM ET ICS

The collaboration within the programme is particularly evident
within the ongoing case studies. One such study concerns
substances that affect the indoor environment in passenger cars.
Another case study relates to cosmetics. Silicone of various
types is often used in skin creams, make-up and hair products.
Some of these substances have been shown to have toxic
properties. The case study, which is being conducted alongside
the H&M retail chain, is focused on identifying alternative
substances with lower health and environmental effects that
can replace silicones and cyclic siloxanes in cosmetic products.
The toolbox within Mistra SafeChem comes in handy here.
It is used to identify both current substances and possible
alternatives in terms of their toxicological impact on people and
the environment, life cycle mapping and technical performance.

IVL SWEDISH ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE

Name: Richard Lihammar
Age: 36 years
Function at IVL: Works as a project manager at IVL’s Stockholm
office. Is the assistant programme manager for Mistra SafeChem,
but also works in other projects focusing on hazardous chemical
substances and sustainable chemistry.
Background: M.Sc. in Biotechnology and Ph.D. in Organic
Chemistry. Joined IVL in May 2020, and has previously worked
as a project manager in research, development and production in
the polymer and pharmaceuticals industry.
A N A SPE CT OF I NCR E A SE D
EN V I RON M EN TA L AWA R EN E S S

The funding body Mistra (the Swedish foundation for strategic
environmental research) has had plans in place to launch a
chemical programme since 2013. So the question is: why did
Mistra SafeChem finally get the go-ahead?
“I think it’s because there has been an general increase in
environmental awareness. The public are mainly focusing on
the climate issue, but reducing the dangers associated with
chemicals is also of great importance. In the transformation
that is required to combat climate change, it is also only natural
to review the processes and select safer substances where
possible,” says Richard Lihammar.

IVL CONTRIBUTES TO THE GLOBAL GOALS BY:

R E COR D -BR E A K I NG I N V E ST M EN T BY M IST R A

Mistra is funding Mista SafeChem with MSEK 70, making this
their largest investment in a single programme. The parties are
contributing a further MSEK 30.
Twelve parties representing the entire value chain are
participating from industry, ranging from manufacturers to
users of chemicals. IVL is coordinating the programme, which
is running from 2019 to 2024. Other research partners are
Stockholm University, Rise, KTH, the Technical University of
Denmark and Chemsec.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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TONNES OF CLOTHES AND FABRICS WILL BE GIVEN A NEW LIFE HERE

Unique textile sorting plant
goes into operation
The world’s first large-scale plant for automatic textile sorting was inaugurated in November 2020. The thirty
metre-long machine is described as the link between collected textile and high-quality recycling. With an
annual sorting capacity of 24,000 tonnes of textile, the plant will boost Swedish textile recycling and give new
life to tonnes of clothes and fabrics.
Every year, 4.3 million tonnes of textile waste are deposited in
landfill or incinerated in the EU. More than 140,000 tonnes of
new textiles are added to the Swedish market, but less than five
per cent is recycled. Siptex – the Swedish innovation platform
for textile sorting – wants to change this.
Several major Swedish textile, fashion and furniture companies,
local authorities, charities, research institutes and public authorities
are supporting the platform – a total of 19 actors under the
leadership of IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute.
“This is the missing piece of the puzzle when it comes to
recycling textiles on a large scale. We are happy and proud that,
together with our business partners, we have given impetus to
this step towards more sustainable textile management. It will
deliver environmental benefits and strengthen Sweden’s position
as a pioneer within innovation and circular economy,” says Anna
Jarnehammar, Executive Vice President at IVL.
The sorting plant is located in Malmö, and is owned and
operated by the waste company Sysav from the southern
Swedish county of Skåne.
“Better utilisation of existing resources is Sysav’s driving force.
We are proud to be contributing to the transition towards a more
sustainable textile and fashion industry. With the Siptex plant,
other actors can scale up their processes, and the recycling of
textiles will really take off. This is a sustainable investment, both for
Sysav and for the environment,” says Peter Engström, CEO of Sysav.

“It’s a huge waste of resources. In addition to the impact on
the climate, large amounts of water and chemicals are used in
the production of the textiles.
If we can avoid new production by making use of the textiles
that already exist and keeping the textile fibres in the cycle for
as long as possible, there is a great deal to be gained from a
resource and sustainability perspective,” says Erik Perzon,
textile expert at IVL.
In addition to collecting more textiles for recycling, sorting also
has to be improved. At present this is mainly carried out manually,
and the textiles that can be sorted out are mainly sold second-hand.
However, in order to sort large amounts of textile waste
efficiently, automated sorting processes are required. And that’s
where the Siptex plant comes in.

GREAT POTENTIAL

There is considerable potential to increase textile recycling in
Sweden. It is estimated that each Swede throws away an average
of eight kilograms of textiles every year. Almost 200 tonnes of
textile a day go to waste.
This because almost everything ends up in the rubbish bin
and is incinerated.
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The technology used in the Siptex plant is based on optical sensors that,
with the aid of near-infrared light, can sort textiles by colour and fibre
composition with a high level of precision.

IVL SWEDISH ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE

When fully operational, the plant will have the
capacity to sort 24,000 tonnes of textile per year,
which corresponds to approximately 30 percent of the
textiles discarded in Sweden over the same period.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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Name: Erik Perzon
Age: 44
Function at IVL: Textile expert focusing on resource
efficiency at IVL’s Gothenburg office
Background: Ph.D. in Materials Science. Ten years of
experience developing bio-based textile materials,
textile recycling and system aspects of circularity in
the textile and fashion industry.

TURNED INTO NEW RAW MATERIALS

The textiles that come to the plant in Malmö are items that cannot
be reused. This includes textile waste from industry, sheets and
towels from healthcare and hotels, damaged garments and other
sorted textiles that cannot be sold second-hand.
“The textiles that go into the machine are items that are
currently viewed as pure waste, that are problematic and that
entail a cost in order to get rid of them,” says Erik Perzon.
From these textile flows, the Siptex machine can create new,
quality-assured recycling products that can be turned into raw
materials in various recycling processes. Increasing environmental
awareness in the fashion industry has raised the level of demand for
recycled textiles, but it has been difficult for companies to get hold
of raw materials of a sufficiently high quality.
“This has constituted a bottleneck – the recycling techniques
exist, but the required flows have been absent. In order to
recycle textiles on a larger scale, even quality levels and large
volumes are required – exactly what automatic sorting can
deliver. This is the link between collected textile waste and
high-quality fibre-to-fibre recycling,” says Erik Perzon.
The technology used in the Siptex plant is based on optical

sensors that, with the aid of near-infrared light, can sort textiles
by colour and fibre composition with a high level of precision.
In this way, large volumes of well-defined raw materials are
obtained that meet the needs of the textile recyclers.
U N IQU E FACI L IT Y

When fully operational, the plant will have the capacity to sort
24,000 tonnes of textile per year, which corresponds to
approximately 30 percent of the textiles discarded in Sweden over
the same period. Siptex is the first plant of its kind, but Erik Perzon
is hoping for more in future. These are needed in order to take
advantage of the textile waste and make something good out of it.
Erik Perzon also highlights the environmental benefits of the
fact that Sweden now has its own raw material production for
the textile industry.
“You could say that this plant is replacing a cotton field in
Bangladesh or a polyester factory in China. It is not only a way
of solving a waste problem, but also a way to replace new
production, which is by far the biggest benefit from an
environmental perspective,” he says.

IVL CONTRIBUTES TO THE GLOBAL GOALS BY:
ABOUT SIPTEX
Siptex stands for the Swedish innovation platform for textile
sorting. This is a Vinnova-funded research project that is being
led by IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute and
implemented together with Swedish textile and fashion
companies, research institutes and authorities, including H&M,
Ikea, Kappahl, Stadium, the Swedish Environmental Protection
Agency, Re:newcell and Myrorna. The sorting plant in Malmö is
owned and operated by Sysav (South Skåne Waste Company).
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•	8.4 Improving resource efficiency in consumption
and production
•	12.2 Sustainable management and use of natural
resources
• 12.4 Responsible management of chemicals and waste
• 12.5 Significantly reducing the amount of waste

IVL SWEDISH ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE

Some of our offerings
within Sustainable
transition

Circular economy
The whole of society is facing major challenges regarding the
use of materials and resources. IVL will help you with the
opportunities in relation to a circular economy.
In the circular economy, materials, products and other
resources are used for as long and as efficiently as possible,
reducing the need to bring new resources into society.
This requires products and materials that are designed to be
updated, repaired and used over and over again and recycled.
W E H E L P YOU W IT H :

•	
A nalysis of flows of materials and resources linked to various
technical systems
•	
Mapping and quantification of circularity and resource efficiency
• Development of strategies for circularity
•	
Developing Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for
following-up
• Development of strategies, action plans and process support
•	
Opportunities for partnerships regarding research and
development initiatives with others in the sector
• Development of circular business models
•	
Innovation, development, testing and implementation of
solutions for increased circularity

Strategic sustainability work
and sustainability management
Companies are expected to accept responsibility for their
sustainability and environmental impact throughout the entire
value chain. To conduct this in an efficient manner, strategic
and systematic sustainability and environmental management
work is required, permeating all parts of the business.
IVL will help you with this.
Strategic and systematic sustainability work can help
streamline and optimise resources throughout the value chain.
This increases risk awareness and risk mitigation,
and encourages new innovations and business models. At the
same time, it strengthens the brand and helps to attract and
retain skilled employees.
W E H E L P YOU T O :

• Identify sustainability and environmental aspects throughout
the value chain
•	
Develop strategies and objectives for your sustainability work
in the short and long term
• Implement strategies and objectives by
•	
Following up and communicating sustainability work
externally and internally in the company

With our help, you can develop and strengthen
your sustainability and environmental work both at
a strategic level and within operational activities

ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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“There’s no such thing as the
perfect carbon offsetting project”

As more and more companies and countries endeavour to become climate-neutral, interest in carbon offsetting
is increasing. But what actually is carbon offsetting, and who is credited with the carbon sequestration?
Kenneth Möllersten, researcher at IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute, has studied the concept.
Climate-neutral, climate-positive, net zero emissions,
CER, VER and Article 6. These terms may seem
confusing – what distinguishes them?
“You can divide the terms into two groups. One group relates
to communication about products and services that have been
carbon offset. This is where the terms climate-neutral, net zero
emissions and climate-positive are used. Claims made in
marketing, where these terms are used, often employ the terms
lazily without placing any particular emphasis on which
definitions apply.
For example, a service or product that has net zero emissions is
not necessarily climate-neutral, since climate neutrality actually
covers more than greenhouse gases – biogeophysical effects are
also included. This can relate to the impact on albedo, for
example, i.e. the planet’s reflective capacity. Albedo is affected by
factors such as afforestation, which makes the Earth’s surface
darker and thus less able to reflect solar radiation. The second
group of terms – CER, VER and Article 6 – comes from the world
where carbon offsetting projects are developed and implemented.
Comprehensive systems have been developed to measure and
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follow up carbon offsetting projects. These systems are complex
and there are many abbreviations and technical terms that are
difficult for non-experts to understand.”
How do carbon offsets work?
“Carbon offsetting can be carried out by helping to build wind
power in India to replace electricity production from coal
power, for example, or by planting trees in Africa that absorb
carbon dioxide as they grow. In order for carbon offsetting to
work, a system has been developed that calculates and measures
the impact of such projects and, on the basis of this, issues a
kind of emission credit, or carbon offset. It is often said that
reductions in emissions, or removal by sinks, should be real,
measurable and verified. Businesses purchase these carbon
offsets in order to offset their own emissions, tonne for tonne.
It is crucial for carbon offsetting projects to arise from the
revenues that are accrued when the projects can sell carbon
offsets. However, it is often difficult to provide evidence that a
project has arisen specifically because there is an opportunity
to sell carbon offsets.”

IVL SWEDISH ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE

“Everyone needs to think about
what changes can actually reduce
their own emissions.
We cannot carbon offset our way
out of the climate crisis.”
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“You shouldn’t believe that eating a climate-positive
burger is saving the climate – it’s still meat
consumption, which needs to be reduced.”

Are investments in wind power better than planting trees,
for example?
“It is important for climate projects that contribute to permanent
reductions in emissions to be kept separate from projects that
involve increased removal of carbon dioxide and carbon
sequestration in carbon sinks. For example, if the powerful
greenhouse gas methane is destroyed, this measure is permanent.
But carbon dioxide that has been absorbed by trees is released again
if the trees are felled and the wood is burned. Many researchers
therefore consider that removal in sinks is not appropriate as a
compensatory measure in order to claim net zero emissions. In order
to do this, it is necessary to guarantee that the carbon dioxide stored
in the trees will remain there for a longer period of time than we can
realistically plan for. There is actually no such thing as the perfect
carbon offsetting project. Projects that make it possible to be sure of
the climate effect often do not deliver an equally clear contribution
to sustainable development in a broader sense, and vice versa.
A party that wishes to conduct carbon offsetting has to make their
own assessment of what is the highest priority.”
Are there any climate-positive products?
“This is a term that has started to be used in marketing. It refers
to a situation where the product’s greenhouse gas emissions have
been overcompensated. A practice appears to have emerged of
compensating for 110 percent of the emissions. This is an arbitrary
level for which there are no scientific grounds. It’s probably better

to buy a product that claims to be climate-positive rather than a
corresponding product that isn’t. But you shouldn’t believe that
eating a climate-positive burger is saving the climate – it’s still
meat consumption, which needs to be reduced. Everyone needs to
think about what changes can actually reduce their own emissions.
We cannot carbon offset our way out of the climate crisis.”

How do we know that carbon offsetting is leading to actual
reductions in emissions?
“There are a wide variety of standards relating to certifying and
issuing carbon offsets. The standards developed within the UN
system have been heavily criticised. This is not because they are
any worse than other systems, but probably mostly because they
have been the first and the largest. They have set the standard for
the industry. Outside of the UN system, there are a range
voluntary standards. The quality of these varies considerably.
If we look a little more closely at the voluntary standards that
exist, we can see that things are not always as transparent or as
stringent as within the UN system. The term ‘voluntary standard’
has arisen because these standards are exclusively aimed at the
market for voluntary carbon offsetting (companies and
individuals), as opposed to standards that have been developed
to be used by countries and federal states in order to meet
commitments. Generally speaking, the level of transparency and
following-up within voluntary standards needs to be raised.”

WHAT OUR CUSTOMERS THINK
In the spring of 2020, Kenneth Möllersten, along with colleagues Lovisa Källmark and Sven-Olof
Ryding, produced a report on carbon offsetting on behalf of the Swedish Consumer Agency.
“The Swedish Consumer Agency is satisfied with the review of carbon offsetting that IVL
carried out for us in spring 2020.
The report has provided us with greater knowledge and understanding about what carbon
offsetting means as a concept, phenomenon and marketing strategy. This applies both to the
regulated market for carbon offsetting and to the voluntary market, its development, actors
and work processes. The report is an important foundation for the Swedish Consumer
Agency’s supervisory work on the way environmental claims may be used in marketing.”
Anna-Carin Widmark,
Swedish Consumer Agency
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Name: Kenneth Möllersten
Age: 54 years
Function at IVL: Senior expert, working in the group
Politics and economics, based in Stockholm
Background: Ph.D. in Chemical Engineering from KTH.
Has carried out research in Sweden and abroad regarding
energy systems, and has worked for 15 years at the Swedish
Energy Agency on international climate policy and climate
projects in developing countries. Has also contributed in
his capacity as an expert in Sweden’s delegation in the
international climate negotiations and in a number of
governmental studies.

What is the future of carbon offsetting?
“Major changes are under way with the transition from the
Kyoto Protocol to the Paris Agreement. The 2015 Paris Agreement
contained a great many new elements. One of the really significant
features is that all countries, including all developing countries,
are now setting targets for how they will contribute to reducing
emissions. This entails a new situation as regards carbon offsetting,
After all, carbon offsetting is based on the idea that emission
reductions from one project can be counted by someone else,
somewhere else. Up until now, it has been easy to carry out
offsetting projects in developing countries, as they have had no
interest in being able to credit the emission reductions themselves.
However, now that these countries also need to report their own
emission reductions, we understand that it may be more difficult to
carry out projects with them while allowing someone else to credit
the results. And the same reduction in emissions cannot be counted
twice, after all. A discussion is currently under way about possible
solutions, some of which are similar to the current carbon offsetting
method, while others are based on completely new ideas.”

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

IVL CONTRIBUTES TO THE GLOBAL GOALS BY:
•	9.A promoting the development of sustainable
infrastructure in developing countries
•	12.6 Encouraging companies to apply sustainable
methods and sustainability reporting
•	13.2 Integrating measures to combat climate change into
policies and planning
•	13.3 Increasing knowledge and capacity to tackle
climate change
• 17.3 Mobilising financial resources for developing countries
• 17.7 Promoting sustainable technology in
developing countries

For more information, please contact:
Kenneth Möllersten,
kenneth.mollersten@ivl.se, tel: 010-788 68 79
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Climate requirements at
a reasonable cost
The construction and real estate sector accounts for almost a fifth of Sweden’s climate impact, with half
coming from construction activities. In order to influence this more effectively, the construction and real
estate sector has increasingly started using life cycle assessments (LCA calculations) as tools. A life cycle
assessment is an important tool for setting climate requirements in procurements, as well as for driving the
development towards more sustainable buildings.
and the IVL Foundation, IVL has developed a guide to make it
In the Swedish construction sector, the focus of LCAs for
easier for housing companies to set climate requirements for
buildings is primarily on the climate impact. This report
construction projects. Requirement formulations, process
equates LCAs in respect of climate impact with the term
stages, instructions and checks that have been drawn up must
‘climate calculation’. In order for a climate calculation to be
facilitate procurements with clear requirements and reliable
used in procurement in an appropriate, qualitative and
climate calculations. The guide is principally aimed at clients
competitively neutral manner, guidance and an exchange of
for construction projects, as well as at contractors. It should act
knowledge are required. A large number of pilot and
development projects are in progress, providing experience that as a tool for both private and public clients, and it can be used in
the production of procurement documents, ongoing work
could be of benefit to everyone in the industry. Clients have the
during a construction project and in the final stage of a project.
opportunity to drive the sector in the right direction by
It is particularly useful for new constructions where the client
imposing requirements as regards climate calculations and
wishes to place demands on the construction’s climate impact,
climate performance. However, this is uncharted territory for
as proposals are specified for reasonable limit values. It can also
many, so support and guidance may be required for the new
be used in the case of refurbishment. The guide is based on
elements that are being added to the internal work, in addition
extensive practical experience of procurement and climate
to specific requirements and procurement texts. New elements
calculations where public housing companies, contractors and
of this type include the evaluation and review of delivered
consultants have worked in collaboration. This tool can also
climate calculations, potential new ways of assigning contracts
help housing companies set clear climate requirements in
based on climate performance, as well as dialogue with the
conjunction with the production of new housing. The guide
contractor regarding the climate calculation.
provides guidance
on reasonable
limit values for new
In a project funded by Public
Housing
Sweden,
Kommuninvest
Proposal for four steps to introduce climate requirements
in the procurement
process
1.

2.

3.

4.

Knowledge building

The design of
the requirements

Formulate writings

Evaluate and review

General competence
development is often
required internally
but also externally.

Internal work routines,
procurement form and
climate goals affect
the type of climate
requirements that can be set.

Select and formulate
the requirements in the
procurement documents..

Calculations are reviewed,
verified and evaluated
at various stages.

Four proposed steps for introducing climate requirements into the procurement process.
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The main purpose
of the guidance is to
make it easier for
housing companies
to set clear climate
requirements during
the production of
new housing.

construction, which are also required during refurbishment
and renovation. However, the guide does not contain any
reference values regarding climate impact for refurbishment,
as is the case with new construction. It does include an overall
process description, descriptions of various requirements
types, as well as tangible procurement texts, specifications and
procedures that can be used in a procurement. The starting
point is that the client should be able to set climate
requirements in a cost-effective manner. The development has
taken into account legislative proposals from the National
Board of Housing, Building and Planning and the Ministry of
Finance. Future legal requirements can be viewed as the lowest
possible and least cost-driving requirement level. The guide
also shows how more stringent requirements can be stipulated
and adapted based on the client’s own conditions.
As the guide is based on extensive practical experience of
procurement and climate calculation, where public housing
companies, contractors and consultants have been involved, it is
easy for the target group to use. In order to incorporate the funding
as an additional carrot in the transformation work, the project has
also examined the demand that exists for green funding criteria
and has provided examples of green lending criteria that have
recently been developed on the financial market.
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IVL CONTRIBUTES TO THE GLOBAL GOALS BY:
•	8.4 Improving resource efficiency in consumption
and production
•	9.4 Upgrading all industry and infrastructure to achieve
increased sustainability
• 12.2 Sustainable management and use of natural resources
•	12.6 Encouraging companies to apply sustainable methods
and sustainability reporting
• 12.7 Promoting sustainable methods for public procurement
•	13.2 Integrating measures to combat climate change into
policies and planning
•	13.3 Increasing knowledge and capacity to tackle
climate change
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Smart City Sweden showcasing
Swedish sustainable
urban solutions

Since 2018, IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute has been running Smart City Sweden
– an investment and export platform designed to help increase Swedish exports of sustainable solutions.
IVL is operating the Smart City Sweden platform on behalf
of the Swedish Energy Agency. Through a secretariat,
IVL handles all visitor requests, manages the communication
work and helps visits to progress to business deals. Smart City
Sweden showcases the best that Sweden has to offer when it
comes to smart and sustainable cities.
The goal is to inspire others and promote Swedish exports.
Five regional offices that receive visitors, seven authorities
contributing expertise within their specific areas as well as
Business Sweden are also included in the assignment.
More than 100 sites right across Sweden are linked to the
platform, a number of which can be visited virtually.
DIGITA L I N V E ST M EN T DU R I NG T H E PA N DEM IC

The business has been adapted to the circumstances during the
pandemic, with a digital Smart City Sweden being launched in
March. Since then, the platform has had hundreds of digital
visits and has run webinars with more than 2,000 participants
in total. They have come from every continent, with countries
such as China, the Netherlands and Canada at the top of the list.

The delegations have widely varying areas of interest –
everything from energy efficiency, transport and waste
management to social sustainability and digitalisation.
As part of the digital investment, Smart City Sweden has
produced a film presenting Swedish solutions for more
sustainable cities. Webinars have been held in a number of areas,
while virtual tours have provided visitors with a 360° view of
some of the wonderful examples that Sweden can showcase.

V ISIT S T U R N E D I N T O E X P ORT DE A L S

Through Smart City Sweden’s operations, the level of
cooperation between Sweden and other countries has increased
and several Swedish companies have moved a step closer to
business deals. An initial feasibility study regarding waste in
Colombia, a return visit relating to smart electricity grids
in Germany and a feasibility study on sustainable transport
solutions in Morocco are just a few examples of visits over the
past year that have led to further business dealings.

ABOUT SMART CITY SWEDEN
In progress: 2018-2021
Financed and coordinated by: Swedish Energy Agency
Business partners: Swedish Energy Agency, Vinnova, Business
Sweden, Swedish Transport Administration, Swedish Environmental
Protection Agency, Lantmäteriet, Swedish Agency for Economic and
Regional Growth, the Swedish National Board of Housing, Building
and Planning, Ministry of Finance, Business Region Gothenburg,
Sustainable Business Hub, North Sweden Cleantech, Dalarna Science
Park, Cleantech Östergötland, Swedish Cleantech
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Möbelfakta becomes
new subsidiary
of IVL

During the year, IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute became the new majority owner of the independent
labelling system Möbelfakta, which was previously owned by Trä- och Möbelföretagen. IVL will operate and
develop the system in future to meet the requirements of public procurement and be able to grow internationally.
Möbelfakta is a reference and labelling system aimed at producers,
buyers, designers, architects and other actors in the furniture
industry. The system is based on three aspects – quality, the
environment and social responsibility – and thereby encompasses
social, technical, environmental and production ethics requirements.
It can also be used as a guide for various types of procurement.
“Möbelfakta has played an important role in guaranteeing the
requirements for sustainable furniture during procurement in a
cost-effective way. Because it is now under the control of an
independent operator such as IVL, the system can grow further
and we can continue to develop it on the basis of a scientific
approach, at the same time as it is working in practice on the
market. Issues relating to climate and circularity will be
important components in the future, and IVL’s expertise can be
put to good use here,” says Anna Jarnehammar, Head of
Business Development and Executive Vice President at IVL.
The system will now be developed to meet the requirements
stipulated for eco-labelling systems in public procurement.
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Another initiative that is being conducted involves harmonising
Möbelfakta in an international context, where Norway and
Europe in general are important markets for furniture companies.
The labelling system currently covers almost 60 active
companies with more than 1,000 products and furniture series.
It is principally targeted at furniture used in public
environments, although brands that are more focused on private
consumers also use Möbelfakta’s labelling for their products.
At IVL, Möbelfakta will collaborate both with the wideranging expertise that exists within the environmental field,
as well as with the subsidiaries Basta and EPD International,
which focus on chemical issues and climate declarations.
The business will be non-profit-making, although it will generate
a surplus to ensure the long-term development of the system.
A criteria council has also been established that will act as a
resource for business intelligence regarding how trends in
labelling are developing, as well as conveying relevant and
current requirements for the labelling system.
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Möbelfakta’s
new CEO wants
to make it easier
to choose
sustainably

At the beginning of May, Johan Söderqvist took up the position of CEO of IVL’s new subsidiary – the labelling
system Möbelfakta. In his new role, he wants to make Möbelfakta better known in the short term, while in the
longer term he views labelling as an important tool in enabling the industry to compete on equal terms
and enabling customers to choose more sustainable furniture.
“These issues interest me, so I’m really looking forward to this
assignment. I enjoy working closely with companies where we
can achieve tangible business and sustainability benefits. I also
liking working with something that everyone can relate to,
namely furniture.
In an effort to achieve a more sustainable society, I see
Möbelfakta becoming a system that makes it possible for more
companies to get better at making conscious choices, although
this also creates the conditions for competition on equal terms.”
How will it be evident that you are taking over the leadership role?
“Möbelfakta will always evolve in line with the sector.
The long-term goal is to increase companies’ potential to use the
label on multiple markets and to make use of the opportunities
offered by digitalisation to achieve more circular flows. My first
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task is to make Möbelfakta more visible, as well as to take
advantage of the synergies that exist with IVL’s other
subsidiaries that have related operations.”
You have worked in various roles in the past, including as a
technical consultant and sustainability manager within
building materials companies. How do you think Möbelfakta
will benefit from your experience in the construction industry?
“There’s a lot that can be learned from the construction industry.
It may be perceived as traditional, but due to the large number of
suppliers it is very exposed to competition. This provides a strong
incentive to develop products with a focus on function and
sustainability. The construction industry is also at the forefront
when it comes to imposing environmental and climate
requirements, and many companies are gearing up for this

IVL SWEDISH ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE

Name: Johan Söderqvist
Age: 44
Function at IVL: CEO of the subsidiary Möbelfakta Sverige AB and project
manager at IVL’s office in Stockholm, focusing on business development of
tools and services within life cycle assessments.
Background: M.Sc. in Engineering and a technical licentiate degree in
bridge construction from KTH/CBI Betonginstitutet. Has worked with sectoral
development and sustainability issues within construction through various
roles at both material suppliers and research institutes.

ABOUT MÖBELFAKTA
Möbelfakta is a reference and labelling system aimed at actors
in the furniture industry. At present, the label covers nearly
60 active companies with more than 1,000 products and
furniture series. It is principally targeted at furniture used in
public environments, although brands that are more focused
on private consumers also use Möbelfakta’s labelling for their
products. Möbelfakta i Sverige AB is owned by IVL Swedish
Environmental Research Institute as the majority owner and
Trä- och Möbelföretagen as the minority owner.

challenge, including through various labelling and assessment
systems. I believe that my experience of this can be useful in my
work with Möbelfakta.”
What sustainability challenges do you see labelling being able
to solve, and how?
“For the furniture industry, chemicals, poor working conditions
and illegal logging are examples of challenges that are directly
linked to sustainability, but that also give rise to skewed
competition. Möbelfakta provides companies with the
opportunity to systematically manage these risks in their
operations, production and the supply chain. The system provides
the conditions for achieving the right long-term balance between
high environmental and sustainability requirements and what the
industry as a whole is capable of delivering.”

IVL CONTRIBUTES TO THE GLOBAL GOALS BY:
•	3.9 Reducing instances of illness and death caused by
harmful chemicals and pollutants
•	6.4 Streamlining water use and safe water supply
•	8.4 Improving resource efficiency in consumption
and production
• 12.5 Significantly reducing the amount of waste
•	12.6 Encouraging companies to apply sustainable methods
and sustainability reporting
•	15.2 Promoting sustainable forestry, halting deforestation
and restoring depleted forests

To find out more about Möbelfakta, please contact:
Johan Söderqvist,
johan.soderqvist@ivl.se, tel. 010-788 69 44
Anna Jarnehammar,
anna.jarnehammar@ivl.se, tel. 010-788 65 76
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Some of our offerings
within Sustainable
society

Climate calculation for buildings

Reuse and circular flows

The climate impact from construction must be reduced in order
for the construction sector to be able to become climate neutral.
If the calculations are of insufficient quality, we will miss the
target. For this reason, IVL has developed the Construction
Sector’s Environmental Calculation Tool (BM) for those who want
to perform calculations themselves, as well as a comprehensive
service package for those who instead want to order climate
calculations or introduce climate requirements in procurement.

IVL helps you and your operation to use your resources so that
you can both reduce climate impact and increase business benefit.
A circular working method is not only good for the
environment, but also creates tangible value for you and your
operation. In addition, it can often create social values through
a more sustainable society and sustainable lifestyles.
Our experts will help you to get the circular processes up and
running. Calculation, valuation and analysis – using customised
methods and models, we will find ways for your business to
become more cost-effective and circular.

A BOU T T H E T O OL

BM contains a ready-made database of climate data for the
construction resources that are used on the Swedish market.
The construction resources handled in the tool have been
selected to meet the requirements according to Miljöbyggnad
3.0, which refers to basic construction and load-bearing parts.
By working on the basis of the quantity calculation for a building,
input data is obtained for BM, which then calculates the climate
impact from material production, transport and construction
output for the materials included in the building. Other phases of
a building’s life cycle can also be calculated for the construction
project, although this is performed outside of BM.
W H Y USE BM ?

The tool is based on the data produced during the design of a
building. The tool contains a ready-made database of climate
data for the construction resources that are used on the Swedish
market. This means that you can obtain an average value
immediately that describes a building’s climate impact in
Sweden. This value can then be used to make improvements to
the building in question.
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W E H E L P YOU W IT H :

•	
Mapping, analysis and calculations regarding how you can
reduce your waste by optimising your spaces and your use of
resources, as well as by reusing or recycling your resources.
•	Valuation and analysis to create streamlined flows and
business models for recycled material.
•	Innovation, development, testing and implementation
of solutions for increased reuse.
•	Opportunities for partnerships regarding research and
development initiatives with others in the sector.
•	Strategies, planning and process support in order to
transform the operation for reuse.
•	Cooperation regarding reuse, through the national
collaboration platform Centre for Circular Construction,
which is led by IVL.
•	Advice and practical guidance on how reuse can be
complemented with the sharing of e.g. laundries, meeting
rooms and workshops, through working methods and
business models.

IVL SWEDISH ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE

S U STA I N A B LE SO CIETY

Climate goals according to Science Based Targets
Science Based Targets is a method to enable companies to align
scientifically based climate goals with the Paris Agreement.
The company needs to inventory its emissions throughout its entire
value chain, and the target is often linked to investments where
economy, feasibility and other effects are carefully investigated.
More and more companies are setting climate goals according
to Science Based Targets. This means that they are undertaking
to implement the necessary measures to ensure that the rise in
temperatures will not exceed 1.5°C. This is an initiative by CDP,
UN Global Compact, WRI and WWF. The scientific data is
produced by the IPCC and the IEA, among others.
T H E ST E PS F OR SET T I NG CL I M AT E G OA L S

The process starts with the company submitting a letter of
intent, in which they commit to developing a climate target
within two years. Once the climate target has been submitted,
it is reviewed by the organisation behind Science Based Targets
on the basis of the requirements that have been stipulated.

The target includes direct emissions (scope 1) and indirect
emissions from purchased energy (scope 2). Emissions in the
rest of the value chain (scope 3) must be carefully mapped,
and if these emissions are greater than 40% of total emissions,
a climate target must be developed for them as well.
IVL works with this issue for companies in various parts of
the business sector, such as real estate and manufacturing
industry (automotive, forestry, agriculture, etc.).
W E H E L P YOU T O :

•	
Develop climate goals according to the Science Based Targets
method for various areas.
•	Understand the underlying structures within Science Based
Targets and how this can be linked e.g. to global indices and
the evaluation of the companies’ environmental and
sustainability work.
•	Calculate emissions throughout the value chain: scope 1,
scope 2 and the various categories in scope 3.

Traceability of materials
IVL will help your company with systems regarding the
traceability of materials and value chains. There can also be
wide-ranging collaboration across the value chain or in the sector.
Traceability can be developed on the basis of e.g. certification
systems, mass balance accounting and blockchain. We will help
you build up systems for traceability in the sector, as well as
combining our expertise in value chains and industrial life cycle
assessments with digitalisation and business model expertise.
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W E H E L P YOU W IT H :

•	Building up traceability and support systems in the processes
that need to be built
•	Building information about origins, use of resources and
carbon footprint
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Limitless work for
increased sustainability
Although 2020 was a year of closed borders, travel restrictions and reduced mobility, IVL’s international operations
remained strong. The vast majority of our assignments and projects are carried out alongside parties from other
countries, which is absolutely crucial when it comes to moving forward on major environmental and climate issues.
The map shows a selection of our international projects during 2020.
Serbia
Biowaste – digital workshop with the aim of
sharing experiences and knowledge about the
management of biological waste. IVL arranged
the workshop on behalf of the UN’s development
program UNDP, and invited Swedish companies
that have developed innovative solutions for the
handling of biowaste to participate.

Cuba

Biogas from waste – an expert exchange project
between the EU and Cuba to promote renewable
energy sources and energy efficiency in Cuba.

Morocco
Biogas development – IVL is conducting a feasibility
study focusing on substrate analysis for potential
biogas production in three cities in Morocco.

Colombia
Establishment of production chain for biogas.
IVL has carried out a feasibility study on the potential
to expand biogas production for bus services, with
support from Swedfund, among others.

Brazil
Smart cities – IVL is the national point of contact for
Sweden’s collaboration with Brazil regarding the
development of sustainable smart cities. The work is being
carried out within the framework of Smart City Sweden.

Chile
Water management – recycling ‘grey water’ from
public buildings in the city of Antofagasta, which
has an average of 1 mm of rainfall per year.
A project within Nordic innovation.

Nigeria
Waste management – virtual delegation from
Nigeria where IVL’s experts presented good
examples from Sweden, in order to
demonstrate Sweden’s journey towards
minimised depositing of household waste in
landfill. A project within Smart City Sweden.

Rwanda
Electrification – IVL is participating in
projects aimed at promoting the electrification
of vehicles in Rwanda, a country that is already
conducting trials with electric motorbikes for
taxi services in the capital, Kigali.
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The Baltic Sea
PFAS – With the support of the Swedish
Institute, IVL is launching a project to
increase knowledge about PFAS in
wastewater and how we can reduce emissions
into the Baltic Sea. Universities and research
institutes from a number countries in the
Baltic Sea region are participating.

Norway
Microplastics in the Arctic – research and
analysis of e.g. eider duck eggs from
Svalbard within the framework of Nordmar
Plastics, on behalf of the Nordic Council of
Ministers. The analysis is being performed
at IVL’s laboratory in Stockholm.

The Nordic region
Air quality for all – digital two-day
conference on air quality in the Nordic
countries. Arranged by IVL with a total of
200 participants from eight countries.

China
Moldova
Social sustainability – IVL is
participating in the implementation
of the Environmental and Social
Impact Assessment (ESIA) for a
power line between Moldova and
Romania. IVL is contributing with
expert knowledge regarding the
impact on social sustainability.

Microplastics from the textile industry – IVL is
heading a consortium that will investigate the
potential for reducing emissions of microplastics
from the textile industry in Bohai Bay and the
Yellow Sea. IVL is also participating in two
Chinese projects through the EU’s Horizon 2020
regarding sustainable waste management and food
waste as a resource, as well as the next generation
of water management in the circular economy.

Turkey
Circular economy – IVL’s experts are
participating in a workshop on the
transition from a linear to a circular
economy, with the focus on best practice.

Thailand, Vietnam, Indonesia,
China and the Philippines
Single-use plastic – IVL is participating in a
project regarding reducing the use of singleuse plastics in these countries. IVL is assisting
with expertise as regards policies and
regulations for reducing single-use plastics, as
well as regarding the promotion of alternative
solutions such as deposit systems.

Indonesia
India
Water and waste – evaluation of tenders for the
construction of two sewage treatment plants in
Mumbai with water recycling. On behalf of
Mumbai City, IVL is also evaluating measures for
reducing the pollution load on the Mithi River.
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Waste management – waste plans with case study
regarding West Java. IVL is investigating solutions
for improved waste management from collection to
landfill, with the aim of reducing waste volumes
and negative environmental and social effects.
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The whole of IVL had
fun on our walk from
Stockholm to Beijing
The pandemic of 2020 required ingenuity in many areas, not least regarding the lack of contact and physical
activity when working from home. The activity challenge during the autumn livened things up.

2020 has been a unique year, including at IVL. When the
pandemic struck, most of our employees were asked to work
from home. It is not possible for all our work to be done from
home, however, as IVL’s laboratory activities mean that we have
to keep our offices open.
During the spring and summer, the feeling was that working
from home was working relatively well – it was a bit of a novelty.
After the summer, when it became clear that we had a long,
dark autumn of working from home ahead of us, IVL carried out
a survey to see how working from home was going. The results
were relatively positive, but showed that 41 percent of our
employees tended to move about less when working from home,
and that many were missing contact and interaction with their
colleagues. As a result, HR and our two sports associations began
to think about what we could do to increase physical activity.
We decided to conduct a classic step competition – but with
a twist. We launched a competition with approximately ten
people per team, with the goal being for each person to achieve
10,000 steps per day. If everyone succeeded in walking that far,
the team would reach Beijing during the 42 days the activity
was in progress. We also wanted to integrate social activities to
create a sense of togetherness and to increase knowledge about
our various offices, projects and colleagues. As a result,
we launched the ‘Stockholm to Beijing’ activity challenge,
in which we would walk from our office on Valhallavägen in
Stockholm to our office in Beijing via all our other offices.
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We included various tasks and activities during the journey, and
showed a film from each office so that everyone could see what
they look like. Various projects were also presented along the way.
Every week there were challenges that provided additional steps.
These challenges were both physical, such as taking a morning or
lunchtime walk, as well as of a social nature, such as having a
Teams coffee with a colleague. We also incorporated activities
where the individual would present their results on the intranet’s
Yammer function, such as photographing a work of art during a
walk. These activities produced an incredible level of
commitment, comments and likes, and we have never had so
many visitors to Yammer as we had during the activity challenge.
Every week we released a ‘TV show’ on the intranet, IVLSporten, during which we awarded prizes, commented on
performances and showed funny films and sketches. This was a
greatly appreciated feature that really lifted the whole activity.
By way of conclusion, we awarded prizes to the first three teams
to arrive at the destination.
Stockholm to Beijing meant that we had an activity to come
together on and actually receive input from colleagues we don’t
tend to talk to when we are sitting at home. The activity was
much appreciated, with up to around 75 percent of our
employees participating.
A new survey at the end of the activity showed that more people
had become more physically active, which is really good to
know considering our dark and rainy autumn!
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“Stockholm to Beijing meant that we had an activity to come
together on and actually receive input from colleagues we
don’t tend to talk to when we are sitting at home.”
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Our business is
completely dependent on
our skilled employees
IVL is a knowledge company, and it is therefore important for us to be an attractive workplace and employer.
We work actively to retain and develop our skilled employees, at the same time as attracting new IVL employees.
At IVL, it is possible to find interesting work duties in all parts
of the sustainability field, both nationally and internationally.
We can offer our employees the chance to influence and
contribute to sustainable social development, as well as to work
with extremely relevant climate issues. Here, people can
combine research and consultancy projects in the field of
sustainability, which makes us a unique workplace with
substantial opportunities for development.
At IVL we possess a wide range of skills – from engineers,
chemists, biologists and geologists to behavioural scientists,
political scientists, lawyers and economists. Almost a third of
our employees have a Ph.D., guaranteeing high skills levels in
many areas.
WOR K I NG AT I V L

At IVL, employees can utilise their creativity and develop
within the wide variety of projects. In addition to working with
their own area of expertise, they have many opportunities to
try out other areas. This provides employees at IVL with
considerable potential for personal and professional
development. IVL carries out many types of assignments,
including business and public sector projects, EU projects and
national and international assignments.
IVL’s employees work in various groups, as well as in
interdisciplinary projects with colleagues from other groups.
Most groups have employees in different offices, so we often
worked digitally via Teams, Zoom, Yammer and video meetings
even before the pandemic. With the help of our IT tools,
we have adapted smoothly to working from home offices, with
the result that we have been able to network and collaborate
extremely successfully during the pandemic. Since March 2020,
there have been hardly any physical meetings or trips. Those
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who can work from home have been urged by IVL to do so.
As a new employee at IVL, it is possible to take part in our
internal mentoring programme. The programme is launched
once a year and is targeted at employees who are relatively new
at IVL and in working life. The idea behind the programme is to
enable people to receive support from an experienced colleague
regarding any questions they may have. The mentoring
programme is much appreciated, and a new digital programme
is being launched in January 2021.
H E A LT H A N D W E L L -BE I NG

Health and well-being are important to IVL, especially when
working at home during the pandemic. The company sponsors
sports clubs and art societies, which arrange a large number of
activities such as kayaking, beach volleyball, truffle tasting and
ski trips. Club activities have been limited in 2020, and many
have had to be rescheduled. We have managed to conduct
digital yoga every other week during the autumn, as well as an
activity challenge – find out more about this on page 48.
The social community is important at IVL, and we believe
this is one contributing factor to why our employees have such a
high level of job satisfaction and stay with us for a long time.
This has been a challenge in 2020, but we have succeeded in
creating new arenas. We have held the live Marie meets sessions
on a regular basis, where our CEO talks with various employees
and customers. This has been done so that we can get to know
each other better and improve our understanding of the overall
business. We have also held monthly information meetings,
digital coffee breaks and afterwork drinks. We ended 2020 with
a much-appreciated digital “Uppesittarkväll” (the evening
before Christmas Eve), including a Christmas rhyme cabin,
a music quiz and live baking.
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DI V E R SIT Y A N D E QUA L IT Y

In order to achieve our vision of a sustainable society, it is
important to possess knowledge and creativity. For this reason,
we need a wide range of employees with diverse backgrounds
and experiences. At IVL, we focus on expertise when recruiting
staff, and over the past year we have brought in new employees
with various nationalities and backgrounds. However, we have
recruited sparingly during 2020 due to the pandemic.
Development is important for us, which is why IVL makes it
possible for staff to obtain a Ph.D. and work one day a week at a
university/college. We believe that this development will benefit
IVL in the future.
When it comes to gender equality, IVL is at the forefront.
Our CEO, who took office during the year, is a woman, as is the
Chair of our Board of Directors. Approximately 56 percent of
our employees are women, and this is also reflected in IVL’s
management team, where 67 percent are women.

basis of the development plan, which is drawn up in the annual
performance review. This development commonly takes place
by means of participating in seminars, conferences and various
types of training, although primarily through the day-to-day
work. IVL conducts internal project management training
courses that are carried out several times a year at various
levels. In 2020, we have spent 837 hours on internal training
with the aim of developing our project managers.
A new HR system from CatalystOne has been implemented
during 2020. Digital performance reviews are conducted in this
system, which makes the process more vibrant and visible.
We believe in regular follow-up discussions, and these are also
carried out in the HR system. These discussions are incredibly
important as regards the dialogue with our employees,
especially during the pandemic, in order that we can monitor
how they are doing and how well their projects are going.
WOR K I NG EN V I RON M EN T

AT T R ACT, DE V E L OP A N D R ETA I N EM PL OY E E S

IVL receives many spontaneous applications, but has also worked
actively during the year to spread awareness of IVL on LinkedIn
and Facebook. Our operations attract many skilled candidates,
which is pleasing to note. During 2021, IVL will be continuing to
work on spreading the message about IVL as an employer.
In order for IVL to be able to deliver applied research and
consultancy assignments that meet the needs of society and our
customers, while at the same time remaining competitive,
the expertise and skills of our employees are absolutely crucial.
A large proportion of our skills development takes place on the
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It is important for IVL to offer a working environment that
promotes the creativity and the commitment necessary to be
able to provide high-quality research and consulting services.
The systematic working environment activities within IVL
are governed by a working environment policy and our working
environment manual. Every year, targets are determined by the
Working Environment Committee, which consists of the
principal safety representatives as well as representatives from
the management team.
The work is led by IVL’s CEO (GRI 403-4). The Working
Environment Committee monitors the systematic work (GRI
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403-1). IVL’s Working Environment Committee holds meetings
once a quarter. Safety rounds, risk analyses and other matters
are discussed and implemented in collaboration with the safety
representative organisation (GRI 403-4).
A large proportion of the working environment activities are
carried out by IVL’s managers in operational activities.
The challenges IVL faces in the working environment are
mainly related to stress and sedentary work, as well as activities
in laboratories and in the field. For stress-related disorders, we
employ counselling through occupational health care, which we
also engage for ergonomic issues, sampling, vaccinations and
other health-related examinations (GRI 403-3). All employees at
IVL are covered by occupational health care (GRI 403-8).
IVL usually offers employees massages and encourages physical
activity through the sports clubs, although this has been limited
in 2020 due to the pandemic. The fitness benefit is utilised to a
great extent. Systematic working environment activities are
essential for our laboratories, and these are followed up during
annual safety rounds etc. For field operations, we work actively
with risk analyses for certain types of projects.
Using these preventive measures, we believe that we are
minimising incidents, illness and accidents. 2020 has been an
unusual year in terms of sick leave, due to Covid-19 and the rules
regarding staying at home in case of symptoms of the disease.
Sick leave at IVL stood at 3.4 percent in 2020 (2.5 percent in 2019).
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IVL works systematically with reports regarding incidents and
occupational injuries. We have a registration tool that is well
known among our employees. There have been six types of injury
and six work-related injuries (GRI 403-2 & 403-9) during 2020.
During 2020, a large proportion of IVL’s managers have
undergone an external two-day working environment training
course. Several of our safety representatives also took part in
this course or in similar training (GRI 403-5).
During 2020, there has been additional focus on the results of
the employee survey, which is one of our main tools for
investigating the psychosocial working environment.
Our managers have received training in how to improve their
operations based on results. In 2020, IVL had an eNPS
(Employee Net Promoter Score) of 18 (benchmark 11) and a
psychosocial work environment index of 75 (benchmark 73).
Two studies have been carried out in 2020 to see how e.g.
working from home has gone during the pandemic. The results
were relatively good, but IVL has nevertheless initiated
measures based on them. Ergonomics when working from home
are a challenge, which is why IVL has offered loans of
ergonomic chairs as well as IT equipment such as monitors and
keyboards. IVL conducted an activity challenge during the
autumn of 2020 (see the text on Stockholm to Beijing, page 48),
where the primary areas of focus were physical activity and
social activities.
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Ethics and integrity
For the IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute, our
independence is fundamental to the entire operation.
This independence is guaranteed by our ownership structure,
a foundation that was formed jointly by the state and the business
sector. IVL was established with the task of supplying independent
and credible decision-making data that all parties can rely on.
The main Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) we work with
is SDG 16, Peace, Justice and Strong Institutions (interim goals
16.5 and 16.6). Credibility is one of our most important core
values, where our independent position allows us to deliver
results that provide sustainability benefits for our customers.

R ISK A S SE S SM EN T

IVL’s management conducts ongoing assessments of risks
related to the company’s operations. This includes risks relating
to corruption, human rights, working conditions and the
environment. Risk assessments are also an integral part of IVL’s
project process and are carried out in conjunction with tenders
and applications. The aim is to pick up on possible risks
associated with projects, identify actions and decide whether
IVL can carry out the assignment based on our code of conduct
and our core principles of credibility and independence.

CODE OF CON DUCT

Our employees are our most important resource, and it is
important for us to act ethically and responsibly in our work and
our relationships.
As a basis for this, IVL has had a code of conduct for many
years, based on the UN Global Compact’s ten principles and on
IVL’s values. This applies to all IVL employees and board
members, and governs IVL’s conduct towards employees,
suppliers, business partners and other stakeholders.
The introduction of new employees includes a review of what
the code of conduct means and how it is applied. An updating of
the code of conduct has been launched in 2020.
In connection with the code of conduct, IVL has a
whistleblower function. This provides employees with a
communication channel to raise suspicions of possible violations
of the code of conduct, both internally and externally.
Through this system, IVL provides its employees with the
opportunity to submit reports, where the right to remain
anonymous and not risk repercussions is guaranteed. During
2020, one report has been received, investigated and addressed.
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Credibility is one of our most
important core values, where
our independent position allows
us to deliver results that
provide sustainability benefits
for our customers.
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E NV I R O N ME NTA L I MPA CT O F O U R O W N O PER ATIO N S

Environmental impact
of our own operations
Environmental considerations permeate everything IVL does, and our own operations should naturally
be conducted with the lowest possible environmental impact.
Our work contributes primarily to the following Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs): SDG 2: Zero hunger, SDG 3: Good
health and well-being, SDG 7: Affordable and clean energy,
SDG 8: Decent work and economic growth, SDG 12: Responsible
consumption and production, and SDG 13: Climate action.
We do this through our environmental work primarily in the
following areas, based on which environmental aspects are
most significant for our business:
• Climate and energy (interim goals 7.2, 13.2 and 13.3)
• Resource efficiency and circularity (interim goals 2.4, 8.4, 8.7,
12.2, 12.4 and 12.5)
Sustainable use of chemicals (interim goals 3.9 and 12.4)
Read more on page XX about how IVL works with the SDGs
when it comes to customers and partners.
IVL’s environmental management system, which covers
operations in Sweden, is certified according to ISO 14001.
The report below covers operations in Stockholm, Gothenburg,
Malmö and Kristineberg. This includes Hammarby Sjöstadsverk,
a unique water treatment research facility that is jointly owned by
IVL and the Royal Institute of Technology (KTH).
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CL I M AT E A N D EN E RGY

Greenhouse gas emissions from business travel and energy
consumption within IVL’s operations totalled 94 (241) tonnes
CO2e, of which 56 (196) tonnes CO2e comes from business travel
and 38 (45) tonnes CO2e comes from energy consumption.
The majority of the emissions, 45 percent, come from business travel
by air. Emissions per employee amounted to 299 (801) kg CO2e.
Business travel
Business travel has decreased dramatically in 2020 due to the
effects of the pandemic. The number of passenger-kilometres is
only a quarter (25 percent) of the level in 2019, and the climate
impact (CO2e) has decreased to 28 percent of the 2019 level.
This travel has been replaced by video conferencing. IVL’s goal
of reducing emissions from business travel, including by always
considering whether travel is necessary and by choosing the
train rather than air travel, remains. However, some travel is
unavoidable in order to conduct operations and carry out
assignments. The travel policy has been further updated and
put into practice during 2020.
The transition from air to rail for domestic travel has
continued to accelerate, although the relative share of car
journeys has increased due to the consequences of the pandemic.
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The drastic reduction in IVL’s climate impact from travel is principally an effect of the pandemic.

Emissions of greenhouse gases from purchased energy, tonnes CO2e

Energy use within operations
Total energy consumption for IVL’s operations totalled 1,811
(1,734) MWh, of which 54 (42) percent comprised electricity and
2019
46 (58) percent district heating. The increase is due to new
energy-demanding pilot projects within in the experimental
activities at Hammarby Sjöstadsverk in Stockholm, as well as
2018
shortcomings in previous years’ measurements. Most of the
energy
supply
comprises
renewable
energy. 50
0
10
20
30
40
60
70
The share of district heating used in Stockholm from
Production of fuel for purchased energy
Generation of purchased energy
non--renewable
sources has been further
reduced due to the
(scope 3)
electricity and district heating (scope 2)
decommissioning of the coal-fired power plant. The supplier
carbon-offsets the remaining fossil portion. In 2020, green
agreements were entered into with
our property managers to jointly identify and execute energy
savings and measures for reducing energy consumption. These
measures are evaluated and implemented on an ongoing basis.

IT equipment and mobile phones has increased, and furnishings
are also reused as far as possible. Any furnishings and
equipment that IVL no longer requires are resold for reuse and
continued use. To achieve sustainable purchasing, IVL
prioritises purchasing environmentally friendly alternatives
when it comes to consumables. Catering at meetings,
conferences and other IVL events is vegetarian, organic and
seasonal, and fairtrade and locally produced food is selected
where available; food waste should also be minimised.
The total amount of waste from IVL’s offices, measurement
and analysis activities as well as Hammarby Sjöstadsverk
amounted to 21.5 (22.3) tonnes, of which 19.3 (17.8) tonnes were
recycled. Hazardous waste from measurement and analysis
activities and process activities amounted to 3.8 (3.0) tonnes,
of which 3.0 (2.6) tonnes were recycled (R code) and 0.8 (0.3)
tonnes were disposed of (D code).

Climate fund
SUSTA I NA BL E USE OF CH EM IC A L S
Since 2016, IVL has been setting aside
funds
climate
fund,
Production
of fuelfor
for a
purchased
energy
(scope 3)Chemicals are mainly used in IVL’s measurement and analysis
which is used to offset carbon dioxide emissions from business
activities, where the choice of chemicals is largely governed by
travel. Carbon offsetting is conducted by means of credible
the analysis methods and the equipment used. When developing
standards, which ensure genuine and long-term emission
analysis methods and purchasing equipment, IVL therefore
reductions as well as contributing to other global goals within
works systematically to reduce chemical usage and replace
Agenda 2030.
hazardous chemicals with alternatives that have a lower impact
As from 2019, IVL decided to allocate additional finances to the
on the environment and deliver a safer working environment.
fund, corresponding to the external costs for emissions, and that
In 2020, IVL has replaced instruments in the analysis
the fund should also include emissions from energy consumption.
operations to reduce gas consumption.
Furthermore, it was decided that the funds should also be used for
Chemicals are also used for water treatment within the
climate compensation, in order to facilitate additional measures
research activities at Hammarby Sjöstadsverk. Here,
for reducing emissions from IVL’s activities, employees and
techniques are developed for reusing and exploiting treated
society at large. A climate compensation model has been
wastewater to help more people have access to cleaner water,
developed in 2020, and is in the process of being implemented.
at the same time as optimising the use of both chemicals and
resources in water treatment.
R E SOU RCE E F F ICI ENC Y A N D CI RCU L A R IT Y

IVL’s operations will be run in a resource-efficient manner,
with reuse and recycling being obvious elements. The reuse of
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Directors’ report
The Board of Directors and the CEO of the IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute
hereby submit their annual report for operating year 1 January 2020 – 31 December 2020,
the company’s thirty-eighth fiscal year.
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DI RECTOR S’ R EPORT

The business in general
The IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute (IVL)
conducts applied research and consultancy assignments across
the entire environmental and sustainability area.
Our customers are found in all industries, government agencies
and organisations. Our operations are based in Sweden and
Europe, but our customers are located throughout the world,
particularly in China, where IVL has been active for more than
30 years. IVL has offices in Stockholm, Gothenburg, Malmö,
Beijing, Mumbai and Fiskebäckskil.
IVL was founded in 1966 and is owned by the Swedish
Institute of Water and Air Conservation Research Foundation.
The Swedish government and the Swedish business sector

appoint directors to serve on the boards of the company and the
foundation. IVL has operated as a limited company since 1982.
Besides the parent company IVL, the Group consists of the
part-owned subsidiaries Bastaonline AB, eBVD i Norden AB,
Möbelfakta Sverige AB and the joint venture company Sino–
Swedish Environmental Technology Development Center, SEC,
in China, as well as the wholly owned subsidiaries EPD
International AB, IVL Environmental Technologies (Beijing)
Company Ltd and IVL India Environmental R&D Private
Limited in Mumbai. IVL’s operations are essentially conducted
within the parent company.

Overview of results and position
SA LES AND PROFIT, 2020

Group
Consolidated net sales for the financial year increased by 10 (9)
percent to SEK 419,966,000 (383,309,000), with earnings after
financial items of SEK 29,067,000 (20,299,000). Profit for the
year after tax amounted to SEK 21,805,000 (15,436,000).
The return on equity was 19.9 (16.5) percent and the return
on total capital was 11.2 (8.7) percent. The average return on
equity over the last five years was 8.5 (5.5) percent.
The Group’s total assets increased to SEK 276,436,000
(253,242,000) and equity increased by 21.1 percent to SEK
125,535,000 (103,605,000). Cash flow was positive in the amount
of SEK 32,966,000 (43,812,000).
Parent company
IVL’s net sales for the financial year increased by 8 (8) percent
to SEK 405,885,000 (376,037,000), with earnings after financial
items of SEK 16,341,000 (11,363,000). Profit for the year after
tax amounted to SEK 9,771,000 (1,029,000).
The main explanations for the improvement in earnings in
2020 are cost reductions related to the effects of the coronavirus
pandemic, the postponement of agreed wage rises and some
government grants intended to address coronavirus effects.
A slightly lower chargeability ratio in 2020, 65.3 (65.9) percent,
was well compensated by higher average hourly prices and more
full-year appointments.
The balance sheet total amounted to SEK 261,627,000
(238,016,000) and equity to SEK 67,594,000 (57,824,000).
Adjusted equity is estimated at SEK 82,235,000 (70,377,000).
The return on adjusted equity was 16.8 (13.4) percent and the
return on total capital was 6.6 (5.0) percent. The average return
on equity over the last five years was 4.3 (2.6) percent.
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Cash flow during the year was positive at SEK 33,885,000
(38,195,000) and was caused by lower investment levels and
an increase in invoicing of advance payments.
Group
Investments for the year in tangible and intangible fixed assets
amounted to SEK 2,259,000 (5,912,000). The equity/assets ratio
increased to 45.4 (40.9) percent.
Parent company
Investments for the year in tangible and intangible fixed assets
amounted to SEK 3,652,000 (6,110,000). The equity/assets ratio
increased to 31.4 (29.6) percent.
For a more detailed multi-year overview and definition of key
figures, please refer to Note 2.
EMPLOY EES

For the number of full-year employed men and women (excl. China
and India), see the detailed overview and definition in Note 7.
R ESPECTIV E SH A R E OF R ESEA RCH AND
CONSULTANCY ASSIGNMENTS IN OPER ATIONS

During the year, the shares of fees earned and expenditures
incurred in IVL’s research and consultancy activities accounted
for 49.4 (51.0) percent and 50.6 (49.0) percent, respectively.
In this context, “research activities” refer to (i) research
co-funded by the central government and the business sector via
the Swedish Institute of Water and Air Conservation Research
Foundation, and (ii) activities funded through subsidies from
central government research bodies, research foundations, the
EU and its equivalents. Co-funded activities accounted for 12.5
(15.4) percent of fees earned and expenditures incurred during
the year, while activities funded through subsidies represented
36.9 (35.6) percent. IVL’s Group companies
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DI V I DE N D P OL IC Y

IVL is operated as a limited company and is wholly owned by the
Swedish Institute of Water and Air Conservation Research
Foundation (SIVL). IVL has operated as a limited company since
1982. The IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute is
non-profit in the sense that no profit is distributed to the owners,
rather it is reinvested in the company’s R&D operations.
The owner foundation, SIVL, is responsible for the funds made
available by the state for co-funded environmental research at the
IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute. SIVL is governed by
a representative board of directors, where the business community
appoints half of the members and the Government appoints the other
half. The Chair of the Board is appointed by the Government.
SU B SI DI A R I E S

BASTAonline AB
BASTAonline AB (corporate ID no. 556719-5697) is 60 percent
owned by the IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute and
40 percent by the Swedish Construction Federation. The BASTA
system has been in operation since 2005 and BASTAonline AB,
which owns and operates the system, was founded in January
2007. The system is intended to support the work of substituting
unwanted substances in construction products. Manufacturers
and suppliers register the products that qualify based on the
system’s property criteria, with a focus on chemical content.
The products are published in an open database with a public
search function. The quality of registrations is verified through
regular audits of affiliated companies. The system also provides
digital tools for logbooks, as well as training and seminars. At the
start, 55 suppliers were connected to the system, and by the end
of 2020 around 500 were affiliated. The number of registered
products by the end of the year totalled just over 50,000 items
(corresponding to approximately 170,000 individual articles).
New criteria for endocrine disruptors were implemented during
the year, following an industry-wide development project, along
with the potential to register information related to Circularity.
Net sales for the financial year amounted to SEK 7,932,000
(7,743,000) and profit after financial items amounted to SEK
546,000 (614,000). Equity amounted to SEK 3,323,000
(2,922,000). The company has no employees.
Möbelfakta Sverige AB
Since 2020, the company Möbelfakta Sverige AB (corporate
ID no. 559252-0810) has been 51% owned by IVL Swedish
Environmental Research Institute and 49% by Trä- och
Möbelföretagen (TMF).
Net sales for the financial year amounted to SEK 2,966,000
and profit after financial items amounted to SEK 163,000.
Equity amounted to SEK 146,000. The company has no employees.
EPD International AB
EPD International AB (corporate ID no. 556975-8286) has been a
wholly owned subsidiary of IVL since 1 July 2014. The company
has its registered offices in Stockholm, and operations are located
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at IVL’s offices in Stockholm, Gothenburg, Malmö and Beijing, as
well as being conducted through international partners. In 2020,
agreements were entered into with EPD Egypt for Sustainable
Development as a new licensee. The company operates and
manages the International EPD® System, a programme for
third-party-verified environmental product declarations (EPDs).
An EPD is an optional tool to enable companies to communicate the
environmental impact of their goods and services from a life cycle
perspective in a comparable and credible manner. The information
is used in a range of different industries and applications, such as
environmental communication between companies, green public
procurement and environmental certification of buildings.
The company operates globally and has customers on every
continent. EPD International communicates globally about the
system, maintains and develops the rules and international
collaborations, and registers and publishes approved EPDs. In total,
EPD International has more than 1,650 valid EPDs from around 475
companies in more than 45 different countries, published on www.
environdec.com. More than 450 new EPDs were registered in 2020.
The company successfully continued its growth strategy
during 2020.
A new “business imperative” was introduced, focusing on
automation and digitalisation for continued growth. The new
developments included a new digital EPD portal and a new website.
An agreement was entered into with a new strategic partner to
improve accessibility and reduce the cost of EPD information.
S. Stiller was appointed CEO of EPD International, two board
members, G. L. Baldo and S.-O. Ryding, opted to terminate
their mandate, and Anna Jarnehammar was appointed as a
new board member. Due to Covid-19 restrictions, the 19th EPD
International Stakeholder Conference was staged virtually,
with more than 200 participants from all over the world.
Net sales for the financial year amounted to SEK 9,524,000
(6,895,000) and profit after financial items amounted to SEK
781,000 (1,268,000). Equity amounted to SEK 3,098,000
(2,620,000). The company has no employees
eBVD i Norden AB
Since 2017, eBVD i Norden AB (corp. ID no. 559093-5390) has been
51 percent owned by IVL Swedish Environmental Research
Institute and 49 percent owned by the Swedish Association of
Construction Product Industries. The construction sector in
Sweden has accepted voluntary responsibility for declaring building
products from an environmental perspective for more than 20
years. During 2013–2015, IVL performed a number of development
projects to update the building products declaration and develop
a digital format in collaboration with the industry. After this,
the company was established with the aim of streamlining and
reducing the costs of preparing and using building products
declarations according to the industry standard for digital building
products declarations, at the same time as contributing to a
traceable digital flow of up-to-date environmental information
from the materials manufacturer. At year-end 2020/2021, the
company had approximately 241 (211) licensed users of the system.
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Net sales for the financial year amounted to SEK 1,302,000
(1,159,000) and profit after financial items amounted to SEK
267,000 (146,000). Equity amounted to SEK 347,000 (190,000).
IVL Environmental Technologies (Beijing) Company Ltd
IVL has had a wholly-owned subsidiary in China since 2014.
The subsidiary offers environmental research and consultancy
services, as well as technology transfer from Swedish
environmental technology companies to the Chinese market.
Net sales for the financial year amounted to SEK 1,733,000
(2,536,000) and profit after financial items amounted to SEK
11,000 (-61,000). Equity amounted to SEK 1,024,000 (1,078,000).
The company has 6 (5) employees.
Sino-Swedish Environmental Technology Development
Center Ltd (SEC)
For more than ten years, IVL and the Tianjin Academy of
Environmental Sciences (TAES) have been joint owners of the
Sino-Swedish Environmental Technology Development Centre

Ltd (SEC), based in Tianjin. SEC has helped a large number of
Swedish environmental technology companies to enter the
Chinese market.
Net sales for the financial year amounted to SEK 5,636,000
(1,653,000) and profit after financial items amounted to
SEK 32,000 (136,000). Equity amounted to SEK 1,606,000
(1,658,000). The company has 9 (9) employees.
IVL India Environmental R&D Private Ltd
Since 2019, IVL has had a wholly owned subsidiary in India,
which mainly works with wastewater treatment projects on the
Indian market. In 2020, the work has been expanded and more
wastewater treatment projects have been launched.
Net sales for the financial year amounted to SEK 9,005,000
(2,353,000, 9 months) and profit after financial items amounted
to SEK 2,142,000 (189,000). Equity amounted to SEK 2,229,000
(204,000). The company has 18 (5) employees.

Expected future development
Our issues have never been more important to the outside world
and our customers, are our strategic journey up to 2025 is
therefore a growth strategy. Climate and sustainability issues
are business-critical for the commercial sector. We have
developed a long-term strategy during the year, with clear

interim goals regarding how we can assume larger role within
research and grow our business. Participation in the
organisation has been clear, and we are well-equipped for
implementation measures.

Risks and risk management
By the nature of its business, the IVL Group is exposed to
financial risks consisting of fluctuations in income and cash
flow resulting from changes in exchange and interest rates, as
well as credit risks. Overall, however, the financial risks are
relatively minor. Nevertheless, currency risks arising from
fluctuations in anticipated and contracted payment flows in EU
projects total MEUR xx (4.6). A change of 10 öre in the SEK
exchange rate will impact income in the amount of MSEK 0.4
(0.6), including the project matching. The company continually
assesses the need to hedge the flows of payments, but once more

elected not to engage in hedging during 2020. During the year,
the net currency effect amounted to MSEK -0.3 (0.5).
The company’s credit risks consist of outstanding, as yet
unbilled revenue from consultancy projects. IVL’s 30 largest
customers, accounting for approximately 75 percent of sales,
consist exclusively of major international corporations,
the European Commission, Swedish and foreign government
institutions, as well as the owner, SIVL.

Other information about the business
A S SIGN M E N T S

In addition to consultancy projects for industry, municipalities
and other organisations, IVL also conducts major projects on
behalf of the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency,
including responsibility for most of the national monitoring of
air and precipitation and, together with other parties in SMED,
for the collection and reporting of Sweden’s combined emissions
regarding air, water, waste and hazardous substances.
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EU projects
The total research budget decreased slightly for granted projects
in 2020 compared to 2019, and IVL was involved in 24 research
projects under the Horizon 2020 programme during the year.
Other current research programmes
IVL has initiated the work within the Mistra SafeChem
programme during the year, and it has also been granted
funding for a second phase of Mistra Carbon Exit. In both cases,
IVL is the programme host.
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Co-funded research
The Swedish Institute of Water and Air Conservation Research
Foundation (SIVL) owns the company and acts as the principal
in IVL’s co-funded activities. SIVL receives state funding for
co-funded research and development at IVL. Co-funding is
conditional and requires a corresponding share from industry,
and in 2020, research has been conducted in four thematic areas:
Natural resources, climate & environment; Resource-efficient
recycling & consumption; Sustainable production &
environmental technology; and Sustainable urban development
& transport. During 2020, SIVL had a total of MSEK 37 (37) at
its disposal for co-funded research, through government
appropriations of MSEK 17 (17) to the Swedish Environmental
Protection Agency and MSEK 20 (20) to Formas. Government
funding forms the basis for a total research budget of MSEK 83
(84) through co-funding of projects, with MSEK 21 (19) from the
business community and MSEK 26 (28) from the EU. In 2020,
MSEK 10 (10) was received through Formas for basic funding for
the development of skills and research activities, as a
complement to the co-funded research.
Fiskebäckskil
The company conducts most of its marine activities at the
Kristineberg research station in Fiskebäckskil. IVL is currently
conducting extensive research on marine pollution, underwater
noise and the development and evaluation of new forms of
aquaculture. Kristineberg is also the base for the Kristineberg
Research and Innovation Centre, a collaboration between
Gothenburg University (GU), IVL, Chalmers, KTH, RISE, Lysekil
Municipality and Innovatum. The aim is to create a nationally and
internationally leading centre for marine research, innovation
and sustainable blue growth. In 2020, the collaboration has been
intensified in a number of new research projects, including the
skills centre Blue Food - Centre for the Seafood of the Future,
with funding of SEK 48 million from Formas.
European networks and collaborations with
universities and colleges
IVL’s role is to build bridges between the research and business
communities and to create arenas for collaboration between
various actors in society. This is one of the reasons why IVL plays
an active role in networks and other cooperative ventures of
various kinds. As an important part of this, is IVL participating in

a large number of European technology platforms, such as Water
Europe (water), FBST (forest), ECTP (construction) and SPIRE.
Other examples of international networks include:
ENERO – European Network of Environmental Research
Organisations, and NORMAN. This is a network of reference
laboratories and research organisations involved in the
development of methods and tools for the analysis and
screening of new, environmentally hazardous chemicals.
SusChem SE – IVL, together with IKEM, operates the
national node of the EU’s SusChem platform, focusing on
achieving a sustainable chemical industry.
In Sweden, IVL cooperates e.g. within:
LIGHTHOUSE – Nordic centre for maritime expertise and a
collaboration between Chalmers, the Gothenburg School of
Business, Economics and Law, and the Swedish Shipowners’
Association. SMED – the Swedish Environmental Emissions
Database – a consortium formed in 2001 by IVL, Statistics
Sweden (SCB), the Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological
Institute (SMHI), and the Swedish University of Agricultural
Sciences (SLU) to work in the long term to gather and develop
Swedish expertise in emission statistics related to actions in
the fields of air and water pollution, waste and hazardous
substances. SMED has supplied all of the data required for
Sweden’s international reporting in these areas since 2006,
and the present framework agreement runs until 2022.
Swedish Electromobility Center – which works to increase
knowledge in the field of electromobility in order to lay the
foundations for a sustainable society and sustainable mobility.
IVL is also involved in strategic collaboration agreements with
KTH and CHALMERS regarding the development of
collaborative research and increased utilisation of the research.
Since 2018, IVL has had a collaboration agreement with the
Swedish Forestry Research Institute, Skogforsk, to engage in
research on the bioeconomics of the future.

Significant events during the year
• The pandemic hit hard initially, and one of our largest
customers put their contract on hold, which led to us being forced
to implement short-term layoffs and seek government support.
The work started little-by-little, however, and we did not need
to seek further support.
• The pandemic also led to the stoppage of all travel, and has
consequently resulted in significantly reduced costs.
• On 16 April 2020, the new CEO of IVL AB, Marie Fossum
Strannegård, took up her new position.
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• On 31 July 2020, the former CEO retired at the age of 62.
According to the agreement, IVL paid the premium for
retirement pension as though the CEO had worked until the age
of 65. The final payment corresponds to 35% of the annual salary
at the time of retirement, including the value of car benefits.
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Business description
The purpose of IVL’s operations is to promote ecologically,
economically and socially sustainable growth in business and
society through applied research and consultancy projects.
The business is organised into three operational units, as well
as sections for research, business development and
international business, HR, administration and finance, which
operate across the organisation. IVL’s working methodology is
characterised by an interdisciplinary and holistic approach.
The company is active across the entire field of sustainability,
and for this reason, in addition to its traditional expertise in the
environmental field, IVL employs behavioural and social
scientists and financial and communications experts.
Our activities extend across the entire industrial spectrum,
and our customers represent Swedish society in its entirety,
ranging from small and medium enterprises to large
multinationals, industry and trade organisations, public
agencies – of which the Swedish Environmental Protection
Agency is the largest single contributor and client – as well as
local authorities and other organisations.
OW N E R SH I P

Since 2004, IVL has been wholly owned by the Swedish Institute
of Water and Air Conservation Research Foundation (SIVL),
corp. ID no. 802006-2611, with its registered office in
Stockholm. The purpose of the foundation is to develop the
long-term prerequisites for environmental research at IVL and,
through ownership, to guarantee an independent status for IVL.
SIVL is governed by a representative board of directors, for
which the chair and six members are appointed by the Swedish

government and seven members by the Swedish business
community. SIVL is the sole owner of IVL and proposes
members to the board of IVL, partly by inviting nominations
from representatives of the business community, and partly
by inviting nominations from the government.
ORG A N ISAT ION A N D OU R OPE R AT IONA L U N I T S

IVL’s operations are organised into three operational units,
which in turn are divided into a number of groups with group
managers tasked with personnel management and capacity
planning. There are also sections for research, business
development and international business, HR, finance and
administration. These sections operate across the entire
organisation. All units collaborate in a matrix organisation with
three thematic areas: Sustainable environment, Sustainable
transition and Sustainable society.
Three operational councils with external stakeholders are
associated with each focus area. Participants in the operational
councils are appointed by IVL’s ownership foundation, SIVL.
GROU P M A NAGE M E N T A N D M A NAGE M E N T T E A M

IVL’s executive management consists of the CEO, the Executive
Vice President, the CFO and the Vice-President, Research.
The company’s management team also includes three heads of
sections: the Director of Human Resources, the Director of
Communications and the Sales Director, as well as a senior
advisor. The Director of Quality and Environmental Issues is a
co-opted member of the management team.

Sustainable
environment

Sustainable
transition
Sustainable
society

All units collaborate in a matrix organisation with three thematic areas: Sustainable environment, Sustainable transition
and Sustainable society.
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ORG A N ISAT IONA L PL A N

CEO

Marie Fossum Strannegård

Research John Munthe
Business development,
marketing, international
Anna Jarnehammar
•
•
•
•
•

Business development & commercialisation
Operational development
Marketing and communication
International business
Quality and environment

Sales Kristina Jonsson

Sustainable society

Environmental
intelligence

Patrik Isaksson

Karin Sjöberg
•
•
•
•
•
•

Water resource
management
Urban land use
Environmental
chemistry
Ecosystems
Air quality management
Analytical chemistry

HR Anna Amgren
Administration Mats Ridner

•
•
•
•
•
•

Urban design
Energy
Politics and economics
Transport and mobility
Mobility
Life Cycle Management

Sustainable
business and
consumption

Mona Olsson Öberg
•
•
•
•
•
•

Sustainable
consumption and
resource flow
Environmental
technology, water and
waste water
Waste and resource flow
Process modelling and
digitalisation
Chemical management
Sustainable work life
and sustainability
management

• Finance
• IT
• Administration
IVL |

A F F I L I AT E S OU T SI DE OF S W E DE N

By the end of 2020, IVL’s operation in China had 6 employees at
the Beijing office. The operations focus primarily on research
and consulting, education and knowledge transfer, building
relationships with Chinese authorities, companies and
organisations, as well as technology transfer.
IVL has had a business partner for many years, Tianjin
Academy of Environmental Sciences (TAES).
Since 2015, IVL has had one employee from IVL’s China office
stationed in Wuhan, in the Hubei province in central China.
BUSI N E S S I N T E L L IGE NCE

The most important aspect overall for IVL is how the business
contributes to environmental and sustainability benefits for the
customer and a sustainable development of society, which is the
basis of IVL’s vision. On 12 December 2020, it was five years
since the countries of the world had agreed on a new climate
agreement, known as the Paris Agreement. The commitments
made by the countries will be progressively strengthened and
reconciled globally every five years. The agreement has also
established a framework for the ongoing international dialogue,
in which each country has to take responsibility for the
transition and consistently reduce its emissions, at the same
time as supporting poorer countries. Such a global
environmental issue has to have a functioning global dialogue,
so this process is important. This entails a new situation as
regards carbon offsetting, something our researchers are
working on in order to support business and the public sector.
After all, a prerequisite for growth is that the economic
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conditions are in place. Living carbon-neutral lives doesn’t have
to be much more expensive, but the research needs to support
industry and the transition. Research and development
constitute the foundation for our operations and represent half
of our overall activities, alongside our consultancy assignments.
A proportion of our research is ‘co-funded research’, financed
by the state and the business sector. The purpose of this
research is to pursue issues that are of considerable interest to
the business sector and of general relevance to society.
EU-funded research is another important part of our business.
IVL takes part in EU projects in areas that are relevant to
Swedish society, and we are thereby building up networks and
skills from an international perspective. Appropriations-based
research is another important part of our business. In addition
to this, we carry out consultancy research on behalf of external
customers, which may be companies or entire industries.
GE N DE R E QUA L I T Y A N D DI V E R SI T Y

In order to achieve our vision of a sustainable society,
considerable emphasis is being placed on gender equality and
diversity issues. 55 (56) percent of the Group’s full-year
employees are women, and at IVL we focus on expertise when
recruiting staff. Over the past year, we have brought in new
employees from various nationalities and backgrounds.
50 (50) percent of IVL’s Board of Directors are women, while
67% of IVL’s management team are women. More information
about the work on gender equality and diversity can be found in
the Group’s 2020 Annual Report, at ivl.se.
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Sustainable development
A SUSTA I NA BL E I V L

IVL reports information about the company’s sustainability
work together with the development and financial results of
the business. IVL reports according to GRI’s (Global Reporting
Initiatives) latest guidelines, entitled GRI Standards, and it
reports at CORE level. Through stakeholder dialogues and
materiality analyses, IVL has identified the areas that are of
material significance to the company.
These are:
• Customer and environmental usefulness, i.e. how IVL
contributes to improving the environmental performance
of customers and a sustainable society
• Working environment, health and safety
• Gender equality, equal opportunities and diversity
• Skills and management development
• Ethics and integrity
• Climate and energy
• Chemical processing
• Resource efficiency and circularity
• A report on the principles and GRI indicators is presented in
the Annual Report, under the GRI index section.
The Board’s tasks include identifying how sustainability issues
affect the company’s risks and business opportunities. In
accordance with Chapter 6, Section 11, of the Annual Accounts
Act, IVL has elected to prepare the statutory sustainability
report as an integral part of its Annual Report. The full
sustainability report can be found in the Annual Report 2020,
which will be published on ivl.se.
SUSTA I NA BI L I T Y G OA L S

IVL’s Board of Directors has adopted sustainability targets for
2020:
•	Satisfied customer – We will contribute to the improved
environmental performance of our customers and to
a sustainable society (SDGs)
•	Satisfied owner – We will conduct an in-depth stakeholder
dialogue to gain a better understanding of the needs of
customers and other stakeholders
•	Satisfied owner – We will reduce IVL’s environmental
and climate impact in respect of travel, chemicals and
energy consumption
• Expertise and an attractive workplace with underlying goals
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•	Business acumen and secured financing with
underlying objectives
E N V I RON M E N TA L A N D QUA L I T Y M A NAGE M E N T

IVL works on sustainability, environmental and quality issues
within the scope of an integrated management system.
The system and its implementation at IVL are ISO-certified for
environmental and quality management in accordance with
SS-EN ISO 14001:2015 and SS-EN ISO 9001:2015 respectively.
These certifications are maintained annually and certified
periodically by accredited certification agencies.
Most of the operations comprising sampling, field measurements
and analyses are accredited and audited regularly by SWEDAC
in accordance with SS-EN ISO/IEC 17025:2018.
QUA L I T Y

IVL’s work on quality focuses on customer relations,
and regular follow-ups are performed to ensure that customers
are satisfied with the company’s work. The customers represent
the business community, local authorities and government
agencies. The Customer Satisfaction Index (CSI) ranking, on a
scale of 1 to 5, was 4.15 (4.0) for 2020. The analysis of the results
of the interviews is used as a basis for the development of IVL’s
operations and continuous improvement work. The interviews
show that our customers have a positive view of IVL as a
professional and important partner and supplier.
T H E WOR K A N D COM P O SI T ION OF T H E BOA R D
DU R I NG T H E Y E A R

During 2020 financial year, the Board of Directors held five
regular meetings in addition to the statutory meeting. The tasks
of the Board of Directors primarily include strategic issues,
financial statements, major investments and acquisitions.
The Board receives regular reports on the development of the
company’s operations and finances. Selections of the company’s
operations are presented at ordinary meetings. The CEO chairs
the board meetings. The Board of Directors appoints a
remuneration committee from its members, which is tasked
with drafting guidelines for remuneration and other terms of
employment for the CEO and other members of the executive
management. The committee consists of at least two members
who are appointed for a term of two years.
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Specification equity Group Parent company
GROUP
Opening balance
Recalculation difference
Profit for the year
Amount at year end

PARENT COMPANY
Opening balance
Appropriation of profit by AGM
Dissolution fund for development expenditure
Profit for the year
Amount at year end

Share capital
7,000

7,000

Share capital
7,000

Statutory
reserve
1,400

Other equity, including
profit for the year
96,605
125
21,805
118,535

Fund for
development
expenditure
1,220
-301

7,000

1,400

919

Retained
earnings
47,175
1,029
300
48,504

Total
103,605
125
21,805
125,535

Profit for
the year
1,029
-1,029
9,771
9,771

Total
57,824
-1
9,771
67,594

Proposal for the allocation of profit
Available for distribution by the Annual General
Meeting (SEK 000):
Retained earnings

48,504

Profit for the year

9,771

Total

58,275

The Board of Directors and the CEO propose that the profit be
distributed as follows (SEK 000)

58,275

Total

58,275

For more information on the company’s and the Group’s financial position and performance for the financial year on 31 December 2020, see the following
income statements, balance sheets, statements of cash flows and notes to the financial statements.
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ACCOUNTS OF THE GROUP
AND THE PARENT COMPANY
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Income statements
SEK 000
Operating income
Net sales
Change in work in progress
Other operating income

GROUP
2020
Note 3
Note 4

2019

PARENT COMPANY
2020
2019

419,966
-26,706
2,986
396,246

383,309
-390
193
383,112

405,885
-35,725
2,986
373,146

376,037
-7,418
193
368,812

-45,883
-69,389
-242,750

-46,127
-71,236
-237,475

-44,265
-65,712
-238,133

-46,127
-68,836
-234,869

-9,931
-367,953

-9,344
-364,182

-9,471
-357,581

-8,997
-358,829

28,293

18,930

15,565

9,983

848
-74

1,540
-171

847
-71

1,539
-159

29,067

20,299

16,341
-2,655

11,363
-9,400

-7,262

-4,863

-3,915

-934

21,805

15,436

9,771

1,029

Operating expenses
Project expenses
Other external costs
Staff costs
Depreciation of tangible assets and amortisation
of intangible assets

Note 6
Note 7
Note 8

Operating profit
Profit from financial postings
Interest income
Interest expenses
Profit after financial postings
Appropriations
Tax on profit for the year
ANNUAL PROFIT
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Note 9
Note 9

Note 10
Note 11
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Balance sheets
SEK 000
ASSETS
FIXED ASSETS
Intangible fixed assets
Capitalised software development costs
Goodwill
Tangible fixed assets
Machinery and equipment
Financial assets
Other securities held as fixed assets
Total fixed assets
CURRENT ASSETS
Current receivables
Accounts receivable
Receivables from Group companies
Tax assets
Other receivables
Earned but unbilled income
Prepaid costs
Total current receivables

Note 12

GROUP
2020

2019

5,162
33

6,447
223

30,008

36,219

46
35,249

46
42,935

63,586
9,088
1,445
6,983
9,129
8,790
99,021

67,275
9,936
4,676
2,416
8,325
9,462
102,090

Note 13
Note 14

Note 5
Note 15

Short-term investments

Note 20

30,497

29,653

Cash and bank balances

Note 19

111,669

78,564

Total current assets

241,187

210,307

TOTAL ASSETS

276,436

253,242

7,000
118,535

7,000
96,605

125,535

103,605

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital
Other equity, including profit for the year

Note 21

Total equity
Provisions

Note 16

14,127

11,019

Non-current liabilities
Liabilities to credit institutions

Note 18

1,423

2,388

Note 18
Note 4

1,718
73,257
19,419
16,451
5,384
19,122

2,178
72,587
24,007
15,136
3,256
19,066

Total current liabilities

135,351

136,230

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

276,436

253,242

Current liabilities
Liabilities to credit institutions
Ongoing work on behalf of others
Trade accounts payable
Other liabilities
Billed but unearned income
Accrued costs
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Balance sheets
PARENT COMPANY
2020
2019

SEK 000
ASSETS
FIXED ASSETS
Intangible fixed assets
Capitalised software development costs
Goodwill
Tangible fixed assets
Machinery and equipment
Financial assets
Shares in group companies
Other securities held as fixed assets
Total fixed assets
CURRENT ASSETS
Current receivables
Accounts receivable
Receivables from Group companies
Tax assets
Other receivables
Earned but unbilled income
Prepaid costs
Total current receivables

Note 12
4,212
33

5,060
223

26,789

31,570

1,304
46
32,384

1,278
46
38,177

58,525
14,905
1,822
2,973
9,129
8,784
96,138

65,703
12,899
4,720
610
8,325
9,206
101,463

Note 13

Note 14
Note 14

Note 5
Note 15

Short-term investments

Note 20

30,497

29,653

Cash and bank balances

Note 19

102,608

68,723

Total current assets

229,243

199,839

TOTAL ASSETS

261,627

238,016

7,000
1,400
919
9,319

7,000
1,400
1,220
9,620

48,504
9,771
58,275

47,175
1,029
48,204

67,594

57,824

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Restricted equity
Share capital
Statutory reserve
Fund for development expenditure
Total restricted equity
Non-restricted equity
Retained earnings
Profit for the year
Total non-restricted equity

Note 21

Total equity
Provisions

Note 16

557

Untaxed reserves

Note 10

18,627

15,971

Note 4

116,113
19,274
15,076
5,384
19,002

106,424
23,985
11,696
3,256
18,860

Total current liabilities

174,849

164,221

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

261,627

238,016

Current liabilities
Ongoing work on behalf of others
Trade accounts payable
Other liabilities
Billed but unearned income
Accrued costs
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Cash flow statement

SEK 000 (Direct method)

GROUP
2020

2019

PARENT COMPANY
2019
2019

CURRENT OPERATIONS
Profit after financial postings
Adjustment for postings excluded from the cash flow
Tax paid

29,067
15,091
-4,031

20,299
12,420
-4,812

16,341
11,916
-1,017

11,363
8,734
-625

Cash flow from current operations before changes in working capital

40,127

27,907

27,240

19,472

CASH FLOW FROM CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL
Decrease (+)/Increase (-) in receivables
Decrease (-)/Increase (+) in accounts payable
Increase (+)/Decrease (-) in other liabilities
Increase (+)/Decrease (-) in advance payments for work in progress
Cash flow from operating activities

-30
-4,588
855
670
37,034

22,071
-5,718
2,708
4,822
51,790

2,809
-4,711
3,380
9,689
38,407

20,709
-5,726
-490
11,970
45,935

INVESTMENTS
Acquisition of intangible assets
Acquisition of tangible fixed assets
Acquisition of financial assets
Short-term investments
Cash flow from investment activities

-2,259
-844
-3,103

-348
-5,564
-11
-1,603
-7,526

-3,652
-26
-844
-4,522

-6,110
-27
-1,603
-7,740

-965
-965

-452
-452

Cash flow for the year

32,966

43,812

33,885

38,195

Opening cash and bank balances

78,564

34,512

68,723

30,527

139

240

1

1

111,669

78,564

102,608

68,723

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New borrowing
Cash flow from financing activities

Exchange rate differences in cash and cash equivalents
Closing cash and bank balances
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Notes
for the financial statements and accounting principles

Note 1
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
COMPLIANCE WITH STANDARDS AND LEGISLATION

The annual report and the consolidated accounts have been prepared in
accordance with BFNAR 2012:1 Annual Report and Consolidated
Accounts (K3).
Where guidance is not available from the K3 regulation, it has been
obtained from the Swedish Annual Accounts Act (1995:1554).
The Parent Company applies the same accounting principles as the
Group, other than as indicated below in the section “Parent Company’s
accounting principles”. Divergences between the Parent Company’s and
the Group’s principles arise from limitations in the application of K3 to
the Parent Company through the requirements of the Swedish Annual
Accounts Act and, in some instances, tax considerations.
BASIS FOR THE PREPAR ATION OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY AND THE GROUP

The Parent Company’s functional currency is the Swedish krona (SEK),
which is also the reporting currency for the Parent Company and the
Group. The financial statements are therefore presented in SEK. Assets
and liabilities are recognised at historical cost, with the exception of
certain financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value.
The preparation of financial statements under K3 requires the company
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
application of the accounting principles and the amounts recognised for
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and assumptions
are based on historical experience and a number of other factors that in
the prevailing circumstances are judged to be reasonable. The results of
these estimates and assumptions are then used to assess the carrying
amounts for assets and liabilities that are not otherwise revealed clearly
from other sources. The actual outcome may differ from these estimates
and judgements. These estimates and judgements are typically made
during preparation of the year-end and half-year accounts. As a result of
changes at the company or in its business environment, it might become
necessary to revise these estimates and judgements.
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND DISCLOSURE
REQUIREMENTS

No new accounting policies have come into effect with any impact on
the Group during 2020.
CLASSIFICATION ETC.

Fixed assets and non-current liabilities of the Parent Company and the
Group essentially only consist of amounts expected to be recovered or
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paid after more than 12 months from the balance sheet date.
Current assets and current liabilities in the Parent Company and the
Group essentially only consist of amounts expected to be recovered
or paid within 12 months calculated from the balance sheet date.
PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

Subsidiaries are entities over which IVL exercises a controlling
influence. A controlling influence consists of a right, directly or
indirectly, to control the financial and operational strategies of another
company in order to gain economic benefits. In establishing whether a
controlling influence exists, account shall be taken of shares with
potential voting rights that may be used or converted without delay.
Subsidiaries are accounted for using the proportional method.
Under this method, as large a proportion as possible of the jointly
owned company’s income and expenses, and of its assets and liabilities,
are recognised in the consolidated accounts.
The reason for choosing this principle of consolidation is that IVL was
involved in the original establishment of Group companies and did not
acquire them at a surplus or deficit value.
Intragroup receivables and liabilities, income and expenses and
unrealised gains or losses arising from transactions between Group
companies are eliminated in their entirety during preparation of the
consolidated accounts.
FOREIGN CURRENCY

Foreign currency transactions are translated to the functional currency
at the exchange rate prevailing on the transaction date. Monetary assets
and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated to the functional
currency at the exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date.
Exchange rate differences arising from recalculations are recognised
in the income statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities recognised
at historical cost are recalculated at the exchange rate on the transaction
date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities recognised at fair value are
recalculated to the functional currency at the rate prevailing at the time
of measurement at fair value, and any exchange rate difference is then
recognised in the same way as for other changes in value for the asset or
liability. The functional currency is the currency of the countries in
which the companies included in the Group conduct their operations.
The functional and reporting currency of the Parent Company is the
Swedish krona (SEK). The reporting currency of the Group is the SEK.
Assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to SEK at
the exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and
expenses in foreign operations are translated to SEK at an average rate
that is an approximation of the rates at the times of the respective
transactions. Any translation differences arising during translation of
foreign net investments are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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REVENUE

The percentage of completion method is used for all projects where the
outcome can be calculated reliably. Assignments carried out on current
account, whereby revenue is recognised when the work is performed
and normally invoiced to the customer in the following month,
generated but unbilled income, are reported as accrued income.
Where a fixed price is agreed, the income is reported when the work is
essentially completed according to the so-called percentage of
completion method. Unbilled ongoing projects are assessed in the
balance sheet as the amount of the directly paid expenses plus indirect
expenses minus invoiced partial payments.
If it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract
revenue, the anticipated loss is recognised immediately as an expense in its
entirety. Revenue is not recognised if it is likely that the financial benefits
will not accrue to the Group. In the event of significant uncertainty
regarding payment or associated costs, there is no revenue recognition.
In grant-funded projects in which IVL functions as a contractual
partner with the research funding body and allocates project funding to
other participants in the projects, such funds are not recognised as
income, but accounted for directly under the heading of work in
progress on behalf of others. As a result, the invoicing and costs of
expenses are deducted corresponding to the funds received, and are
then paid out to other project partners.
OPER ATING EXPENSES AND FINANCIAL
INCOME AND EXPENSE

Parent Company costs under operating leases are reported in the
income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Benefits acquired in connection with the signing of an agreement are
reported as a part of the total leasing cost in the income statement.
Variable charges are expensed in the periods in which they are
incurred.
Minimum lease fees under finance leases in the Group are allocated
between interest expenses and the amortisation of the outstanding
liability. Interest expenses are distributed over the term of the lease such
that each accounting period is charged with an amount corresponding to a
fixed interest rate for the liability recognised in each period. Variable
charges are expensed in the periods in which they are incurred.
Financial income and costs consist of interest income from bank
deposits, short-term investments and receivables, and interest expenses
to suppliers and other creditors.
RECEIVABLES AND LIABILITIES

Accounts receivable are recognised in the amounts expected to be
received, i.e. after deduction of bad debts, which are assessed on a
case-by-case basis. Write-offs for accounts receivable are reported
under the heading of operating expenses. Other receivables are
classified as long-term receivables if they are outstanding for more than
a year, and as other receivables if the period is less than a year. Cash and
cash equivalents consist of cash and immediately available balances
with banks and similar institutions.
Loans and other financial liabilities, such as accounts payable, are
measured at accumulated acquisition cost. Accounts payable have a
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short expected term and are measured undiscounted at the nominal
amount. Non-current liabilities have an expected term of more than
a year, while current liabilities have a term of less than a year.
TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Owned assets
Tangible fixed assets are reported as assets on the balance sheet, if it is
probable that future economic benefits will accrue to the company and
the acquisition cost for the asset may be calculated reliably. Tangible
fixed assets are recognised in the Group at acquisition cost after
deduction of accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
Acquisition cost includes the purchase price and costs directly
attributable to putting the asset into place and in a condition that it is fit
for use in accordance with the intention of the acquisition.
The carrying amount for a tangible fixed asset is removed from the
balance sheet upon scrapping or disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from the use or the scrapping or disposal of the
asset. Any gain or loss arising from disposal or scrapping of an asset is
determined as the difference between the selling price and the carrying
amount of the asset, less the direct costs of the sale. Any gain or loss
arising is recognised as an operating income/expense.
Leased assets
In the consolidated accounts, leases are classified as either finance or
operating leases. A finance lease exists when the economic risks and
benefits associated with ownership are essentially transferred to the
lessee. Where this is not the case, the lease is an operating lease. Assets
leased under finance leases are recognised as assets on the consolidated
balance sheet. The obligation to pay future lease fees is recognised
under non-current and current liabilities. The leased assets are
depreciated according to plan, while the lease fees are recognised as
interest and the amortisation of the liabilities. Under operating leases,
the lease fee is recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill
Goodwill is defined as the difference between the acquisition cost of
operating acquisitions and the fair value of assets acquired, liabilities
assumed and contingent liabilities.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and groups of
cash-generating units and is tested annually for impairments. Goodwill
is thus measured at acquisition cost less any accumulated impairments.
Capitalised software development costs
Other intangible assets acquired by the Group are recognised at
acquisition cost, less accumulated amortisation. Subsequent
expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is recognised as an asset in
the balance sheet only when this results in an increase in future
economic benefits associated with the specific asset to which it relates.
All other expenses are recognised as costs as incurred.
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DEVALUATION OF ASSETS AND TESTING FOR DEVALUATIONS

The reported amounts for the Group’s assets are tested for devaluation
on every balance sheet date to determine whether there is any
indication of devaluation. If any such indication is found,
the recoverable amount for the asset is calculated. Any impairment loss
is charged to the income statement.
The recoverable amount is the fair value less costs of sale or the value
in use, whichever is the higher. In calculating the value in use, future
cash flows are discounted by a discount factor that takes into account
the risk-free interest rate and the risk associated with the specific asset.
The recoverable amount for goodwill and other intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet ready for use is
calculated annually.
At each reporting date, the company assesses whether any objective
evidence exists to indicate impairment of any financial assets or group
of assets. Objective evidence includes observable events that have
occurred and adversely affect the possibility of recovering the
acquisition cost, and a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
of an investment in a financial investment classified as a financial asset
available for sale.
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Obligations relating to fees for defined-contribution pension plans are
recognised as expenses in the income statement as they arise. IVL does
not operate any defined-benefit pension plans.
Provisions in connection with terminations of employment are
reported only if the company is demonstrably obligated to terminate
employment before the normal date, or when compensation is offered
as an incentive for voluntary departure. For the company to be
obligated to terminate an employment, there must be e.g. a detailed
plan setting out, as a minimum, details of the workplace, positions
affected and the approximate number of affected employees, as well as
compensation amounts for each personnel category or position and the
time for implementation of the plan.

is expected to be realised or settled.
Deferred tax is based on the tax rates and tax rules enacted or in
practice on the balance sheet date.
PARENT COMPANY’S ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The Parent Company’s accounts have been prepared in accordance with
BFNAR 2012:1 Annual Report and Consolidated Accounts (K3) and the
Swedish Annual Accounts Act (1995:1554).
Differences between the accounting policies of the Group and the
Parent Company:
In the Parent Company, participation in subsidiaries and associated
companies is recognised using the cost method. Dividends received are
recognised as income. In the Parent Company, all leases are accounted
for in accordance with the rules on operating leases. Leasing in the
consolidated financial statements is reported as tangible fixed assets
with short-term and long-term liabilities to credit institutions. In the
Parent Company, untaxed reserves are reported, including deferred
tax liability. In the consolidated financial statements, however,
untaxed reserves are divided into deferred tax liability and equity.
In the Group, work in progress is reported at a fixed price according to
the main rule, with successive profit settlement. Profit settlement is
then calculated on the basis of processing at customer prices, with a
certain provision for precautionary reasons. In the Parent Company,
work in progress is recognised according to the completion method.
Profit settlement occurs when the projects are essentially completed,
with a completion rate of 95%.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has an
existing obligation (legal or constructive) arising from an event that has
occurred, when it is probable that an outflow of financial resources will
be required in order to discharge such an obligation and when the
amount can be estimated reliably.
INCOME TAXES

Income tax is made up of current tax and deferred tax. Income taxes
are recognised in the income statement.
Current tax is tax that is to be paid or received for the current year,
applying the tax rates that have been decided or decided in practice on
the balance date, as well as the adjustment of current tax attributable to
earlier periods. Deferred tax is calculated using the balance sheet
method, which focuses on temporary differences between the reported
amount of an asset or a liability and its taxable amount. The assessment
of deferred tax is based on how the reported value of assets or liabilities
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Note 2
SUMMARY OF FINANCES AND KEY FIGURES

2020

419,966 383,309 352,227 327,664
28,293 18,930
2,437
3,721
29,067 20,299
1,763
4,663
6.9
5.3
0.5
1.4

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Fixed assets
Current assets
Equity
Untaxed reserves
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions
Balance sheet total
Adjusted equity
Equity, mean value for the year
Total capital, mean value for the year
Equity/assets ratio, %
Current ratio, times

35,249 42,935 46,343 38,777
35,591 32,384
241,187 210,307 183,765 186,848 170,030 229,243
125,535 103,605 87,916 86,932
83,722 67,597
18,627
135,351 136,230 131,749 127,989 112,497 177,849
1,423
2,388
2,840
2,903
2,227
14,127 11,019
7,603
7,801
7,175
557
276,436 253,242 230,108 225,625 205,621 261,627
82,235
114,570 95,761 87,424 85,327
83,811 76,306
264,839 241,675 227,867 215,620 201,208 249,822
45.4
40.9
38.2
38.5
40.7
31.4
1.78
1.54
1.39
1.46
1.51
1.31

PROFITABILITY
Return on adjusted equity, %
Return on adjusted equity 5-year mean, %
Return on total capital, %
OTHER
Investment in fixed assets
Invoicing/employee, incl. expenses
Invoicing/employee, fees and analysis
Chargeability ratio, %
Full-year employees
Payroll cost per employee

2019

GROUP
2018

SEK 000
SALES AND PROFIT
Net sales
Operating profit after depreciation
Operating profit after net financial items
Profit margin, %

2017

2016

2020

PARENT COMPANY
2019
2018
2017

2016

294,741 405,885 376,037 349,115 323,273 292,570
-287 15,565
9,983
-6,176
-1,545
-494
256 16,341 11,363 -6,840
-606
46
0.1
4.0
3.0
Neg
Neg
0.0
38,177 41,037 33,674 30,985
199,839 178,237 182,681 166,929
57,824 56,795 56,717 56,647
15,971
6,571 14,092 15,292
164,221 155,908 145,546 125,975

238,016 219,274 216,355 197,914
70,377 61,920 67,709 68,575
66,149 64,815 68,142 68,754
228,645 217,815 207,135 194,397
29.6
28.2
31.3
34.6
1.22
1.1
1.26
1.33

19.9
8.5
11.2

16.5
5.5
8.7

1.6
4.8
1.1

4.3
7.0
2.2

0.2
8.1
0.2

16.8
4.3
6.6

13.4
2.6
5.0

Neg
3.1
Neg

Neg
8.2
Neg

0.1
11.1
0.1

2,259
1,232
1,075
341

5,923
1,190
1,190
65.9
322

15,294
1,177
1,100
64.1
300

9,872
1,150
1,086
65.8
285

10,551
1,160
1,055
63.6
255

3,677
1,299
1,126
65.3
313

6,137
1,221
1,120
65.9
308

14,870
1,200
1,120
64.1
291

9,162
1,159
1,093
65.8
279

9,710
1,175
1,067
63.6
249

702

716

702

665

669

746

742

721

676

680

Profit margin
Profit after net financial items, as % of net turnover.
Return on total capital
Profit after net financial items with interest expenses added back
as % of the average balance sheet total.
Adjusted equity
Equity plus untaxed reserves, less tax at the standard rate of 21.4%.
Chargeability ratio
Hours charged to customer, as % of the total hours of attendance.

Full-year employees
The number of employees during the year, expressed as full-year
positions. The actual number of employees is higher, partly because
the organisation has part-time employees and partly because certain
employees work only during part of the year.
Return on equity
Profit after net financial items and after tax at a standard 21.4%,
as % of average adjusted equity.
Current ratio
Current assets divided by current liabilities.

Equity ratio
Adjusted equity, as % of the balance sheet total.
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Note 3

Note 4

NET SALES

CHANGE IN WORK IN PROGRESS/WORK IN PROGRESS
ON BEHALF OF OTHERS

GROUP
SEK 000

2020

PARENT COMPANY
2019

2020

2019
GROUP

Net sales by
Billed fees and analyses

366,468

Billed expenses

53,498

Total net sales

419,966

347,987 352,387 340,715
35,322

53,498

35,322

383,309 405,885 376,037

Of net sales for the year, billing to other Group companies – comprising
remuneration for co-funded research that the company has conducted
on a contract basis – accounted for 20.6 (23.8) percent.
Compensation was also received from Group companies for staffing
services and disbursements.

SEK 000
Project costs
Advance billing

73,257

Income statement
Balance sheet
Total change in work in progress
for the year

OTHER EXTERNAL COSTS

2020

2019

Earned but unbilled income
Project costs

52,443

54,311

52,443

54,311

Advance billing

-43,314

-45,986

-43,314

-45,986

9,129

8,325

9,129

8,325

Project costs

45,723

41,584

45,723

41,584

Advance billing

-51,107 -44,840

Book value
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5,384

3,256

26,706

390

35,725

7,418

-26,036

4,432

-26,036

4,552

670

4,822

9,689

11,970

GROUP
SEK 000

PARENT COMPANY

2020

2019

2020

2019

Audit assignment

410

316

350

274

Other services

183

141

183

141

R3 Revisionsbyrå KB

Other auditors
Audit assignment

Billed but unearned income

Book value

72,587 116,113 106,424

Auditor’s fees

PARENT COMPANY
2019

2019

Change reported in

INCOME EARNED BUT NOT BILLED/INCOME BILLED
BUT NOT EARNED
2020

2020

-833,488 -799,264 -833,488 -799,264

Book value

Note 6

SEK 000

2019

760,231 726,677 720,844 692,840

Note 5
GROUP

PARENT COMPANY

2020

Total

36

31

8

13

623

488

540

428

-51,107 -44,840
5,384

3,256

Leasing costs, Group and Parent Company
Lease fees for operating lease agreements during the year totalled
SEK 24,953,000 (26,005,000). Lease fees include charges for leases on
properties, company cars used by company staff, computers and some
office equipment. The costs relating to future lease payments on these
contracts are payable in the following years:
SEK 000

2021

2022

2023

2024

Other lease fees

1,718

1,147

276

-

2025
-

Rental of premises

21,099

21,415

21,737

22,063

22,394

Total

22,817

22,562

22,013

22,063

22,394
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Note 7
STAFF COSTS GROUP
2020

2019

Social costs
Social costs
(of which Salaries and
(of which
Salaries and
pension
other
pension
other
costs) remuneration
costs)
remuneration

SEK 000
Board of Directors
and CEO

4,825
(3,153)
72,667

3,083

Other employees

158,909

Total

161,992

1,734
(779)
74,347

2,676
152,390

(25,034)
155,066

76,081
(27,747)

AVERAGE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES*
IN THE GROUP DURING THE YEAR:
2019

MEN

WOMEN

TOTAL

MEN

WOMEN

TOTAL

Stockholm

66

69

135

63

71

134

Gothenburg

55

90

145

58

86

144

Fiskebäckskil

2

5

7

3

5

8

Malmö

8

10

18

8

7

15

Beijing

5

9

14

4

8

12

Tianjin

2

2

4

2

2

4

17

1

18

4

1

5

155

186

341

142

180

322

PERSONNEL EXPENSES PARENT COMPANY
2019

2019

Social costs
Social costs
(of which Salaries and
(of which
Salaries and
pension
other
pension
other
costs) remuneration
costs)
remuneration

SEK 000
Board of Directors
and CEO

3,083

Other employees

155,265

4,825
(3,153)
71,668

1,734
(779)
73,473

2,566
150,858

(25,034)
Total

158,348

(26,968)

76,493

153,424

75,477

(28,187)

(27,747)

SICKNESS RATE PARENT COMPANY
2020

2019

3.24%

2.19%

AVERAGE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES*
IN THE PARENT COMPANY DURING THE YEAR:
2020

2019

MEN

WOMEN

TOTAL

MEN

WOMEN

TOTAL

Stockholm

66

69

135

63

71

134

Gothenburg

55

90

145

58

86

144

Fiskebäckskil

2

5

7

3

5

8

Malmö

8

10

18

8

7

15

Beijing
Total

2019

4

5

Women

8

6

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD
2020

2019

Men

5

5

Women

5

5

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

2020

Total

2020
Men

(26,968)

77,492
(28,187)

Mumbai

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES IN THE COMPANY’S
MANAGEMENT TEAM
(of whom, in executive management):

3

5

8

2

5

7

137

176

313

134

174

308

Parent company
In accordance with a decision by the AGM, Board of Directors fees
totalling SEK 613,000 (621,000), including social security expenses,
were reported as costs. Of this amount, SEK 125,000 (106,000),
excluding social security expenses, was paid to the Chair.
The period of notice for the CEO of the Parent Company is 12 months
and severance pay in an amount corresponding to 6 times the CEO’s
fixed monthly salary is due if employment is terminated by the
company. Pension is expensed according to the ITP 2 plan. On 31 July
2020, the former CEO retired at the age of 62. According to the
agreement, IVL paid the premium for retirement pension as though the
CEO had worked until the age of 65. The final payment corresponds to
35% of the annual salary at the time of retirement, including the value of
car benefits.
Group
The CEO of the joint venture company has been employed for a period
of one year, calculated from 1 July 2020. There is no entitlement to any
pension other than statutory pension.

Note 8
DEPRECIATION OF TANGIBLE ASSETS AND AMORTISATION
OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Group and Parent Company
Capitalised expenditure for software development is amortised
according to plan annually at a rate of 10 to 33.3 percent of acquisition
cost, starting from the date of completion during the year.
Operating goodwill is amortised at 20 percent of the acquisition cost
annually. Any devaluation requirement is assessed on the basis of the
present value of future surpluses.
Machinery and equipment is depreciated according to plan at an
annual rate of 10 to 20 percent of the acquisition cost, starting from the
date of acquisition by the Parent Company during the year.
Machinery and equipment is also depreciated according to plan on the
basis of the remaining economic life of the asset in accordance with a
measurement conducted specifically for an international joint venture.

* Defined as the number of salaried full-year employees
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Note 9

Note 10

INTEREST INCOMES AND EXPENSES,
GROUP AND PARENT COMPANY

APPROPRIATIONS AND UNTAXED RESERVES

Interest income and yields of SEK 848,000 (1,540,000) are reported
in the Group for short-term investments, and SEK 847,000 (1,539,000)
in the Parent Company.
Interest expense amounting to SEK -74,000 (-171,000) is reported in the
Group, and SEK 71,000 (-159,000) in the Parent Company, and of the
interest expense for the Parent Company, SEK 37,000 (76,000) pertains
to Group companies.

PARENT COMPANY
SEK 000

31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Opening balance, untaxed reserves
Change in accumulated depreciation according
to plan (machinery & equipment)

GROUP

Profit before tax

2019

2020

2019

29,067

20,299

13,686

1,963

6,220

4,344

2,929

420

Non-taxable income

-46

-

-46

-

Non-deductible expenses

734

318

733

316

Standard income, tax allocation
reserves

9,400
-

Total appropriations

2,655

9,400

18,627

15,971

PARENT COMPANY

2020

Tax at current tax rate,
21.4% (22%)

2,655

Note 12

TAX ON PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
ESTIMATE OF EFFECTIVE
TAX RATE, SEK 000

6,571

Change in tax allocation reserve
Closing balance, untaxed reserves

Note 11

15,971

25

6

Standard income, funds

25

Tax from previous year(s)
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INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
DEVELOPMENT
EXPENDITURE
GROUP, SEK 000

GOODWILL

31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Opening acquisition cost

10,771

10,424

2,919

2,919

Acquisitions for the year

-

347

-

-

24

5

24

25

24

Closing accumulated
acquisition value

10,771

10,771

2,919

2,919

-

98

-

Opening depreciation

-4,324

-3,153

-2,696

-2,489

204

216

152

169

Depreciation for the year

-1,285

-1,171

-130

-207

-

-45

-

-

Reported effective tax

7,262

4,863

3,915

934

Closing accumulated
depreciation

-5,609

-4,324

2,886

-2,696

Reported effective tax rate

25.0%

24.0%

28.6%

47.6%

Closing residual value
according to plan

5,162

6,447

33

223

Foreign tax expense
Deferred tax

DEVELOPMENT
EXPENDITURE

Note 13

PARENT COMPANY,
SEK 000

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
GROUP

PARENT COMPANY

GOODWILL

31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Opening acquisition cost

8,589

8,589

2,919

2,919

Acquisitions for the year

-

-

-

-

Closing accumulated
acquisition value

8,589

8,589

2,919

2,919

Opening depreciation

-3,529

-2,681

-2,696

-2,489

-848

-848

-130

-207

Opening acquisition cost

106,601

101,026

101,671

95,561

Purchases for year incl.
finance leases

Closing accumulated
depreciation

-4,377

-3,529

2,886

-2,696

2,251

5,567

3,652

6,110

Closing residual value
according to plan

4,212

5,060

33

223

-6,704

-

SEK 000

31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Exchange difference
Retirements for the year

8
-6,704

-

Closing accumulated
acquisition value

102,148

106,601

98,619

101,671

Opening depreciation

-70,382

-62,419

-70,101

-62,159

-7

-3

Exchange difference
Retirements for the year

6,704

-

6,704

-

Depreciation for the year

-8,455

-7,960

8,433

-7,942

Closing accumulated
depreciation for equipment

-72,140

-70,382

71,830

-70,101

Closing residual value
according to plan

30,008

36,219

26,789

31,570
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Depreciation for the year

Financial leasing
In the Group, equipment held under finance leases is reported in an
amount of SEK 3,141,000 (4,566,000). The headings of current and
non-current liabilities in the Group’s balance sheet include future
payments in connection with lease commitments reported as liabilities.
See also Note 18, “Liabilities to credit institutions”.
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Note 14

Note 15

GROUP COMPANIES AND OTHER LONG-TERM
SECURITIES HOLDINGS

PREPAID EXPENSES

GROUP

GROUP

PARENT COMPANY

31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019
Opening acquisition
value, shares and
participations
Acquisitions for the year
Closing accumulated
acquisition value

46

35

1,324

1,297

-

11

26

27

46

46

1,350

1,324

Shares and participations
GROUP
Company , SEK 000
Participation in IVL Svenska Miljöinstitutet AB’s
personnel foundation

Number

%

PARENT COMPANY
Quota
value

Book

5,793

5,802

2,988

3,669

2,982

3,413

Amount at year end

8,790

9,462

8,784

9,206

5

5

5

60%

-

60

60

EPD International AB

500

100%

-

50

50

Sino-Swedish
(Tianjin) Environmental
Technology
Development Co., Ltd

1

50%

-

581

581

IVL Environmental
Technologies (Beijing)
Company Ltd

1

100%

-

546

546

IVL India
Environmental R&D
Private Limited

1

100%

16

16

510

51%

25

25

Möbelfakta
i Sverige AB

510

51%

RD Rent Dagvatten AB

245

11%

Total

41

26

26

11

41

46

1,350

Profit for the year, equity, registered office and corporate ID number
appear in the administration report

Note 18

PROVISIONS

GROUP
31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Non-current liabilities
Opening balance
Change in liabilities to credit institutions
Amount at year end

2,388

2,840

-965

-452

1,423

2,388

Opening balance
Amount at year end
All liabilities have maturity dates
of less than 5 years

Deferred tax liabilities
Climate funding
Amount at year end

13,570

13,570

-

-

557

-

557

-

14,127

13,570

557

-

IVL takes the view that deferred tax due for payment in 2021 will be low
because IVL’s investment levels will continue to be high and interest
rates low. As a result, the use of tax allocation reserves for consolidation
purposes will continue to be advantageous. In the subsequent five-year
period, the tax allocation reserves for 2015, totalling SEK 1,434,000, will
be dissolved in any event.

Note 17
ACCRUED COSTS
GROUP

PARENT COMPANY

31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

SEK 000
Holiday and overtime
liabilities

6,593

7,378

6,593

7,378

Accrued social costs

9,487

9,303

9,487

9,303

Other accrued costs

3,042

2,385

2,922

2,179

Amount at year end

19,122

19,066

19,002

18,860

PLEDGED ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES,
GROUP AND PARENT COMPANY
SEK 000

31.12.2020

2,178

2,327

-460

-149

1,718

2,178

31.12.2019

Pledged assets for liabilities
to credit institutions

-

6,502

Chattel mortgages

22,800

10,000

Total

22,800

16,502

None

None

Blocked bank funds

Current liabilities
Change in liabilities to credit institutions

PARENT COMPANY

31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Note 19

LIABILITIES TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS
SEK 000

5,793

Note 16
GROUP

600

80

5,802

Other prepaid expenses

Book

Basta Online AB

eBVD i Norden AB

Rentals for offices and
other premises

SEK 000

1

PARENT COMPANY

31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

SEK 000

Contingent liabilities
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Note 20

Note 21

SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS,
GROUP AND PARENT COMPANY

DISCLOSURES ON SHARE CAPITAL, PARENT COMPANY
31.12.2020

GROUP
SEK 000

PARENT COMPANY

31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Opening balance

29,653

Change in value
Amount at year end

28,050

29,653

28,050

844

1,603

844

1,603

30,497

29,653

30,497

29,653

31.12.2019

Number

Quota
value per
share

Value/Number at
beginning of year

7,000

1,000

7,000

1,000

Value/Number at end
of year

7,000

1,000

7,000

1,000

SEK 000

Number

Quota
value per
share

Note 22

Note 23

APPROPRIATION OF PROFIT OR LOSS, PARENT COMPANY

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

31.12.2020 31.12.2019
Retained earnings

48,504

Profit for the year

9,771

47,175
1,029

Total

58,275

48,204

Carried forward to next year

58,275

48,204

Even though the Coronavirus pandemic is continuing during
Q1-Q2 2021, we do not anticipate that it will have a significant
impact on IVL.
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Audit report
To the General Meeting of Shareholders in IVL Svenska Miljöinstitutet AB,
Corporate ID no. 556116-2446

Statement on the annual report
and consolidated accounts
OPI N IONS

We have conducted an audit of the annual accounts and
consolidated accounts of IVL Svenska Miljöinstitutet AB for the
year 2020. The company’s annual accounts and consolidated
accounts appear on pages 59-81 of this document.
In our view, the annual accounts and the consolidated accounts
have been prepared in accordance with the Swedish Annual
Accounts Act and provide in all material respects a true and fair
view of the Parent Company’s and the Group’s financial position
on 31 December 2019 and of its financial results and cash flows for
the year in accordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act.
The administration report is consistent with the other parts of the
annual accounts and the consolidated accounts.
We therefore recommend to the Annual General Meeting that
the parent company and consolidated income statements and
balance sheets be adopted.
GROU N DS F OR OPI N IONS

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted auditing
standards in Sweden. Our responsibility according to these
standards is described in more detail in the section on “Auditor’s
responsibility”. We are independent in relation to the Parent
Company and Group in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards in Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our
professional ethics responsibility according to these requirements.
We believe that the accounting evidence we have obtained
provides an adequate and appropriate basis for our opinions.
I N F OR M AT ION O T H E R T H A N T H E A N N UA L
ACCOU N T S A N D CONS OL I DAT E D ACCOU N T S

It is the Board and CEO who have the responsibility for the
other information. The other information consists of
2020Annual Report of the IVL Swedish Environmental
Research Institute (not including the annual accounts,
consolidated accounts and our audit report regarding these
accounts).
Our opinion regarding the annual accounts and consolidated
accounts does not cover this information and we make no
statement confirming this other information.
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In connection with our audit of the annual accounts and
consolidated accounts, it is our responsibility to read the information
identified above and consider if the information to a material extent
is inconsistent with the annual accounts and consolidated accounts.
In this review, we also take into account the information we
collected otherwise during the audit and assess if the information
otherwise appears to contain material misstatements.
If we draw the conclusion based on the work done regarding
this information that the other information contains a material
misstatement, we are obliged to report it. We have nothing to
report in this respect.
R E SP ONSI BI L I T I E S OF T H E BOA R D
OF DI R E C T OR S A N D T H E CE O

It is the Board of Directors and the CEO who are responsible for
the preparation of the annual accounts and consolidated
accounts and for ensuring that they provide a true and fair view
according to the Annual Accounts Act. The Board and CEO are
also responsible for the internal control that they deem to be
necessary to prepare annual accounts and consolidated
accounts that do not contain any material misstatement,
whether due to error or impropriety.
In preparing the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, the
Board and CEO are responsible for the assessment of the company’s
and the Group’s ability to continue the operations. They provide
information, when appropriate, concerning conditions that might
affect the ability to continue operations and presume continuing
operations. However, this going concern assumption is not applied
if the Board and CEO intend to liquidate the company, cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative than to do either.
AU DI T OR’ S R E SP ONSI BI L I T Y

Our objectives are to achieve a reasonable degree of certainty as
to whether or not the annual accounts and consolidated
accounts as a whole contain any material misstatements,
whether due to error or impropriety, and to provide an audit
report that contains our opinions. Reasonable certainty is a high
degree of certainty, but it is no guarantee that an audit
performed according to ISA and generally accepted auditing
standards in Sweden will always discover a material
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misstatement if such exists. Misstatements can arise due to
impropriety or error and are considered to be material if they,
individually or together, can reasonably be expected to affect
financial decisions that users make based on the annual
accounts and consolidated accounts.
As a part of an audit according to ISA, we use professional
judgement and adopt a professionally sceptical approach
throughout the entire audit. Moreover:
• we identify and assess the risks of material misstatements in
the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, whether they
are due to impropriety or error, formulate and carry out
auditing procedures based in part on these risks and gather
audit evidence that is adequate and suitable to form a basis for
our opinions. The risk of not discovering a material
misstatement due to impropriety is higher than for a material
misstatement due to error because improprieties can include
acting in collusion, falsifying, intentional omission, incorrect
information or disregarding internal controls.
• we obtain an understanding of the part of the company’s
internal control that is significant to our audit in order to carry
out auditing procedures that are suitable considering the
circumstances, but to refrain from making a statement on the
effectiveness of internal controls.
• we evaluate the suitability of the accounting principles used
and the reasonability of the Board’s and CEO’s estimates in the
accounts and associated disclosures.
• we draw a conclusion on the suitability of the Board and CEO
using the going concern assumption in preparing the annual
accounts and consolidated accounts. We also draw a conclusion,
based on the audit evidence collected, as to whether or not there
are any material uncertainty factors pertaining to such events
or conditions that might lead to significant doubt about the
company’s and the Group’s ability to continue business. If we
draw the conclusion that there is a material uncertainty factor,
we must in our audit report call attention to the disclosures in
the annual accounts and consolidated accounts regarding the
material uncertainty factor or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, modify the opinion regarding the annual accounts
and consolidated accounts. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence gathered up to the date of the audit report.
However, future events or circumstances might mean that the
company and Group can no longer continue operations.
• we evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and content of
the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, including the
disclosures, and whether the annual accounts and consolidated
accounts portray the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that provides a true and fair view.
• we gather adequate and suitable audit evidence regarding the
financial information for the units or business activities within
the Group, in order to express an opinion concerning the
consolidated accounts. We are responsible for the management,
supervision and implementation of the Group audit. We are
solely responsible for our opinions.
We must inform the Board of the audit’s planned scope and
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emphasis, as well as it’s timing. We must also provide information
about significant observations during the audit, including any
significant deficiencies in the internal control we have identified.
STAT E M E N T ON O T H E R L E G A L A N D R E GU L AT ORY
R E QU I R E M E N T S

Opinions
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated
accounts, we have also conducted an audit of the Board of
Directors’ and the CEO’s administration of IVL Svenska
Miljöinstitutet AB for 2019 and of the proposed allocation of the
company’s profit or loss.
We recommend to the Annual General Meeting that the profit
be allocated in accordance with the proposal in the administration
report, and that the members of the Board of Directors and the
CEO be discharged from personal liability for the financial year.
Grounds for opinions
We have conducted our audit in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibility
according to these standards is described in greater detail in the
section “Auditor’s responsibility”. We are independent in
relation to the Parent Company and Group in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden and have
otherwise fulfilled our professional ethics responsibility
according to these requirements.
We believe that the accounting evidence we have obtained
provides an adequate and appropriate basis for our opinions.
R E SP ONSI BI L I T I E S OF T H E BOA R D
OF DI R E C T OR S A N D T H E CE O

The Board of Directors has responsibility for the proposal on
the allocation of the company’s profit or loss. In the event of a
proposed dividend, this includes an assessment of whether the
dividend is justifiable considering the requirements set by the
company’s and Group’s nature of operations, scope and risks on
the size of the Parent Company’s and the Group’s equity,
consolidation requirements, liquidity and position otherwise.
The Board is responsible for the company’s organisation and
the management of its affairs. This includes continuously
assessing the company’s and Group’s financial situation and
ensuring that the company’s organisation is structured so that
accounting, asset management and the company’s financial
affairs otherwise are controlled in a satisfactory manner.
The CEO will take care of the operating management according
to the Board’s guidelines and instructions, and will take the
actions necessary for the company’s accounting to be performed
in accordance with the law and for assets to be managed in a
satisfactory manner.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our objective regarding the audit of the management, and
thereby our statement regarding discharge from liability, is to
collect audit evidence in order to be able to assess with a
reasonable degree of certainty whether any Board member or
the CEO to any material respect:
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• has taken any action or been guilty of any negligence that
may lead to a liability to pay damages to the company, or
• in any way has acted counter to the Swedish Companies
Act, the Annual Accounts Act, or the Articles of Association
Our objective regarding the audit of the proposed allocation of the
company’s profit or loss, and thereby our statement regarding this,
is to assess with a reasonable degree of certainty whether the
proposal is consistent with the Swedish Companies Act.
Reasonable certainty is a high degree of certainty, but is no
guarantee that an audit performed in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always discover
actions or negligence that can lead to liability to pay damages to
the company, or that a proposed allocation of the company’s
profit or loss is not consistent with the Swedish Companies Act.
As a part of an audit according to generally accepted auditing
standards in Sweden, we use professional judgement and have a
professionally sceptical approach in the entire audit. The review
of the administration and the proposed appropriation of the
company’s profit or loss are primarily based on the audit of the
accounts. What additional review procedures are done is based
on our professional assessment on the basis of risk and
materiality. This means that we focus the review on such
measures, areas and circumstances that are significant to the
business and where deviations or violations would be of
particular significance to the company’s situation. We go
through and test decisions made, the basis for making decisions,
actions taken and other circumstances that are relevant to our
opinion regarding discharge from liability. As a basis for our
opinion on the Board of Directors’ proposed allocations of the
company’s profit or loss, we have examined whether the
proposal is consistent with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act.

Stockholm, 26 April 2021
Tomas Nöjd
Authorised Public Accountant
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Authorised Public Accountant
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SU
STAINABS’ILITY
NOTES

Sustainability notes
IVL’s vision of a sustainable society involves sustainability
permeating all parts of our operation, both in relation to our
customers and other stakeholders as well as in our internal
work. IVL’s sustainability work is structured around policies,
strategies, management systems and business plans. The work
is headed by the IVL management team, which establishes
strategy, focus and goals for sustainability work. Development
and implementation of the work takes place in the sections.
The CEO regularly reports the status of the work to the
company’s Board of Directors and the foundation’s Board
of Directors. The company’s Board of Directors has overall
responsibility for IVL’s sustainability strategy and long-term
goals, and approves the annual sustainability report.

Attractive workplace:
IVL’s employees are our most important resource for achieving
our vision. For this reason, IVL should be a good and attractive
workplace with a healthy working environment. It must also
promote gender equality, equal treatment and diversity, with skills
and leadership development taking place on a continual basis.

Focus areas and responsibilities
IVL’s sustainability work has been divided into five focus areas,
within which various aspects of the work are developed and
conducted. The focus areas have been defined on the basis of the
essential areas of the operation. They must ensure that
sustainability is integrated in all parts of our operation. The
structure and the focus areas were defined in 2018, as part of the
work of clarifying and strengthening IVL’s sustainability work.
A focus area supervisor has been defined for each focus area,
and is responsible for the development of each focus area,
including objectives, action plans and follow-up, and for
coordinating the implementation in the sections. The sections
are responsible for the implementation and for development
within the framework of each section’s area of responsibility.

Environmental impact:
As Sweden’s leading environmental institute, it is important for
IVL to take responsibility for and minimise both the direct and
indirect environmental impact from its own operations.
The internal environmental work is conducted primarily
within three areas - Climate and energy, Resource efficiency
and circularity, as well as Sustainable use of chemicals.

Board of Directors (company and foundation)
Management team
Improved environmental performance of customers and
a sustainable society CEO & Heads of Sections

Sections

Attractive workplace
Director of Human
Resources

Ethics and
integrity CEO

Environmental impact
Director of Quality and
the Environment

Sound finances Chief Financial Officer

The five focus areas are:
Improved environmental performance of customers
and a sustainable society:
Through assignments and research, IVL will contribute to
meeting both the Global Sustainable Development Goals
(Agenda 2030) and the Swedish environmental goals. Customer
and sustainability benefits are generated in commission and
research projects alongside customers and other partners.
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Ethics and integrity:
Ethics and integrity are key components of IVL’s reputation as
an independent and credible institute. Operations must be
conducted in accordance with IVL’s code of conduct and
values. IVL also works actively to identify and manage
sustainability risks for the business.

Healthy finances:
In order to conduct and develop our business as well as to be
competitive, we require healthy finances. The profits that IVL
makes are reinvested in our own research and development.
This also includes integrating sustainability aspects into
decisions when IVL is providing funding, e.g. when investing
in equipment or making a purchase.
Policies
The basis for IVL’s sustainability work is described in our code of
conduct, based on the UN Global Compact’s ten principles and on
IVL’s values. The code of conduct applies to all IVL employees and
board members, and governs IVL’s conduct towards employees,
customers, suppliers, business partners and other stakeholders.
IVL’s sustainability and environmental policy describes the
content and focus of sustainability work, including gender
equality and diversity, the working environment, skills
development, the environment and quality aspects, as well as
requirements for suppliers and partners. IVL also has a general
health and safety policy describing in more detail our ambitions
for IVL as a workplace and working conditions within the
organisation, as well as a gender equality and equal treatment
policy. There is also a travel policy and an entertainment policy
describing principles related to environmental, safety and
ethical aspects of business travel and corporate entertainment.
The travel and entertainment policies were updated.
Management system and systematic approach
IVL has an integrated management system that provides a
systematic and structured approach to the business and all aspects
of sustainability work. The system is certified in accordance with
the environmental and quality management standards, ISO 14001
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and 9001. Within the framework of the management system, IVL
continuously strives for improvement, setting goals and following
up according to a defined system of management. The working
environment work is conducted according to a working
environment plan, which includes division of responsibility, goals,
working methods, as well as a plan of action for the areas of
organisational and social working environment.
All suppliers and partners are encouraged to follow IVL’s
code of conduct. The principles in IVL’s code of conduct must
be applied when evaluating of current and future suppliers.
Development of the sustainability work
Work has continued aimed at clarifying and strengthening
IVL’s sustainability work. Within the framework of this
internal project, improvement activities are being carried out in
prioritised areas. The work of clarifying objectives, roles and
responsibilities for the sustainability work has continued,
in part within the framework of the restructuring operation
carried out. In addition, specific improvement activities have
been initiated in two focus areas within IVL’s sustainability
work, as well as in respect of stakeholder dialogues:
• Within the focus area “Improved environmental performance
of customers and a sustainable society”, support is being
developed in order, on the basis of the UN’s global sustainability
goals and interim goals, to identify and safeguard environmental
and sustainability benefits at all stages of IVL’s operations
• Within the focus area “Environmental impact”, studies have been
carried out to chart the current situation and define proposals for
additional measures aimed at reducing IVL’s own environmental
impact. IVL’s climate fund has also been further developed.
• With regard to stakeholder dialogue, work has been initiated
to identify how we can further strengthen the dialogue with
IVL’s various stakeholders, for example by improving the
systematics, planning and coordination of the dialogue.
In addition to the specific improvement activities that are
carried out within the framework of this internal project,
continuous improvement work is also conducted in the various
focus areas of IVL’s sustainability work within the framework
of regular line activities.
DIALOGUE AND COLLABORATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Collaboration with various stakeholders is a key component in
the work to achieve IVL’s vision: a sustainable society. To keep
the business up-to-date on the expectations and needs of
various stakeholders, IVL maintains a continuous dialogue with
customers, employees, business partners, suppliers, interest
groups, politicians and authorities, as well as boards and
owners. These groups have been identified as IVL’s main
stakeholders based on the nature of the business. The dialogue
takes place through different channels, through customer and
employee surveys, within the projects IVL operates, and
through the networks IVL heads and in which IVL participates.
The operational councils
An important part of the dialogue takes place within IVL’s four
thematically oriented operational councils. These are: Natural
resources, climate & environment; Resource-efficient recycling &
consumption; Sustainable production & environmental technology;
and Sustainable urban development & transport. Within the
operational councils, IVL gathers stakeholders from various groups,
such as customers, authorities, owners, and partners. The
operational councils serve the dual purpose of identifying knowledge
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gaps and research needs, as well as presenting noteworthy outcomes
of ongoing projects. The operational councils discuss matters such as
market and world issues, general needs of certain industries,
new project ideas and the development of IVL’s research agenda.
In-depth investigations
In addition to the ongoing dialogue, in-depth investigations
are also carried out regarding their expectations of IVL as well
as the sustainability areas that IVL’s stakeholders consider to be
most important. The first structured and in-depth study was
conducted in 2016 by means of a survey, in which employees,
members of the respective operational councils and the boards
were able to rank various predefined sustainability aspects
based on importance. They also had the opportunity to highlight
additional issues that had not previously been defined in the list
of sustainability aspects. Since then, targeted interviews have
been conducted with selected stakeholder groups in 2017 and
2018, with the aim of better understanding their perception of
IVL’s sustainability report and sustainability work. A number
of specific issues related to sustainability work have also been
integrated into regular customer surveys.
A feasibility study is in progress within the framework of the
work aimed at clarifying and strengthening IVL’s sustainability
work, in order to chart how the stakeholder dialogue is
conducted through different channels. The aim of the study is
to identify the potential for improvement and the opportunities
for further extending the dialogue, as well as to strengthen the
ways in which the results of the dialogue are used as a basis for
developing our sustainability work and activities.
MATERIALITY ANALYSIS
The results of the dialogue with IVL’s stakeholders in the
company’s various channels are used as a basis for IVL’s
materiality analysis and the reporting according to GRI
Standards. This governs which areas are highlighted in the
sustainability report, in line with the principle of materiality.
During the evaluation of the materiality analysis, the eight
key areas that had previously been identified were still deemed
to be relevant. These key areas have been divided into five focus
areas, as shown in the table below.
The most important aspect overall for IVL is how the
business contributes to environmental and sustainability
benefits for the customer and a sustainable development of
society, which is the basis of IVL’s vision.
Focus area

Key aspect

Improved the environmental
performanceof customers and
a sustainable society

Customer and sustainability
benefits

Attractive workplace

Working environment, health
and safety
Gender equality, equal opportunity
and diversity
Competence and
management development

Ethics and integrity

Ethics and integrity

Environmental impact

Climate and energy
Sustainable use of chemicals
Resource efficiency and
circularity

Healthy finances

Customer and sustainability
benefits
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GRI index – content and page
references
is submitting its fifth report according to GRI and its fourth
report according to GRI Standards, level Core. IVL published its
most recent sustainability report in May 2020.
We report all general standard information. For specific
standard disclosures, we report what has been defined as
material for the business. This GRI index refers to where the
information is presented in the annual and sustainability report.

The IVL Swedish Environmental Institute reports information about
the company’s sustainability work together with the development
and financial results of the business in the annual report.
The sustainability report, as well as the annual report,
pertains to the 2020 financial year and includes the Parent
Company, unless otherwise stated. The sustainability-related
information in the annual report is not audited by a third party.
IVL intends to report annually and, for the 2020 financial year,

GRI INDICATORS WITH PAGE REFERENCE AND COMMENTS
Information no. | Information

Page

Comments and exclusions

GENERAL INFORMATION
ORGANISATION PROFILE

102-1
Name of organisation
102-2
Activities, brands, products and services
102-3
Head office location
102-4
Countries in which the organisation operates
102-5
Ownership structure and legal form
102-6
Markets in which the organisation operates
102-7
Scale of the organisation
102-8
Information about employees and other colleagues
102-9
Supply chain
102-10	Significant changes regarding the organisation
and its supply chain
102-11 Precautionary principle
102-12 External initiatives
102-13 Membership in organisations and networks

Cover, 6
12, 19-21, 60-65
60
60-65
12, 60, 90-91
60-65, 65
Note 2
50-53, Note 7
12-13, 17, 60-62

Front page of the report

3, 63
54, 62, 66
60-61
62-63

STRATEGY
102-14

Statement by the CEO

3-5

ETHICS AND INTEGRITY

102-16	The company’s core values, principles,
standards and norms for conduct

12-13, 54, 88

GOVERNANCE

102-18

Governance and ownership structure for the organisation

60-65, 88, 90-91

STAKEHOLDER DIALOGUE

102-40

Stakeholder groups

102-41

Employees covered by collective bargaining agreements

102-42 Identification and selection of stakeholder groups
102-43 Methods for dialogue with stakeholders
102-44	Key topics and concerns raised in dialogue
with stakeholders

14-17, 87
97% of all employees are covered by
collective bargaining agreements.
Employees in China do not have
collective bargaining agreements.
14-17, 87
87
87

REPORTING PRACTICE

102-45
102-46
102-47
102-48

Parts of the organisation included in the report
Definition of report content and demarcations
List of essential areas
Adjustments to previously submitted information

102-49

Changes in reporting

88

Note 1.5
86-87
86-87
Data regarding energy consumption in premises and emissions
of greenhouse gases from purchased energy have been
supplemented with Hammarby Sjöstadsverk and Kristineberg
88
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Information no. | Information
102-50

Reporting period

102-51

Date of the most recent report

102-52

Reporting cycle

102-53

Contact information for issues regarding the report

102-54	Statements on reporting according to GRI Standards
102-55

GRI Index

102-56

External review

Page

Comments and exclusions

88
88
88
Cover
88
88-89
88

Back page of the report

ESSENTIAL AREAS
Social standards
WORKING ENVIRONMENT, HEALTH AND SAFETY
103-1

Explanation of significant area and its demarcations

103-2

Sustainability management and its components

103-3
Evaluation of sustainability management
403-1	Management system for working environment,
health and safety.
403-2	Identification of hazards, risk assessment,
and investigation of incidents
403-3
Health and medical care at the workplace.
Employee participation, counselling and
403-4	
communication regarding the working
environment, health and safety at the workplace
Training in working environment, health and safety
403-5
Health-promoting measures
403-6
403-8	Employees covered by a working environment
management system
403-9
Work-related injuries

50-53
50-53
50-53
51-52
51-52
51-52
50-53
50-53
50-53
51-52
51-52

EQUALITY AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES
103-1

Explanation of significant area and its demarcations

103-2

Sustainability management and its components

103-3
405-1

Evaluation of sustainability management
Diversity in governing bodies and among employees

51, 65
50, 88
50, 88
50-51, Note 7

TRAINING AND EDUCATION
103-1

Explanation of significant area and its demarcations

103-2

Sustainability management and its components

103-3
404-1

Evaluation of sustainability management
Average training time per employee per year

50-52
50-52
50-52
51

Only reported as total per employee

57, 68, 90
57, 90
57, 90
57

Part of training in IVL’s code of conduct

Financial standards
ANTI-CORRUPTION
103-1

Explanation of significant area and its demarcations

103-2

Sustainability management and its components

103-3
205-2

Evaluation of sustainability management
Communication and training on anti-corruption

Environmental standards
ENERGY
103-1

Explanation of significant area and its demarcations

103-2

Sustainability management and its components

103-3
302-1
302-3

Evaluation of sustainability management
Energy use within the organisation
Energy intensity

55-57, 88
55-57, 66, 88
55-57
56-57
56-57

DISCHARGES/EMISSIONS
103-1

Explanation of significant area and its demarcations

103-2

Sustainability management and its components

103-3

Evaluation of sustainability management

55-57, 88
55-57, 88
55-57

305-1
Direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1)
305-2	Indirect greenhouse gas emissions from energy
consumption (Scope 2)

55-57

305-3
305-4

55-57
55-57

Other indirect greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 3)
Intensity of greenhouse gas emissions
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Emissions from cars leased by the business are
included in the reporting of business travel

55-57
Includes business travel and production
of fuels for purchased energy

89

CORP OR ATE GOV ER NAN CE

Corporate governance
Corporate governance at the IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute is based on Swedish legislation and
generally accepted practices, with due account taken of the Swedish Code of Corporate Governance. The reason
why the Swedish Code of Corporate Governance is not observed in every respect is that it is mainly designed
for listed companies and companies with diversified ownership. The Board’s tasks include identifying how
sustainability issues affect the company’s risks and business opportunities.
OW N E R SH I P

IVL has been wholly owned by the Swedish Institute of Water
and Air Conservation Research Foundation (SIVL) since 2004.
At the conversion of the then Institute for Water and Air
Conservation Research into a public limited company form in
1982, SIVL’s original share capital was allocated in equal part
by an agreement between the Swedish government and the
Swedish business sector.
SIVL’s purpose is to develop the long-term conditions for
environmental research and, through ownership, to guarantee IVL
an independent status. SIVL is responsible for the funds provided
by the Swedish government and the Swedish business sector for
environmental and sustainability-related research at IVL.
BOA R D

IVL is governed by a representative Board of Directors, of
whom the Chair and six members are appointed by the Swedish
government and seven members by the Swedish business
community. The Chair has the deciding vote.
A N N UA L GE N E R A L M E E T I NG

The Annual General Meeting (AGM) is generally held at the
beginning of May. Members are notified of the AGM by post.
The owner, SIVL, is represented at the AGM by the chair of SIVL.
NOM I NAT ION PRO CE DU R E

SIVL, the sole owner of IVL, proposes members for IVL’s
Board of Directors, partly by inviting nominations from
business sector representatives for four regular members and
one deputy member for IVL’s Board of Directors, and partly by
inviting nominations from the government for the Chair as well
as three regular members and one deputy for IVL’s Board of
Directors.
IVL’s Board of Directors must consist of no less than four and
no more than eight members, plus no less than one and no more
than two deputies. The trade union representatives are also
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entitled to nominate two members and two deputies.
The members of IVL’s Board of Directors include five women
and five men, and they are presented on pages 92-94.
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND ITS WORK IN 2020
Within the framework of the Swedish Companies Act and the
company articles of association, the Board of Directors is
responsible for the organisation and administration of the
company. Every year, the Board adopts rules of procedure.
This document is accompanied by instructions for the work of
the CEO, governing the allocation of tasks between the Board
of Directors and the CEO. In accordance with the rules of
procedure, the Board of Directors held four ordinary meetings
in 2020 in addition to the statutory meeting held in May in
connection with the AGM, as well as an extraordinary meeting
in November. As is customary, the regular board meetings were
held in conjunction with reporting of the company’s full-year or
interim results, i.e. in March, May, September and December.
All regular board meetings follow an agenda which always
includes a report from the CEO, financial reports, strategic
issues, as well as a risk and impact analysis. At the board
meeting in March, the directors’ report and the proposed
appropriation of profit were approved, and a refined market
analysis was addressed. Items on the agenda for the board
meeting in May included the adoption of new rules of procedure
for the Board of Directors and instructions for work by the
CEO. Special information was also provided regarding the
company’s risks, an impact analysis and measures or procedures
for risk control. At an extended board meeting in September,
the company’s long-term strategy was discussed. At the board
meeting in December, the agenda included the company’s
budget for 2021, as well as goals and strategy documents.

Remuneration committee
Under the rules of procedure for the Board of Directors of the IVL
Swedish Environmental Research Institute, the Board of Directors
must appoint a remuneration committee to deal with issues related
to terms and conditions of employment and remuneration. The
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committee proposes salaries, other forms of remuneration, and
other terms and conditions of employment for the CEO, which are
then presented to the Board of Directors for approval. Similarly,
terms and conditions for other members of executive management
of the company are proposed by the CEO, and these are then
presented to the remuneration committee for approval.
The company does not operate any incentive programmes.
Remuneration for the Board of Directors
At the 2020 Annual General Meeting (AGM), fees were
approved for the Chair and members of the Board of Directors.
The remuneration was set at SEK 125,000 (64,000) in fixed
remuneration to the Chair and SEK 50,000 (16,000) in fixed
remuneration to the members, as well as SEK 20,000 in fixed
remuneration to deputies. In accordance with a decision by the
AGM, Board of Directors fees totalling SEK 613,000 (621,000),
including social security expenses, were reported as costs.
Of this amount, SEK 125,000 (106,000), excluding social
security expenses, was paid to the Chair. The employee
representatives do not receive a fee.
E X T E R NA L AU DI T

The auditors’ task, on behalf of the owner, is to conduct an
impartial review of the administration by the Board of Directors
and the CEO, as well as the company’s annual report and
accounting records. R3 Revisionsbyrå KB, represented by Tomas
Nöjd and Christina Kallin Sharpe as senior auditors, has been
elected as auditor to serve during the period up to the 2021 AGM.
Tomas Nöjd and Christina Kallin Sharpe are authorised
public accountants and have led the auditing task on behalf of
IVL since 2014.
COR P OR AT E G OV E R NA NCE

The CEO is responsible for the day-to-day administration of the
company in accordance with the guidelines and other
instructions issued by the Board of Directors. The instructions
for the work of the CEO were adopted on 14 May 2020 at the
statutory board meeting. The company’s executive management
team consists of the CEO, the Executive Vice President,
the Chief Financial Officer and the Director of the Research,
Business Development and International Business unit.
The company’s management team also includes three heads
of sections, the Director of Communications, the Director of
Research, the Director of Human Resources as well as the Sales
Director, and a senior advisor. The Director of Quality and
Environmental Issues is an adjunct member.
• Marie Fossum Strannegård, born 1973, B.Sc. System
Analysis 1995, Karlstad University and MBA Strategic
Management 2005, Norwegian School of Economics, has been
CEO of IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute since
2020. She had previously held various senior positions within
Fortum (2008-2014), Ericsson (2014-2017) and EY (2018-2020),
including as a partner. Serves as Chair of the Board of PEAK
Region and as a member of the board of STI - Stockholm
Institute of Technology
• Anna Jarnehammar, born 1965, M.Sc. Mechanical
Engineering, 1991, Luleå University of Technology, Executive
Vice President and Director of Business Development and
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International Business. Employed by the company since 2005,
first as a head of section and then in 2014 as Director of
Business Development and Marketing. Anna Jarnehammar is
Chair of the IVL subsidiaries Bastaonline AB and Möbelfakta.
• Mats Ridner, born 1955, MBA, Stockholm School of
Economics, has served as CFO since 1994.

The heads of sections, the CFO, the Director of Research, Business
Development and International Business, the Director of Human
Resources as well as the Sales Director all report to the CEO.
The Director of Communications and the Director of Quality
and Environmental Issues report to the CEO regarding
functional responsibility (“dotted line”).
The management is supported by executive staff functions for
financial management, HR, communication, business development
and quality and environmental management systems.
I N T E R NA L CON T ROL

Internal control at the company is based on IVL’s operational and
management system. At the same time, this represents the
company’s integrated quality and environmental management
systems, which are certified in accordance with ISO 9001 and ISO
14001. The management system focuses on IVL’s core operations,
i.e. “to offer/market and conduct research and consultancy projects
in the environmental field”, and includes governing documents,
procedures and tools for all processes within the company.
The internal control regarding financial reporting comprises the
control environment with organisation, decision pathways,
authority and responsibilities that have been documented and
communicated in governing documents. All governing documents,
procedures and tools are available via the company’s intranet.
Every year, the Board adopts rules of procedure that govern the
division of responsibilities between the Board and CEO as well as
the company’s financial reporting to the Board. Financial reports
are presented to the Board at every meeting. These comprise
outcomes, budget and comparison with the preceding year, as well
as order backlog, investments and a number of key ratios.
E VA LUAT ION OF T H E BOA R D A N D T H E CE O

The performance of the Board of Directors is evaluated
annually. In 2016, this evaluation was carried out through a
survey conducted by the Swedish Academy of Board Directors,
which was presented at the December meeting.
The Board of Directors continually evaluates the CEO’s
performance by monitoring progress against objectives. Once a
year, in conjunction with the March board meeting, a more
formal evaluation is discussed with the CEO.
.
R ISK A NA LYSIS A N D M A NAGE M E N T

The management system also includes procedures and a
methodology for annual risk analyses of everything from
financial risks and conditions, IT security, external factors and
customer relations, to loss of skills/expertise and risks
associated with image and brand. The risk analyses are
accompanied by action plans. The management system is
subject to an internal audit twice a year, as well as ongoing
checks by independent quality and environmental auditors.
This work is also presented to the Board.
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Board of Directors

ANNIKA HELKER
LUNDSTRÖM

PETER NYGÅRDS

KARIN BYMAN

LENA CALLERMO

MARIE LOUISE FALKLAND

PÄR LARSHANS

MÅNS NILSSON

HANNA LJUNGKVIST

MIKAEL MALMAEUS

HENRIK SUNDSTRÖM

ANDERS BJÖRK

TINA SKÅRMAN

no image available

JOHAN GISTORP
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ANNA FORSBERG

MARIE FOSSUM
STRANNEGÅRD,
CEO

IVL SWEDISH ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE

C O R PO R AT E G OVER N A N CE

MARIE LOUISE FALKLAND
Member since 2017
Vice-President, Research
Outokumpu Stainless

ANNIKA HELKER LUNDSTRÖM
Chair
Member since 2010
National Environmental Goal
Coordinator
PETER NYGÅRDS
Member since 2008
Chair, Swedish Institute of Water and
Air Conservation Research Foundation
LENA CALLERMO
Member since 2017
Head of the Department for
a Resource-Efficient Society,
The Swedish Energy Agency,

PÄR LARSHANS
Member since 2017
Head of Sustainability
Ragn-Sells
MÅNS NILSSON
Member since 2019
CEO, SEI
HENRIK SUNDSTRÖM
Head of Sustainability
Electrolux

KARIN BYMAN
Member since 2016
Energy expert, IVA

HANNA LJUNGKVIST
Employee representative
MIKAEL MALMAEUS
Employee representative
DEPUTIES
ANDERS BJÖRK
Employee representative
TINA SKÅRMAN
Employee representative
JOHAN GISTORP
Chief Financial Officer
Stockholm Resilience Center
ANNA FORSBERG
Marketing Area Manager
Skanska

SIGNIFICANT ASSIGNMENTS CARRIED OUT BY IVL BOARD MEMBERS
ANNIKA HELKER LUNDSTRÖM

MÅNS NILSSON

PÄR LARSHANS

• Chair at the Swedish Recycling
Industries’ Association

• Member of the Board at Blekinge
Institute of Technology

• Member of the Board of SIWI

KARIN BYMAN

• Member of the Swedish Chemicals Agency’s
Advisory Board, Ministry of the Environment

• Chair of Miljömärkning Sverige AB
• 		Chair of the Mistra Sustainable
Consumption research programme

• Member of the Board of EnergiEkonomiska
• 	Vice-Chair, Delegation for Circular Economy
Föreningen Member of the Board of
EnergiNätverk Sverige
•		 Chair of Miljömärkning Sverige AB
• Member of the Board of WEC Sweden
(World Energy Council)

PETER NYGÅRDS

• Chair at Mid Sweden University
• Chair of the Board at Almi Green Tech AB
• Chair of Ecoclime Group AB
• Chair of Mistra Carbon Exit
• Member of the Board of the Swedish
Electricity Markets Inspectorate’s
Advisory Board

MARIE LOUISE FALKLAND

• Expert in the Environmental Objectives
Committee, Ministry of the Environment

• Member of the collaboration programme for
the climate transition of industry, Ministry of
Enterprise and Innovation

ANNA FORSBERG
Member of the Board of Ikigai Leadership AB

• Member of the Board at Outokumpu
PressPlate AB
• Member of the Board at Outokumpu Prefab AB
• Advisory Board, Dalarna County
Administrative Board

LENA CALLERMO
• Member of the National Agency for Public
Procurement’s Advisory Board
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Management team

MARIE FOSSUM
STRANNEGÅRD
CEO

KARIN SJÖBERG

Head of Section,
Environmental Permits
and Abatement Strategies

ANNA JARNEHAMMAR

Executive Vice President,
Head of Section,
Research, Business
Development and
International Business

PATRIK ISAKSSON

Head of Section,
Sustainable Society

MATS RIDNER

KRISTINA JONSSON

JOHN MUNTHE

Chief Financial Officer

Sales Director

Vice-President, Research

MONA OLSSON ÖBERG

Head of Section,
Sustainable Business
and Consumption

ANNA AMGREN

LOUISE GAUFFIN

Director of
Human Resources

Director of
Communications

ADJUNCT

ÖSTEN EKENGREN

JOAKIM TORÉN

Senior advisor

Director of Quality
and the Environment
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SC IENTIFIC ARTIC L ES

Thematic area: Resource-efficient cycles and consumption
Computational material flow
analysis for thousands of
chemicals of emerging concern in
European waters Jos van Gils,
Leo Posthum, Ian T. Cousins,
Werner Brack, Rolf
Altenburger, Hans Baveco,
Andreas Focks. Janek
Greskowiak, Ralph Kühne, Stela
Kutsarova, Claudia Lindim,
Arjen Markus, Dik van de
Meent, John Munthe, Rudy
Schueder, Gerrit, Schüürmann,
Jaroslav Slobodnik, Dick de
Zwart, Annemarie van Wezel
Journal of Hazardous Materials
Volume 397, 5 October 2020,
122655

Evaluating the environmental
performance of producing soil
and surfaces through industrial
symbiosis Michael Martin
Journal of Industrial Ecology,
Volume 4 (23), 626-638, 2020
A Sustainable Revolution: Let Us
Go Sustainable to Get Our Globe
Cleaner D’Adamo, I., Falcone,
P.M., Martin, M., Rosa, P.
Sustainability 12 (11), 4387, 2020

The LCA Modelling of Chemical
Companies in the Industrial
Symbiosis Perspective: Allocation
Approaches and Regulatory
Framework Emanuela Viganò,
Carlo Brondi, Simone Cornago,
Antonio Caretta, Letizia Bua,
Lino Carnelli, Giovanni Dotelli,
Michael Martin, Andrea
Ballarino Springer. Life Cycle
Assessment in the Chemical
Product Chain, 75-98., 2020.

Making use of life cycle
assessment and environmental
product declarations: A survey
with
practitioners Bruno Menezes
Galindro, Sebastian Welling,
Niki Bey, Stig Irving Olsen,
Sebastião Roberto Soares,
Sven-Olof Ryding Journal of
Industrial Ecology, Volume 24,
Issue 5

Industrial symbiosis networks:
application of the circular
economy for resource efficiency
Michael Martin
Edward Elgar. Handbook of the
Circular Economy. 50-60, 2020.

Thematic area: Sustainable production and environmental technology
Identification of behavioural
model input data sets for WWTP
uncertainty analysis Erik U.
Lindblom, Ulf Jeppsson and
Gurkan Sin Water Science and
Technology, vol. 81, no. 8, pp.
1558-1568, 2020

Matched trade at the firm l
evel and the micro origins of
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of atmospheric heavy metals at a
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preliminary results. Bekö G.,
Wargocki P., Wang N., Li M.,
Weschler C.J., Morrison G.,
Langer S., Ernle L., Licina D.,
Yang S., Zannoni N., Williams J.
Indoor Air, 30, 1213–1228, 2020
Deaths Attributable to Air
Pollution in Nordic Countries:
Disparities in the Estimates
Heli Lehtomäki, Camilla Geels,
Jørgen Brandt, Shilpa Rao,
Katarina Yaramenka, Stefan
Åström, Mikael Skou Andersen,
Lise M. Frohn, Ulas Im, Otto
Hänninen Atmosphere (vol 11.,
Iss. 5, pp. 467-482
Multi-generation OH oxidation as
a source for highly oxygenated
organic molecules from aromatics

IVL SWEDISH ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE

STOCKHOLM

GOTHENBURG

Box 21060
100 31 Stockholm
Tel.: +46 10-788 65 00

Box 53021
400 14 Gothenburg
Tel.: +46 10-788 65 00

KRISTINEBERG
MARINE RESEARCH
AND INNOVATION
CENTRE
Kristineberg 566
451 78 Fiskebäckskil
Tel.: +46 10-788 65 00

www.ivl.se

MALMÖ

BEIJING, CHINA

Nordenskiöldsgatan 24
211 19 Malmö
Tel.: +46 10-788 65 00

InterChina
Commercial
Building No. 33
Dengshikou Dajie
Dongcheng District
Beijing City, China

